Purification, Characterization, and Biological Action of Corticostatic Peptides

ì

By

Qinzhang ZHU

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, McGill University, In partial fullfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

> Department of Bicchemistry McGill University Montreal, Canada © Qinzhang Zhu, May 1990

Dedicated to my wife Jing and to my son Jonathan

*

* . .

Abstract

A family of four low molecular weight peptides, that are rich in arginine and cysteine and which have the ability to inhibit ACTH stimulated adrenocortical steroidogenesis have been purified from rabbit lung and neutrophil extracts and sequenced. They are called corticostatin I (CSI), IJ (CSII), III (CSIII), and IV (CSIV) respectively. Among them CSI is the most potent with ED₅₀ of 25 nM against a concentration of 150 pg/ml ACTH stimulation. The mechanism of action of CSI has been studied extensively. CSI shows a high degree of specificity in that it does not inhibit the action of angiotensin II in the adrenal cortex. CSI does not inhibit dbcAMP induced steroidogenesis, however it does inhibit the accumulation of cAMP in response to ACTH in the rat adrenal cell suspension. CSI acts by competing with the basic $-Gly_{14}$ -Lys₁₅-Lys₁₆-Arg₁₇-Arg₁₈- sequence of ACTH for its binding site.

Abrégé

Une famille de quatre peptides à faible poids moléculaire a été purifiée d'extraits de poumons et de neutrophiles de lapin et leurs séquences ont été déterminées. Ces peptides, qui sont riches en arginine et cystéine, peuvent inhiber l'action de l'ACTH dans la synthese de steroides provenant du cortex surrénalien, et ils sont nommés corticostatin I (CSI), II (CSII), III (CSIII), et IV De ces quatre peptides, CSI est celui qui est le plus (CSIV). actif ayant un ED₅₀ de 25 mM face à une stimulation d'ACTH d'une concentration de 150 pg/ml. Le mécanisme d'action de CSI a été étudie a fond. CSI démontre un très haut degre de spécificité car il n'inhibe pas l'action de Angiotensin II sur le cortex surrénalien. L'action de l'AMP cyclique di-butyl sur la stimulation de stéroides ne fût pas affectée par CSI, qui cependant peut inhiber l'accumulation de l'AMP cyclique dûe à l'action de l'ACTH dans le bioessai de cellules de surrénale de rat. Aussi CSI agit de façon compétitive avec la séquence - Gly14 - Lys15 - Lys16 - Arg17 - Arg₁₈ - de l'ACTH pour son site de liaison.

]

Pre:face

In the course of trying to isolate and sequence ACTH from rabbit fetal lung by RP-HPLC, It was noted that in the dispersed rat adrenocortical cell bioassay there was a dip in corticosterone response which was a reproducible phenomenon. The work presented in this thesis is the consequences of this finding. Most of the studies described in this thesis have been published or prepared for publication in the following original articles and abstracts.

Zhu, Q., and Solomon, S. Mode of action of corticostatin peptides in the adrenal gland in preparation for Endocrinology

Zhu, Q., Bateman, A., Singh, A., and Solomon, S. Isolation and biological activity of corticostatic peptides (anti-ACTH). Endocrine Research. U.S.A. 15:129-149 (1989).

Singh, A., Bateman, A., Zhu, Q., , Shimasaki, S., Esch, F. and Solomon, S.

Structure of a novel human granulocyte peptide with anti-ACTH activity. Biochemical. Biophysical Research Communications 155 524-529 (1988).

Bateman, A., Singh, A., Zhu, Q., and Solomon, S. The isolation and identification of a novel human neutrophil anti-ACTH peptide. Program and Abstract of the Endocrine Society 70th Annual Meeting, (abstract 330) (1988).

7hu, Q., and Solomon, S. Isolation and bioactivity of naturally occurring corticostatic (anti-ACTH) peptides. Program and Abstract of the Endocrine Society 70th Annual Meeting, (abstract 1142) (1988).

Zhu, Q., Hu, J., Mulay, S., Esch, F., Shimasaki, S. and Solomon, S.

Isolation and structure of corticostatin peptides from

rabbit fetal and adult lung Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 85 592-596 (1988)

Salar Salar Salar

Ç

ŝ

- Zhu, Q. and Solomon, S. Isolation and Identification of a 34 amino acid peptide from rabbit fetal and adult lung with corticostatin activity. Program and Abstract of the Endocrine Society 69th Annual Meeting, (abstract 501) (1987).
- Zhu, Q., Singh, A. V., Bateman, A., Esch, F. and Solomon, S. The corticostatin (anti-ACTH) and cytotoxic activity of peptides isolated from fetal, adult and tumor bearing lung. J. Steroid Biochem. 27 1017-1022 (1987).

Acknowledgements

This project was carried out under the guidance of Dr. S. Solomon in his laboratory in Royal Victoria Hospital. The author wishes to express his sincere gratitude to Dr. S. Solomon, who was more than supervisor to him, for his supervision, constructive criticism, generous support, and encouragement throughout the course of these studies. His understanding, caring, kindness and patient were also greatly appreciated.

Many thanks are given to Dr. S. Mulay for her continuous support and help especially during the preparation of this manuscript.

The author is indebted to H.P.J. Bennett for his expert help and advice with the HPLC purification procedure and protein chemistry also during the preparation of this manuscript.

Special thanks should be given to Dr. A. Bateman for many stimulating discussions and encouragement, and helpful cooperation during the whole course of this work as well as in the preparation of this manuscript.

The author is grateful to Dr. A. Singh for her kindness, help and encouragement.

The author also wishes to thank Drs. F. Congote, and W. S. Powell for their helpful discussions and advice.

Special acknowledgement is given to the technical staff of the Endocrine Laboratory, especially to J. Saeed and S. James.

The careful arrangement and help from Mrs A. Bier was invaluable and should be remembered with gratitude.

The author also wishes to thank Mrs. S. Mann for her kindness and help especially during the last years of my studies.

Finally, the author wishes to express his gratitude to the following institutions for their financial support during the tenure of this work:

World Health Organization for the Fellowship for the months of May, 1985-Nov. 1985.

v

Faculty of Medicine, McGill University for the Internal studentship for the year 1986-1987.

Research Institute of the Royal Victoria Hospital for the Pre-doctoral fellowship for the year 1987-1988.

Graduate Faculty of McGill University for the Differential Fee Waiver for the year 1988-1989.

Medical Research Council of Canada for MRC Studentship for the years 1988-1989, and 1989-1991.

The expenses of this investigation were defrayed by grants from the Medical Research Council of Canada and the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development to Professor Samuel Solomon.

ABBREVIATIONS

8

a-MSH	α -melanocyte		31:51 monophosphate
	stimulating hormone;	CLIP	corticotropin-like
	α-melanotropin		intermediate lobe
3B-HSD	3B-hydroxy-5-ene		peptide
	steroid dehydrogenase	CM	carboxymethyl
λ	alanine	Con A	concanavalin A
AII	angiotensin II	CRF	corticotropin-releasing
AC	adenylate cyclase		factor
ACTH	adrenocorticotropic	CRFS	corticotropin-releasing
	hormone		factors
Ala	alanine	CSI	rabbit corticostatin
AP	acute phase protein		I
Arg	arginine	CSIa	synthetic rabbit
Asn	asparagine		corticostatin I
Asp	aspartic acid	CSID	isoform b of synthetic
AtT20	a clonal mouse		rabbit corticostatin
	anterior pituitary		I
	corticotroph tumor	CSIC	isoform c of synthetic
	cell line		rabbit corticostatin
AVP	arginine vasopressin		I
B	corticosterone	CSII	rabbit corticostatin
BBB	blood-brain barrier		II
BSA	bovine serum albumin	CSIII	rabbit corticostatin
BSF-2	B-cell stimulatory		III
	factor-2	CSIV	rabbit corticostatin
С	cysteine		IV
CAMP	cyclic adenosine	Cys	cysteine
	3':5' monophosphate	D	aspartic acid
CCK	cholecytokinin	dbcAMP	dibutyryl cyclic
CDNA	complementory		adenosine 3':5'
	deoxyribonucleic acid		monophosphate
CGMP	cyclic guanosine	DHEA	dehydro-epiandrosterone

DNA	decsyribonucleic	HMGCOA	3-hydroxy-3-
	acid		methylglutaryl coenzyme
DNase	deoxyribonuclease I		A
Е	glutamic acid	hnRNA	primary transcript of
ED ₅₀	fifty percent		RNA
	effective dose	HP-4	human corticostatic
F	phenylalanine		peptide 4
FSHRH	follicle stimulating	HPA	hypothalamic-pituitary-
	hormone releasing		adrenal
	îactor	HPGF	hybridoma plasmacytom
FSH	follicle stimulating		growth factor
	hormone	HPLC	high performance liquid
G	glycine		chromatography
GH	growth hormone	HSF	hepatocyte stimulating
Gi	inhibitory GTP-		factor (IL-6)
	binding prote.ns	I	isoleucine
Gln	glutamine	IFN-Y	interferon-Y
Glu	glutamic acid	IFN-B2	interferon-B2
Gly	glycine	IGF-I	insulin-like growth
GPCS	guinea pig		factor I
	corticostatin peptide	IGF-II	insulin like growth
GRF	growth hormone		factor II
	releasing factor	IL-1	interleukin 1
G _s	stimulatory GTP-	IL-2	interleukin 2
	binding proteins	IL-3	interleukin 3
GTP	guanosine	IL-6	interleukin 6
	triphosphate	Ile	isoleucine
H	histidine	IR-ACT	H immunoreactive
HDL	high density		АСТН
	lipoproteins	IR-oCR	F immunoreactive ovine
HFBA	heptofluorobutyric		CRF
	acid	K	lysine
hgf	hybridoma growth	Kđ	apparent dissociation
	factor		constant
His	histidine	L	leucine

·

•

.,**.

LDL	low density	Phe	phenylalanine
	lipoproteins	PKI	cAMP-dependent protein
Leu	leucine		kinase inhibitor, the
LH	luteinizing hormone		Walsh inhibitor
LHRH	luteinizing hormone	Pro	proline
	releasing hormone	PTH	phenylthiohydanti on
LPS	bacterial	PVN	hypothalamic
	lipopolysaccharide		paraventricular nucleus
Lys	lysine	PVNmpd	the dorsal medial
M	methionine		parvicellular part of
ME	median eminence		hypothalamic
MeCN	acetonitrile		paraventricular nucleus
N	asparagine	Q	glutamine
NAD	nicotinamine adenine	R	arginine
	dinucleotide	R-1	rat arginine-rich
NADPH	nicotinamine adenine		cysteine-rich peptide
	dinucleotide		1
	phosphate (reduced	R-2	rat arginine-rich
	form)		cysteine-rich peptide
2	proline		2
P _{450c11}	11B-hydroxylase, 18-	R-3	rat arginine-rich
	hydroxylase and 18-		cysteine-rich peptide
	oxidase		3
P _{450c17}	17-α-hydroxylase	R-4	rat arginine-rich
	and 17,20 lyase		cysteine-rich peptide
P _{450c21}	21-hydroxylase		4 with corticostatic
P _{450scc}	cholesterol side		activity
	-chain cleavage	R-5	rat arginine-rich
	enzyme		cysteine-rich peptide
PBS	phosphate buffered		5 with corticostatic
	saline		activity
PDGF	platelet derived	RP-HPL	C reversed-phase high
	growth		performance liquid
	factor		chromatogrphy
PHA	phytohemaglutanin	8	serine

S0.

B-EP	ß-endorphin
SCP-2	sterol carrier
	protein-2
Ser	serine
T	threonine
TFA	trifluoracetic acid
TGF-B	transforming growth
	factor ß
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TRF	thyroid stimulating
	hormone releasing
	factor
tsh	thyroid stimulating
	hormone
Tyr	tyrosine
V	valine
Val	valine
W	tryptophan
Y	tyrosine
Y-1	mouse tumor
	adrenocortical cell
	line

,

-1⁹24

TABLE OF CONTENTS

--

1

1 ... Y

Abstract	. i
Preface	. ii
Acknowledgements	. v
ABBREVIATIONS	. vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	. xi
TABLE OF FIGURES	. xv
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	. 1
1.1 General Introduction	. 1
1.2. The Hypothalamus: The Link Between the	
Nervous and Endocrine Systems	. 3
1.3. Neural Control of ACTH Secretion	. 7
1.3.1 CRF	. 9
1.3.2 CRF and Vasopressin	. 14
1.3.3. Regulation of CRF Neurons	. 15
1.4. Mechanism of Pituitary ACTH Secretion	. 20
1.5. The Adrenal Glands	. 34
1.6. Regulation of the Immune System and the	
Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal axis	. 44
1.6.1. The Regulation of the Immune System by	
Glucocorticoids	. 44
1.6.2. Immunoregulatory Feedback of the HPA	
$Axis. \dots \dots$	• 55
1.6.2.1. The positive control of the HPA	
axis	. 55
1.6.2.2. The negative control of the HPA	
axis	. 59

CHAPTER	2: MATERIALS AND METHODS	62
	2.1. Materials	62
	2.1.1. Source of Peptides	62
	2.1.2. Source of Tissues	62
	2.1.3. Source of Reagents	63
	2.2. Isolation and Purification of Peptides	66
	2.2.1. Extraction of Tissues	66
	2.2.1.1. Acidic medium extraction	66
	2.2.1.2. ODS silica cartridge	
	extraction	67
	2.2.1.3. CM cation exchange cartridge	
	extraction	67
	2.2.2. HPLC Purification	68
	2.2.2.1. General methods	68
	2.2.2.2. Reversed-phase HPLC	
	purification	69
	2.2.2.3. Gel permeation HPLC	
	purification	70
	2.3. Characterization	70
	2.3.1. Amino Acid Analysis	70
	2.3.1.1. Acid hydrolysis	70
	2.3.1.2. Amino acid analysis	71
	2.3.2. Gas Phase Sequencing of Peptides	71
	2.3.2.1. Reduction and	
	pyridylethylation	71
	2.3.2.2. Amino acid sequence analysis	71
	2.4. Radioimmunoassays	72
	2.4.1. Radioimmunoassays of Peptides	72
	2.4.1.1. Iodination of peptide	72
	2.4.1.2. Antisera	73
	2.4.1.3. Specificity of antisera	74
	2.4.1.4. Radioimmunoassays	74
	2.4.2. Radioimmunoassay of Steroids	75
	2.5. In Vitro Bioassay	76
	2.5.1. Rat Adrenal Cell Bioassay	76

. مورد مورد

v*

* , T.E

2.5.2. Rat Adrenal Zona Glomerulosa Cell	
Bioassay	77
2.6. ACTH Receptor Assay	78
2.6.1. Preparation of Labelled ACTH Ligand	78
2.6.2. ACTH Receptor Binding Studies	79
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS I:	
PURIFICATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF CORTICOSTATINS	82
3.1. The Discovery of the Existence of Anti-ACTH	
Peptides in the Fetal Rabbit Lungs	82
3.2. Purification and Characterization of	
Corticostatins	90
3.2.1. Purification of Corticostatins	90
3.2.2. Purification of corticostatic peptides	
using the separation of basic peptides	
from neutral and acidic fractions	93
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS II:	
THE MECHANISM OF ACTION OF CSI	112
4.1. The Mechanism of the Anti-ACTH Action of	
Corticostatin	112
4.1.1. The Specificity of the Action of CSI	112
4.1.2. The Site of Action of CSI on Membrane	
Signal Transduction	118
4.1.3. CSI: A Competitive Inhibitor of ACTH	
- • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	128
4.2. The Comparisons of the Effects of Natural	
CSI and Synthetic CSI	133
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION	138
5.1. The Evidence for the Presence of Anti-ACTH	
Substances in Rabbit Fetal Lung Extracts	138
5.2. The Rat Adrenal Cell Bioassay	139
5.3 Isolation and Identification of	
Corticostatic Peptides	144

•**

۰ň

5.3.1. Peptide Extraction and Purification	144
5.3.2. Recovery of Peptides in the Initial	
$Protocol \dots \dots$	146
5.3.3. Separation into Basic, Acidic, and	
Neutral Fraction	150
5.4. Tissues that Contain CSI	152
5.5 Corticostatic Peptides in the Immune	
System	154
5.5.1. Corticostatic Peptides from	
Neutrophils	154
5.5.2. The Possible Role of CSI in the	
Interaction of the HPA Axis and the	
Immune System	155
5.6. The Mechanism of Action of CSI	161
5.7. ACTH Receptor Binding Studies	166
5.8. ACTH Structure and the Dual Site Calcium	
Channel Form ACTH Receptor	169
5.9. The Structural Requirement for Anti-ACTH	
Activity of Corticostatin	177
CONCLUSIONS	180
CLAIMS TO ORIGINALITY	182
References	184

TABLE OF FIGURES

(

の道い

ú

Fig. 1-1. The secretion patterns of CRF, AVP, three POMC	
peptides (ACTH, β -EP, and α -MSH), and cortisol	
in 5 conscious sheep (a-e)	13
Fig. 1-2. ACTH secretory responses to increasing	
concentrations of oCRF	26
Fig. 1-3. ACTH secretory responses to increasing	
concentrations of AVP	27
Fig. 1-4. Kinetics of the synergistic effect on ACTH	
secretion of oCRF and AVP	28
Fig. 3-1 Radioimmunoreactive ACTH in fetal human lung	
extracts	86
Fig. 3-2 Adrenocorticotropic activity in fetal rabbit	
lung extracts	87
Fig. 3-3 Inhibition of ACTH-stimulated corticosterone	
output by material in fraction 40-80%	
acetonitrile from Fig. 3-2.	88
Fig. 3-4 The loss of the anti-ACTH activity following	
trypsin digestion	89
Fig. 3-5. Dose response of corticosterone released by	
rat adrenal cells in response to increasing	
concentration of synthetic hACTH _{1.30} .	94
Fig. 3-6 The elution pattern of inhibitory peptides	
from a reverse-phase HPLC column of an extract	
of 100 pairs of fetal rabbit lungs	95
Fig. 3-7 Second Reversed-phase HPLC purification of the	
anti-ACTH peptide.	96
Fig. 3-8 Purification of the inhibitory material from	
Fig 3-7.	97
Fig. 3-9 The last purification of the anti-ACTH pentide	2,
by gel filtration HPLC	98
Fig. 3-10 Inhibition of ACTH-stimulated corticosterone	50
output by CST	90
Fig. 3-11 The fractionation of the radiolabelled CST	
by CM cationic exchange cartridge	105
or outonite exemunye caretilage,	TOD

Fig. 3-12 The comparison of the amounts of cationic	
peptides in fetal rabbit lungs (16 pairs about	
16.3 g), adult rabbit lung (one pair 17 g), and	
rabbit peritoneal neutrophils (from one rabbit).	
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	106
Fig. 3-13. HPLC purification of cationic peptides from	
(a) adult rabbit heart (17 g), (b) kidney (17	
g), (c) and liver (17 g)	107
Fig. 3-14 The recovery of cationic peptides after	
chromatography on CM-Silica cartridges	108
Fig. 3-15 The purification of corticostatic peptides	
from adult rabbit lungs	109
Fig. 3-16 The purity of CSI fractions from the first	
RP-HPLC as demonstrated by a second RP-HPLC	
step	110
Fig. 3-17 A comparison of the corticostatic activity	
of CSI, II, III, and VI	111
Fig. 4-1 The effect of CSI on the ACTH stimulated-	
corticosterone, aldosterone and cAMP productions	
in dispersed rat adrenal cell bioassay	115
Fig. 4-2 The competitive inhibition pattern of CSI on	
ACTH stimulated corticosterone production	116
Fig. 4-3 The effect of CSI on the Angiotensin II	
stimulated-aldosterone production in dispersed	
zona glumarulosa cell bioassay	117
Fig. 4-4 The adrenal cell membrane	121
Fig. 4-5 The effect of CSI on dbcAMP stimulated-	
corticosterone production	122
Fig. 4-6 The effect of CSI on forskolin stimulated-	
corticosterone production	123
Fig. 4-7 The effect of CSI on cholera toxin stimulated-	
corticosterone production	124
Fig. 4-8 The effect of pertussis toxin on the CSI	
inhibition	125
Fig. 4-9 The ACTH receptor binding assay	126

and an an an an

Characteric de

Fig 4-10 The inhibition of corticosterone production	
by CSI and ACTH ₆₋₂₄	127
Fig. 4-11 The effect of CSI on α MSH stimulated-	
corticosterone production	130
Fig. 4-12 The inhibitory effect of CSI on the ACTH ₁₋₁₈	
amide stimulated corticosterone production	131
Fig. 4-13 The mechanism of action of CSI on the adrenal	
cell membrane	132
Fig. 4-14 Trypsin digestion maps of rabbit CSI and	
synthetic rabbit CSI	135
Fig. 4-15 Inhibition of ACTH-stimulated corticosterone	
production by rabbit CSI and synthetic rabbit	
CSI	136
Fig. 4-16 Inhibition of ACTH-stimulated corticosterone	
production by synthetic rabbit CSI and synthetic	
CSIb and synthetic CSIc	137
Fig. 5-1. The effect of corticosteroid administration	
on absolute circulating (a) lymphocyte and (b)	
monocyte counts	.58
Fig. 5-2. The effect of various doses of intravenous	
hydrocortisone administration on absolute	
circulating PMN counts	.59

1.17

*

*

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 General Introduction

This chapter concerns itself with the interactions of the nervous system with the endocrine system and the endocrine system with the immune system. It also attempts to integrate the immune system interaction with the nervous and endocrine systems. This is very broad subject and the literature in this field has become so voluminous, that it is not possible to detail it in an introduction to a Ph. D. thesis. As a result only a small selection of representative references will be given and mention will be made of current reviews.

The recognition that the endocrine system is controlled and regulated by central nervous system was first made by the pioneering work of E. Scharrer (1) during the 1930's on the hypothalamic "glandular neurons" in ertebrate and from the work of Harris (2), Rasmussen (3), Scharrer (4) and Szentagothai (5) among others on the hypophyseal portal circulatory system. In contrast, the immune system was considered as a completely autonomous system until 1970's when Besedovsky, Sorkin, and del Ray and colleagues (reviewed by Besedovsky and Sorkin, see ref. 6) extensively explored the relation between the immune-defence and endocrine systems. In addition the elegant review of Munck

1

et al. (7) on the physiological functions of glucocorticoids greatly contributed to the current knowledge of the interaction of nervous, endocrine and immune systems.

The direct control of the immune system by the nervous system has not as yet been established. The immune system more likely is controlled to a lesser or greater extent by nervous system through hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis. The physiological significance of the neuronal control of the immune system via the HPA axis or other endocrine axis is not obvious. A relatively autonomous immune-defence system with a latency of neuronal control might be necessary for the body to survive from extremely complex and dangerous surroundings.

A detailed discussion concerning the regulations within the immune-defence system and within the nervous system will not be found in this thesis, and historical development of current knowledge will also be omitted in most cases. Since substantial progress has been made in mapping pathways of the information flow, (although most of them still remain largely unidentified) this chapter will briefly cover pathways of information flow from the neuronal to the hypothalamic to the pituitary to the adrenal then to the immune and back to the neuronal systems.

1.2. The Hypothalamus: The Link Between the Nervous and Endocrine Systems

During the so called, "the highly productive days" of the 1940s and 1950s, a number of gifted neuroscientists around world, such as F.O. Schmitt, J. Z. Young. J. Szentagothai, D. Hebb among others made a series of important discoveries which greatly contributed to our body of modern neuroscience. Their stories have been vividly recorded in the book, "The Neuroscience: Paths of Discovery" (8). The recognition of the high degree of functional interdependence between nervous and endocrine system was also made in that period, but the phenomena that the hypothalamus might play a fundamental role in the maintenance of the normal function of the anterior pitultary, were noticed long before that time. In 1912, Aschner (9) reported that lesions in the hypothalamus result in gonadal atrophy. Similar observation were made by Camus and Roussy (10), Bailey and Bremer (11) and Smith (12). The question as to how the information flow passes from the central brain to the endocrine system became a burning issue.

One way in which this was deemed feasible at least at that time was a direct nervous control of endocrine cells by conventional synaptic transmission as in the control of the muscular contraction. In order to result in appropriate

responses, but unlike regular interneuronal or neuromuscular communication, simultaneous and continuous signals would have to be directed via these synaptic complexes. This would have to be directed to each or at least to most of the endocrine effector cells over periods of time. This kind of neuron effector junction with endocrine cells has never been demonstrated.

In 1930's, based on the examination of 200 human specimens, E. Scharrer described unusual nerve cells which contain granules and droplets of protein, which exhibit staining reactions and physical properties resembling those of colloid in organs such as the thyroid (1). These unusual nerve cells were found in the supraoptic nuclei and parventricular nuclei of the human hypothalamus late which was called the neurosecretory neurons. The neurosecretory neurons are neither ordinary nervous elements nor glandular cells, but a combination of both. The contents of these protein-rich droplets and the physiological significance of their existence in the neurosecretory neuron were unknown at that time.

The other piece of information available at that time was a knowledge of the hypophyseal circulation. Although the pituitary gland does not receive a major innervation from the hypothalamus, it is supplied by blood that comes directly from the hypothalamus via the portal-hypophyseal vessels. These

vessels begin in capillary loops that penetrate the median eminence of the hypothalamus and pass down the pituitary stalk to the anterior pituitary where they end in the sinusoids supplying the anterior pituitary cells (for review see ref. 13). Taking into consideration of these facts Harris (2, 14) and Green and Harris (15) proposed that the link between the hypothalamus and the anterior rituitary might be neurovascular. It had been assumed that the neurons of the hypothalamus produce some hypothetical substances essential for the pituitary, which might be carried by the portal circulation to the cells of the anterior pituicary. Later on, this hypothesis was proven to be correct by numerous experiments in particular the observations that extracts of hypothalamic origin have a direct effect on pituitary hormone secretion. Such an action was first shown for ACTH secretion and the active substance was called Corticotropic Hormone Releasing Factor, CRF (16-20). Further experiments revealed that beside CRF, hypothalamic extracts also contain other substances which stimulate the secretion of other pituitary hormones such as TSH (TRF) (21-25). LH (LHRH) (26-29), FSH (FRF) (30), and GH (GRF) (31, 32).

Thus, the linkage of the two systems, neuronal and endocrine systems was established. The concept that information from other brain centres is relayed to hypothalamic parvicellular secretory neurons which then secrete their hypophysiotropins into the

pituitary portal vasculature of the median eminence (ME) which in turn act on the pituitary gland to release pituitary hormones, has been firmly established (for review see ref. 5).

After the first full characterization of the thyrotropinreleasing hormone (33, 34), a number of anterior pituitary hormone-releasing factors have been isolated from the hypothalamus and characterized. They are all small polypeptides, consisting of 3 to 44 amino acids (for a review see ref. 35).

Although corticotrophin-releasing factor(s) (CRF) was the first hypothalamic substance to be detected in the hypothalamic extracts in 1955, the discovery of 41-amino acid residue ovine CRF was made more than two decades later by Vale and co-workers (36). Familari *et al.* (37) recently demonstrated that arginine vasopressin was a much more likely candidate CRF in the ovine than the 41 amino acid ovine CRF. Nevertheless, a large body of evidence supports the concept that the secretion of ACTH is regulated by a constellation of hypothalamic factors secreted into the hypophysial portal circulation. Among them, CRF and arginine vasopressin play predominant roles in response to a variety of stressors (for review see ref. 38). The control and regulation of ACTH secretion by neuron and hypothalamic factors will be discussed in the following sections.

1.3. Neural Control of ACTH Secretion

Much work, during the past several decades, has been devoted to the elucidation of the neural pathways, neurotransmitters, hypothalamic factors and control mechanisms involved in the regulation of pituitary-adrenocortical responses to stress. However, many controversies still remain, which have arisen from the use of pharmacological tools for investigating the nature of the neurotransmitters involved in the control of ACTH secretion. The use of different forms of stress, each being, not only possibly but also likely, mediated by distinct neuroanatomical pathways or structures. The use of different species of animals, some of them being quite discrete from others, has given rise to numerous inconsistencies in the results obtained. The absence of a proper method to investigate the electrophysiological properties of secretory neurons and to see how the signals from different afferent inputs that are activated by stressful stimuli are processed with reasonable efficiency, has made the research more difficult and slower. The existence of different time-related feedback mechanisms might have been at the origin of some of these inconsistencies in studies using different duration of stress.

Most of the information available so far was obtained by surgical lesioning or electrical stimulation of anatomically

N. C.

7

ŝ

defined pathways to the ME, immuno-neutralization of CRFs in vivo, or administration of receptor antagonists of CRFs, or measurement of ACTH in plasma or measurement of CRFs in pituitary portal blood, or immunocytochemical studies together with various systemic and neurogenic stressful paradigms (39). The stressful paradigms used have been emotional immobilization stress (40-42), audiovisual stimulation (43-45), insulin induced-hypoglycemia, (42, 45-50), hemorrhage (51-56), hypothermia (57, 58), ether stress (59-62), ether laparotomy (63), formalin injection (57), trauma (64-67) and immuno challenge, (6, 68, 69).

Among the pathways currently under investigating, those responsible for hemorrhage-induced ACTH secretion have been mapped in the greatest detail especially in cats by Gann and coworkers. (For a detail discussion of these pathways, the reader is referred to the references listed above).

Although it has been speculated for a long time that neurons in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVN) mediate the stress-induced ACIH secretion (70, 71), technically neither electrolytic lesions nor electrical stimulation exclude the possibility that fibres that pass through the PVN, but not the cell bodies in the PVN may mediate the stress-induced ACTH secretion. Motton *et al* (72) with the aid of ibotenic acid, a neurotoxin analogue of glutamate, which has the ability to

selectively destroy cell bodies while leaving fibers of passage intact, demonstrated that neuronal cell bodies in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus mediate stress induced increases of corticosterone in rats by scrambled current (0.8 mA DC) shock.

1.3.1 CRF

Immunohistochemical studies indicate that the PVN contains of the order of 2,000 CRF cells (73), and that lesions of this nucleus virtually eliminate CRF-immunoreactive terminals from the median eminence. CRF neurons are found in all eight major parts of the PVN, but a large proportion are concentrated in the dorsal medial parvicellular part (PVNmpd) (73). The CRF peptides are also present in widespread regions of the brain as well as some non-brain tissues (74-80).

In contrast to the immunocytochemical studies, RNA blot analysis (81) revealed that the highest concentration of CRF mRNA is present in the brain stem of rat brain but not in the hypothalamus. CRF mRNA can also be detected in the cerebral cortex, midbrain, striatum and hippocampus and other non-brain tissues, such as adrenal gland, spinal cord, testis, and pituitary gland, although it cannot be found in the cerebellum. Although the concentration of CRF mRNA does not correspond to the levels of CRF immunoreactivity, in general, the presence of CRF mRNA correspond to the presence of immunoreactive CRF.

Nevertheless. the numerous CRF-reactive cells in other hypothalamic regions and in tissues other than PVN are apparently not hypophysiotrophic, and their possible functions remain unknown. In supporting the suggestion that neurons in the parvicellular subdivisions of the PVN mediate the stress-induced ACTH secretion (70, 71), the studies on adrenalectomized rats show that adrenalectomy markedly enhances the staining for CRF in the parvicellular subdivisions of the PVN, but not elsewhere in the brain (82-86). In rats, CRF is the major physiological mediator of the hypothalamic control of ACTH secretion (87, 88).

There are two types of parvicellular CRF neurosecretory cells projecting into the portal capillary plexus in the external zone of the median eminence; the vasopressin-containing and vasopressin-deficient cells (89-91). The vasopressin but not CRF neurons were also found but were less than 1% of the parvicellular axons (90). The perikarya of the vasopressincontaining CRF neurons, expressing vasopressin precursor, different possess topographical distribution from the vasopressin precursor-deficient cells, and in rats they are approximately equal in number (92). Vasopressin is copackaged in the same secretory vesicles in vasopressinwith CRF containing CRF cells (89, 91-93). Very recently Whitnall (42) using a functional ultrastructural assay, demonstrated that one hour immobilization of the rats resulted in 47% depletion of

secretory vesicles from the vasopressin-containing CRF axons in the external zone of the median eminence but had no effect on the vasopressin-deficient CRF varicosities. Insulin-induced hypoglycemia caused a 48% depletion of secretory vesicles from vasopressin-containing CRF axons also had no significant effects on vasopressin-deficient CRF axons, but the injection of 100 μq colchicine (a axonal transport blocker which will activate hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis at high doses) into the lateral ventricle caused 51% and 55% depletion of secretory vesicles both vasopressin-containing and vasopressinin deficient axons respectively. These results suggested that vasopressin-containing CRF neurons and vasopressin-deficient CRF neurons are regulated by different afferent axonal projections. Differential activation of these components modulates the ratio of CRF and vasopressin in portal blood during stress. The beauty of this kind of functional ultrastructural assay is that it avoids any surgical operation that in itself might be stressful, and this was the first unambiguously demonstration of the sources of the measured peptides in the portal blood circulation. It is worth mentioning that the results obtained by Plotsky (49, 94) and cited in several influential reviews (38, 95) showing rises in portal vasopressin but no change in portal CRF during insulin-induced hypoglycemia are inconsistent with the recent observation obtained by Whitnall, and also

inconsistent with the results of Berkenbosch et al. (96) and Guillaume et al. (50). The main point which Plotsky tried to emphasize is correct, that is, the CRF containing neurons and vasopressin containing neurons are under different control. Sometimes significant difference can even be observed in the same experiment on individual animals. This is the case in the recent report from Engler, et al. (45). Their studies were undertaken to characterize the secretion of CRF and vasopressin into the hypophysial-portal circulation of the conscious sheep. In the experiment, five sheep were used and each of them had their own response pattern to the audiovisual and insulin stress (Fig. 1-1), though the overall tendency in increasing the secretion of vasopressin and CRF under the stress were same. Ultrastructural studies in sheep are not available. The marked alteration of the CRF:vasopressin molar ratio during stress in these five sheep suggest that the percentage of vasopressin containing CRF neurons or the amount of vasopressin copacked with CRF in the secretory vesicles is greater in general than that in rats and varies in individual animals. These results support the idea that these two types of CRF neurons are regulated by different afferent axonal projections.



Fig. 1-1a

.

p*



Fig. 1-1b

*

¥.



· · ·

** *** # . .

#` ~r

÷.

a. +

Fig. 1-1c



Fig. 1-1d

, **1**


Fig. 1-1e

+ب

Fig. 1-1. The secretion patterns of CRF, AVP, three POMC peptides (ACTH, β -EP, and α -MSH), and cortisol in 5 conscious sheep (a-e). Shown also are the secretory responses to a 3-min audiovisual emotional stress (hatched area) and insulin-induced hypoglycemia (arrow). (copied from reference 45)

1.3.2 CRF and Vasopressin

One recent important observation is that CRF may not be the predominant stimulus to ACTH release (or synthesis) in all species. In sheep, arginine vasopressin is a more potent stimulus to ACTH release than ovine CRF both *in vitro* (37) and *in vivo* (98). In humans arginine vasopressin but not CRF is a potent stimulator of ACTH following electroconvulsive treatment (99). In bovine pituitary cell preparations, CRF and vasopressin appear to have equal potency (100). In duck anterior pituitary cells, neither vasopressin nor CRF but vasotosin function as the principal secretagogue (101).

As mentioned previously adrenalectomy stimulates CRF synthesis in the parvicellular subdivisions of the PVN. The vasopressin-deficient subset of CRF neurons expresses vasopressin after adrenalectomy (92). Interestingly, both CRF and vasopressin show biphasic changes after adrenalectomy, a marked depletion of CRF and vasopressin from the fibres in the external lamina of the ME by about 24 h after surgery (102), and a replenishment of stores after a few days (103). However the replenishment of vasopressin occurs faster and to a greater degree than that of CRF (104). The studies on the isolated ME demonstrate that the release of CRF from the isolated ME decreased by 40%, 4 days after adrenalectomy and increased by 60% at 4 weeks, while the release of vasopressin rose by 150%

and 500% at 4 days and 4 weeks after surgery, respectively. The ratio of vasopressin to CRF release by the ME, increased from approximately 2:1 in control animals to 9:1 in adrenalectomized rats (104). Jt appears that CRF functions in a permissive role, while vasopressin is the dynamic mediator of ACTH secretion (58, 49).

CRF and vasopressin serve as primary regulators of ACTH secretion, but there are several other factors (for review see ref. 38, 105) including serotonin (106), adrenalin (107, 108), oxytocin (109), angiotensin II (110-112) which play a role. These factors are less effective than CRF and vasopressin in term of stimulation of ACTH release, but they show synergism with CRF. Vasopressin and CRF potentiate each other's actions. The mechanism of action of the secretagogues involved in the control of ACTH secretion will be discussed in the pituitary section.

1.3.3. Regulation of CRF Neurons

No matter which secretagogue, CRF or vasopressin, i the dominant component in stress-induced release of ACTH, the hypothesis that CRF neurons in the PVN play predominant roles in the process has been wildly accepted. There is a large variety of kinds and sources of fibres that may influence the activity of CRF cells in the PVN (113). The exact role of limbic

structures and low brain stem and the nature of the neurotransmitter used in each of the central nervous system nuclei participating in the control of CRF neurons or ACTH secretion is still to be resolved. The majority of afferents arises either from the limbic system (subiculum, amygdala, septum) or from the lower brain (raphe nuclei, locus caeruleus, parabrachial nucleus, nucleus of the solitary tract, reticular amygdala, particularly the central formation (114). The amygdaloid nucleus has been shown to be important for the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (41,44, 115-120). Interestingly, Beaulieu et al (121) recently demonstrated that a lesion of the central nucleus of the amygdala provoked a striking decrease of the content of CRF-like immunoreactive material at both anterior and posterior levels of the external zone of the ME. Very recently, the direct projections from the central amygdaloid nucleus to the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus was found by the antero-grade tracing method (122) using the Phaseolus vulgaris leucoagglutinin lectin. Besides these, there are two other important series of evidence to support the hypothesis that the amygdaloid central nucleus is one of the major limbic structures controlling CRF neurones of the PVN. First, the amygdala is one of few sites in the brain in which corticosteroids down-regulate their own receptors (123), and second the central nucleus of the amygdala of ovine brain

0 12 contains a high concentration of CRF-like material (124). CRF has been demonstrated as a brain neurotransmitter involved in mediating the response of locus ceruleus to hemodynamic stress (125), and CRF neurons have also been shown to interact with other CRF neurons and with certain parvi- and magnocellular neurons in the PVN (86, 126). Therefore it is possible that CRF neurons within the amygdala could directly innervate CRF neurons within the PVN.

Some other neurotransmitters have been directly or indirectly implicated in the regulation of CRF neurons within the PVN. These are the catecholamines (62, 127-129), histamine (130, 131), serotonin (132, 133), ACTH (134, 135), neuropeptide Y (136), angiotensin II (137) dopamine (138), Noradrenaline (139-142), adrenaline (142, 143), serotonin (144, 145).

CRF cells are also under peripheral control, mainly by the final products of hypothalami-pituitary-adrenal axis, the glucocorticoids, and possibly by some factors from the immune defence system such as IL-1. These will be discussed later in the section 1.6.2. on the immunoregulatory feedback of the HPA axis.

Glucocorticoids have very potent negative feedback effects on the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis. Pharmacological studies suggest that these feedback mechanisms have about three recognisable different time domains, fast-feedback (few min),

early (1-2 h) and late (≤ 24 h) delayed-feedback inhibition (for a review see ref. 146). Fast feedback appears to be controlled by a different receptor mechanism than the early or late delayed-feedback systems. Of the corticosteroids that have been tested, only corticosterone and cortisol and the synthetic analog, dexamethasone, show a fast feedback effect (147, 148).

There arc probably three or more sites at which glucocorticoids act to modulate ACTH secretion, namely the limbic hippocampus structure (the and amygdala), the hypothalamus, and the anterior pituitary (for a review see ref, 149). The hypothesis that glucocorticoids preferentially act at the CRF neurons of the PVN is supported by the following. First the glucocorticoid feedback inhibition still remained when the hypothalamus was surgically isolated from the rest of the brain (150); second, graded doses of corticosterone will, within 30 min of intraperitoneal injection in conscious, freely moving rats, decrease multiple-unit activity in the parvicellular part of the PVN in response to stimuli of photic and acoustic stimulation (151); third after lesioning the paraventricular nucleus (60) or using Halasz knife lesions to destroy CRF and vasopressin input to the anterior pituitary (152), POMC mRNA levels in anterior pituitary decrease in the adrenalectomized rats; fourth, adding back increasing levels of corticosterone to lesioned adrenalectomized rats had no significant effect on

A.Levina

the POMC mRNA levels in the anterior pituitary (152), and finally only at very high doses do corticosteroids have significant feedback effects at the pituitary level (153). However, this evidence does not rule out the possibility that the inhibitory effects of glucocorticoids on anterior pituitary in vivo require the presence of some unknown hypothalamic factor(s). However CRF neurons in the PVN do contain glucocorticoid receptors (154-157), and withdrawal of endogenous glucocorticoids after adrenalectomy has been shown to increase activity hypophyseal-portal hypothalamic CRF (158) and concentrations of (159 - 162),CRF whereas exogenous corticosteroids inhibit CRF release from the hypothalamus in vitro (163) and into the hypophyseal-portal blood in vivo (161-162). Similarly, adrenalectomy increases hypothalamic CRF mRNA (164, 165).

The synthesis of CRF and vasopressin appear to be segregated in different functional states, being regulated by both neuronal input and glucocorticoids. As mentioned previously, vasopressin expression is suppressed in vasopressin-deficient CRF neurons in the presence of normal circulating levels of glucocorticoids, and at high concentrations of glucocorticoids, CRF and vasopressin expression is suppressed in both subsets of CRF cells. It is important to note that the lesion of the central nucleus of the amygdala caused a significant decrease of CRF in

the ME. However the regulation of CRF (or vasopressin ?) by neuronal input and glucocorticoids accomplished are by independent mechanisms. Using in situ hybridization histochemistry technique, Lightman et al. (166) recently demonstrated that after adrenalectomy, even when CRF mRNA had reached peak levels, stress still further increased CRF mRNA, and large doses of dexamethasone administration in the fastfeedback or early delayed-feedback time domains had no effect on CRF mRNA response to stress. In the late delayed-feedback time domain dexamethasone reduced basal CRF mRNA levels, however it had no or slight effect on CRF mRNA response to stress. The exact mechanisms of the control of CRF synthesis and release remain unknown.

1.4. Mechanism of Pituitary ACTH Secretion

The pituitary in contrast to the adrenal stores the hormone formed therein and requires hypothalamic releasing hormones to make the pituitary hormone available to the circulation on demand. The anterior pituitary of the adenohypophysis is the source of several peptides and protein hormones. ACTH-containing cells (corticotrophs) account for 2 to 3% of the cell population in normal rats, and 8-10% of cell population in adrenalectomized rats (167, 168). It is not clear whether there is any similarity

in the mechanisms of the regulation of ACTH expression by glucocorticoids in the pituitary and the mechanisms that regulate vasopressin expression in the CRF cells in the PVN of the hypothalamus. The pituitary appears to be a common pathway for all hypothalamic secretagogues affecting glucocorticoid secretion. However, the population of ACTH cells still appears to be heterogeneous. Using the reverse haemolytic plaque assay technique on single cell studies Leong (169) demonstrated that each corticotrope was endowed with its own activation threshold for CRF. That is, each individual ACTH cell requires specific minimal concentrations of CRF to release ACTH. A prominent feature of concentration-response curves is the recruitment of ACTH cells into the secretory pool. The mechanism underlying the phenomenon is unknown.

Specific, high affinity ($K_d \approx 10^{-9}$ M) receptors for CRF have been identified in the anterior pituitary (170-175). The carboxyl-terminus of CRF is critical for its biological activity (36). The minimal sequence required to retain full CRF activity is 15-41, however, the ED₅₀ of CRF₁₅₋₄₁ is much higher than CRF₁₋₄₁ (170). The binding of CRF to its receptors activates adenylate cyclase (176) through G_s (stimulatory GTP-binding proteins) (172, 175, 177, 178) causing an increase in the intracellular concentration of cAMP (178, 179) and thereby enhancing the activity of cAMP dependent protein kinase. The requirement for

÷7

77

cAMP-dependent protein kinase in mediating the effects of CRH has been directly demonstrated by Reisine and co-workers (180) by incorporation of cAMP-dependent protein kinase inhibitor (PKI, the Walsh inhibitor) into AtT20 cells (a clonal mouse anterior pituitary corticotroph tumor cell line) by liposome fusion. Cells receiving PKI did not respond to CRF or 8-bromocAMP with increased ACTH secretion. The substrates for the CAMPdependent protein kinase have not been characterized, but there is some evidence suggesting that the CRF-induced cAMP signal must be transduced into a Ca²⁺ signal to initiate ACTH release. Since calcium ions enter corticotrophs via channels it is possible that voltage-gated calcium channels (151, 181, 182) are required for ACTH release. Therefore the calcium channel of the plasma membrane might be one of the substrates for the cAMPdependent protein kinase (169, 183, 184). In support of this hypothesis, Leong demonstrated, with the single cell studies, that CRF or Forskolin or 8 bromo-cAMP treatment rapidly (3-50 seconds) stimulated an increase of cytosolic calcium concentration, and high concentrations of the calcium channel antagonist, Verapamil, can completely abolish both CRF- and Forskolin-induced calcium rises and ACTH secretion (169).

The receptor mediating vasopressin action in the pituitary gland (185, for review see ref. 186) is a different type of receptor from the pressor V_1 type vasopressin receptor of the

vascular smooth muscle or hepatocyte, but both receptors have many properties in common (187). One of the recognizable differences between these two kinds of receptors is their binding characteristic and consequential biological response to some vasopressin analogs. Some pure, potent antagonists of vasopressin action on the pressor V, receptor, are not antagonists but weak agonists in stimulating ACTH release (185, 188-190). Binding studies indicated the presence of a vasopressin receptor (V_3) with a single site with high affinity $(K_d \approx 10^{-10} \text{ to } 10^{-9})$ and low capacity $(V_{max} = 100-300 \text{ fmol/mg})$ protein) (87, 191-193). Vasopressin enhances the breakdown of inositol phospholipids in primary cultures of pituitary cells (194) and has no effect on cAMP accumulation, so it appears to stimulate ACTH release via the cAMP-independent protein kinase-C system with mobilization of intracellular calcium and activation of protein kinase C (194-198). There is some evidence indicating that cGMP is involved in the vasopressin-induced ACTH secretion (199).

It has been speculated that oxytocin is a corticotrophin releasing factor, but the data supporting this is controversial. In the rat, oxytocin appears to be a weak vasopressin agonist and a low affinity ligand for pituitary vasopressin receptors (185, 200). However recently, a high affinity uterine type oxytocin receptor has been identified in rat pituitary (201),

but whether this high affinity receptor of oxytocin is expressed by corticotroph cells is questionable. In fact, it appears to be unlikely that this uterine type oxytocin receptor is responsible for the ACTH secretion but more plausibly, it may be responsible for PRL secretion (201-204)

Other factors such as catecholamines, angiotensin II, cholecytokinin (CCK-8), also do not act through adenylate cyclase dependent pathways but probably through phosphotidylinositol pathways like the vasopressin pathways (194-197).

As mentioned in the previous section, there are two subsets of CRF cells in the PVN of hypothalamus, vasopressin-deficient and vasopressin-containing cells and they are under different afferent control. We also already know that the amount of CRF to vasopressin and especially, the ratio of CRF and vasopressin in the ME will change from about 1:2 in normal rats to about 2:10 in the stressed or adrenalectomized animals. The question as to how these effect the secretion and synthesis of ACTH in the corticotrophs is not known.

The inter-relationships between the CRF stimulation and vasopressin stimulation appear to be complex. Priming (205, 206), potentiation (190, 206-212), and desensitization (206) have all been documented (for a review see 146), but some of the observations are controversial. The potentiating interaction has

Ĩ.

been repeatedly studied because of its obvious physiological significance. However the degree of potentiation claimed in individual reports differ greatly from no effect at all to several fold enhancement (206, 208, 210, 211). The mechanism(s) responsible for the potentiation is not fully established, although some investigators speculate that it might be in part related to the cytosolic calcium concentration (169), or in part related to the enhanced accumulation of cAMP caused by activation of adenylate cyclase and inhibition of phosphodiesterase (213).

The elegant detailed kinetic analysis of ACTH secretion in a microperfusion system by Watanabe and Orth (214) offer us some insight as to the mechanism of CRF and vasopressin interaction in a relatively short period time (ten min). The priming effect can only be observed when vasopressin was perifused within 30 sec after CRF was stopped (the time may be variable with doses of CRF). The priming effect of vasopressin on CRF reported previously (205, 206) might be due to contamination of vasopressin in the tissue when transferred to new incubation medium. The desensitization for vasopressin happened much faster than CRF but was only restricted to itself. Of interest is the ACTH releasing patterns upon stimulation by CRF (Fig. 1-2), or vasopressin (Fig. 1-3) alone, CRF plus vasopressin and CRF followed by vasopressin (Fig. 1-4). ACTH secretion was observed



Fig. 1-2. ACTH secretory responses to increasing concentrations of oCRF. Two identical chambers were each loaded with 6×10^6 cells and perfused with 10^{-11} - 10^{-7} M oCRF for 3-min periods are 50-min intervals. Each chamber was perfused twice with each of five different concentrations of oCRF in random order. Fivesecond (6µ1) effluent fractions were collected in tubes containing 494 µ1 RIA diluent. The concentrations of infused oCRF are indicated. The *box* indicates the period during which oCRF was infused into the chamber, beginning at time zero; each point represents the mean of four determinations; the brackets indicate the SEM (copied from reference 214, Fig. 6).



Fig. 1-3. ACTH secretory responses to increasing concentrations of AVP. Two identical chambers were each loaded with 6×10^6 cells and perfused with 10^{-11} - 10^{-7} M AVP for 3-min periods are 50-min intervals. Each chamber was perfused twice with each of five different concentrations of AVP in random order. Fivesecond (6µ1) effluent fractions were collected in tubes containing 494 µ1 RIA diluent. The concentrations of infused AVP are indicated. The *box* indicates the period during which AVP was infused into the chamber, beginning at time zero; each point represents the mean of four determinations; the brackets indicate the SEM (copied from reference 214 Fig. 7).

1



Fig. 1-4. Kinetics of the synergistic effect on ACTH secretion of oCRF and AVP. Two identical chambers were each loaded with 6x10⁶ cells and perfused for 3-min periods with 10⁻⁹ M oCRF and AVP simultaneously (A) and consecutively (B) at 50-min intervals in random order. Five-second $(6\mu l)$ effluent fractions were collected in tubes containing 494 μ l RIA diluent. o IR-ACTH; ▲ IR-oCRF; , IR-oCRF undetectable (< 2.5 pg/fraction or < 8.9 10-11 M). Each point represents the mean of four х determinations; the brackets indicate the SEM (copied from reference 214 Fig. 11).

within 5 sec of exposure to either secretagoques and reached a maximum within 20-40 sec. ACTH secretion remained constant for as long as CRF was perfused (3 min) and then fell gradually toward the basal level. In contrast to CRF stimulation, ACTH secretion fell progressively toward basal levels despite continued vasopressin perfusion (3 min). Simultaneous perfusion of CRF and vasopressin resulted in an CRF-like response of greater magnitude whereas sequential perfusion of CRF followed by vasopressin resulted in the usual plateau response to CRF followed by the initial spike response characteristic of very high concentrations of AVP alone and subsequent rapid decrease in secretion despite continued perfusion of vasopressin. Whether this kinetic behaviour in the rat will be the same in other species such as the ovine is unknown, even though fundamental difference in intracellular mechanisms is unlikely in these two species.

Most of the studies on the potentiation of CRF and vasopressin were carried out from a few seconds to minutes with a maximum of 3 to 4 hours. That is, these studies were concerned more with the ACTH release pattern than with ACTH synthesis. Recently Suda et al (215) reported that after 15 h coincubation of CRF with vasopressin and other protein kinase-C-related secretagogues neither had effect on the CRF-induced POMC mRNA synthesis nor has potentiation effects on the release

of ACTH. In all experiments, cAMP can mimic CRF action in all aspects.

According to these observations we can speculate as follows: the potentiating effects of vasopressin and other secretagogues on CRF induced ACTH release do not act primarily by increasing cytosolic cAMP levels since exogenous cAMP derivatives can only mimic CRF action and can not increase the response of interior pituitary cells to CRF stimulation. Furthermore if modification of adenylate cyclase and inhibition of phosphodiesterase (198) by vasopressin is mainly responsible for its potentiation, the priming effect by vasopressin should be able to be detected in Watanabe and Orth's system (214). However they only detected the priming effect of CRF to subsequent vasopressin perfusing but not the priming effect of vasopressin to CRF. Therefore the increases of cytosolic cAMP levels might be the consequence of vasopressin's potentiating effect but not the main causes of ite potentiation of ACTH secretion. A similar argument can be made against the cytosolic Ca²⁺ acting as the key factor in vasopressin potentiation (169).

The mechanism of vasopressin potentiating effect is more likely to be a change in the activity of the cell. Changing the activity of cells mainly has the following consequences; a decrease threshold of each corticotrope to CRF and acceleration of the exocytosis process of ACTH secretory granules but having

no effect on the biosynthesis of ACTH which is regulated by CRF through cAMP dependent processes. The biggest advantage of this hypothesis is that it can explain most of the experimental results. This hypothesis implies vasopressin is a pure dynamic secretagogue and CRF is a basic and permissive modulator of ACTH synthesis and release. The activity of a cell depends on many parameters such as the physiological condition of the animals used, the temperature and the method of handling. If the experimental protocols and animals in the individual studies are not exactly the same, a significant difference in the degree of potentiation by vasopressin will be expected. The first strong peak of response of corticotropes to vasopressin stimulation (Fig. 1-3) is caused by accelerating the process of exocytosis of ACTH secretory granules. When these readily releasable pools secretory granules have been exhausted, ACTH release of decreases very rapidly, but in the presence of CRF, the secretion of ACTH can continue for a much longer period of time. This was speculated to be the cause of the potentiating effect of CRF for vasopressin stimulation. Vasopressin decreases the threshold response of corticotropes to CRF, that is, it increases the recruitment of ACTH cells into the secretory pool resulting in enhanced cAMP formation and subsequent potentiated ACTH secretion. Since vasopressin is only а dynamic secretagoyue, it has no or little effect on ACTH synthesis,

therefore it has no detectable potentiating effect during the longer incubation times.

CRF has been shown to have a direct stimulatory effects on POMC mRNA accumulation in both AtT20 cells (216, 180) and on anterior and intermediate lobe pituitary cells in dispersed primary cell culture (217, 218). Furthermore, CRF was shown to elevate the level of the POMC primary transcript (hnRNA) in AtT20 cells. Using *in situ* hybridization histochemistry techniques, Fremeau *et al* (219) demonstrated that changes in levels of primary transcript occur before changes in cyto plasmic mRNA using an IVS-A probe in the postadrenalectomy period. They also suggested that these increases in the tissue as a whole may be due to increases both in the POMC gene transcription rate per cell and in increases in the detectable number of cells transcribing the POMC gene.

ACTH and a variety of biologically active, important neuromodulators and endocrine peptides are derived from the same precursor namely POMC. The POMC molecule is post-translationally processed to different biologically active peptides in corticotroph cells and in melanotroph cells of the intermediate lobe, with ACTH B-lipotropin, and B-endorphin being the major end products in the corticotroph cells and α MSH, corticotrophinlike intermediate lobe peptide, and acetyl-B-endorphin in the melanotroph (220). The POMC gene is also expressed in a variety

of tissues in the mammal, including the hypothalamus, amygdala, cerebral cortex, midbrain, cerebellum, of the brain (221), adrenal medulla (221, 222), spleen macrophages (223), ovary and testes (224-226). Genomic DNA fragments containing POMC encoding sequences have been isolated and sequenced from human (227), rat (228, 229), cow (230), and mouse (231, 232). Despite the complexity of POMC gene products and their regulation, only one functional gene has been identified per haploid genome. The mouse contains a non-expressed pseudogene, possibly a product of a reverse transcription event such as transposition (231, 232).

Although it has been proven that the hypothalamus is the major site for negative feedback action of glucocorticoids in vivo, there is substantial evidence, specially in vitro, suggesting that glucocorticoids also act at the pituitary level. The precise role of glucocorticoids in modulation POMC derived peptide release processes and POMC gene expression in the corticotroph is not understood. This is in spite of the known genomic actions of glucocorticoids through transcriptional activation in some other systems which has been extensively described (233). There is a latency of 2 hr (168) to 4 hr (234) for glucocorticoids to elicit their inhibitory effect on POMC mRNA levels. Glucocorticoid inhibition of stimulated POMC-peptide release in anterior pituitary cultures was shown to be

biphasic; acute effects on stimulated secretion and biosynthesis and the chronic inhibitory effects of longer term treatment. This biphasic inhibition may be mediated by different mechanisms (235). The rapid inhibition (10-20 min) (236) by glucocorticoids of CRF-stimulated secretion is not dependent on new protein synthesis but requires significantly higher concentrations of glucocorticoids. In the late phase inhibition of CRF-stimulated release there is a dependency on new protein synthesis (235). Corticosterone inhibition of 8-bromo-cAMP-stimulated, PMAstimulated, and dioctanoyl glycerol-stimulated release showed the same biphasic pattern (235). However glucocorticoids (dexamethasone <9 hr) were unable to prevent secretion stimulated by the calcium ionophore A23187 but they can block secretion of ACTH stimulation in response to isoproterenol or forskolin in AtT20 cells. Interestingly, dexamethasone was unable to completely abolish ACTH release induced by the combined action epinephrine of and CRF (237). Thus, glucocorticoids have effects at some as yet undefined steps in the pathway controlling hormone release.

The secretion and synthesis of ACTH in the pituitary may also be under the control of the immune system. The regulation of ACTH synthesis and secretion by the immune system will be discussed in a separate section.

1.5. The Adrenal Glands

The adrenal gland is composed of steroidogenic (cortex) as well as chromaffin tissue (medulla). The chromaffin tissue is derived from the neural crest, while the steroidogenic tissue arises from the coelomic mesoderm in the genital ridge of the embryo. It is generally believed that in most mammals mineralocorticoids are produced in the zona glomerulosa, glucocorticoids are produced in the zona fasciculata and reticularis, and androgens in the zona reticularis (238).

ACTH acts mainly on the cells of the zona fasciculata and reticularis to stimulate glucocorticoid biosynthesis. ACTH also has some stimulatory effects especially *in vitro* on the mineralocorticoid synthesis by the cells of the zona glomerulosa, but the mineralocorticoid production is primarily regulated by renin-angiotensin system.

The structural requirement of ACTH and the ACTH receptor(s) and the interaction of ACTH with its receptor on the adrenocortical cells, is still the subject of much controversy. A detailed discussion of the possible mode of interaction of ACTH with its receptor will be presented in the discussion of this thesis. Briefly, ACTH interacts with specific ACTH receptor(s) resulting in formation of an active hormone receptor complex. The active hormone receptor complex activates adenylate

cyclase through an G_s protein, leading to the generation of intracellular cAMP, which mediates the increase in steroidogenesis. The regulation of steroidogenesis by ACTH is through its regulation of a number of enzymes and cofactors in the steroidogenesic pathway. All steroids are generated from a common precursor which is cholesterol. The current principal pathways of adrenal steroid hormone synthesis are showm in the following fig:

Cholesterol



Steroidogenic tissues synthesize cholesterol de novo from

acetate (239) but human steroidogenic cells derive most of their cholesterol from plasma low density lipoproteins (LDL) (240), whereas rat steroidogenic tissues receiving most cholesterol from high density lipoproteins (HDL) (241, 242). The 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMGCoA) reductase, the ratelimiting enzyme in cholesterol synthesis in man will be suppressed by adequate concentrations of LDL (243), and activated by tropic hormones (244). LDL and HDL cholesterol are taken up by adrenal cortex cells through quite different mechanisms, LDL by receptor-mediated endocytosis (240) whereas HDL does not involve internalization of the intact lipoprotein particle (246, 247). The LDL receptor has been cloned and well characterized (248).

There are two enzymes, namely, cholesterol esterase (cholesterol ester hydrolase) and cholesterol ester synthetase which control the storage of cholesterol. ACTH (249-251) stimulates the esterase and inhibits the synthetase. Cholesterol mobilized by cholesterol ester hydrolase from cytoplasmic lipid droplets may be transported into mitochondria by a sterol carrier protein-2 (SCP-2) (252-254). The flux of cholesterol across the mitochondrial membranes to the cholesterol side-chain cleavage enzyme is controlled by an unknown mechanism, but two of its elements have been defined. One element speeds the association of cholesterol with the mitochondrial cytochrome P-

450_{scc} substrate binding site (255). It can be rapidly blocked by inhibitors of protein synthesis (256-260) and by some amino acid analogs (261). Thus it is apparent that synthesis of a regulatory protein is necessary to initialize and maintain steroid production. There are several candidates proposed for this labile regulatory protein (262-269), and all of them have a short half-life and appear to be very sensitive to cycloheximide.

The first step in the biosynthetic pathway of steroidogenesis involves cleavage of the terminal six carbons of the side chain of cholesterol, resulting in the formation of pregnenolone. The conversion of cholesterol to pregnenolone is a hormonally regulated rate-limiting step, consisting of three distinct chemical reactions, 20α -hydroxylation. 22 hydroxylation, and scission of the cholesterol side chain at the bond between carbon atoms 20 and 22 to yield pregnenolone and isocaproic acid. Not long ago, these reactions were believed to be catalyzed by separate enzymes, while protein purification studies and in vitro reconstitution of enzymatic activity showed that a single protein, termed P450_{sec} was responsible for all the steps between cholesterol and pregnenolone (271, 272, 335-338) on a single active site with an unusually low V_{max} (≈ 1 mol cholesterol/mol enzyme sec) (339). This P450 was found bound to the inner mitochondrial membrane as a multimer of 16 subunits

ŗ

with mass over 850,000 dalton (271, 272). Molecular biological studies of $P450_{scc}$ (273-275) supported the notion of a single $P450_{scc}$. The full length human adrenal and testis $P450_{scc}$ cDNA has been cloned and sequenced (276); it also have been cloned for bovine (273, 275) for rat (245); the gene for human P450_{scc} (277) has also been cloned and much of it has been sequenced (278).

The reactions of the cholesterol side chain cleavage require three molecules of molecular oxygen (one for each reaction) and three molecules of NADPH of reducing equivalents. Electrons from NADPH are transported to P450_{scc} by the common mitochondrial P450s' electron transport proteins (279-282), namely, adrenodoxin reductase (ferredoxin oxidoreductase), a flavoprotein and adrenodoxin (ferredoxin), an iron/sulfur protein. P450_{scc} functions as the terminal oxidase in this mitochondrial electron transport system.

Bovine adrenodoxin has been sequenced (283). It contains 114 amino acids, including 4 cysteine residues which appear to coordinate 2 iron atoms through linkage with 2 additional noncysteine sulphur atoms. Adrenodoxin is a mitochondrial matrix protein (284-287) which forms a 1:1 complex with adrenodoxin reductase, then dissociates, then subsequently reforms an analogous 1:1 complex with P450_{scc} or other P450s such as P450_{c11} (288, 289), thus adrenodoxin serves as a diffusible electron

shuttle. Adrenodoxin reductase is a membrane-bound mitochondrial flavoprotein that receives electrons from NADPH. Bovine (281, 290-292), human (293) and chicken (294) adrenodoxin reductase have been cloned. The pregnenolone derived from cholesterol leaves the mitochondrion and travels to the endoplasmic reticulum, probably via passive diffusion, undergoing one of two conversions, namely, 17*a*-hydroxylation to 17-hydroxypregnenolone 3B-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenation and isomerization of the or double bond (from the B ring to the A ring) to progesterone. The reactions of the conversion to progesterone from pregnenolone are relatively poorly underscood. The full length cDNA structure and its deduced amino acid sequence of human 3B-hydroxy-5-ene steroid dehydrogenase has recently been reported (295). The availability of the cDNA will lead a detailed investigation of this enzyme. (296, 297).

In man, cows, sheep, and pigs, progesterone may undergo one of two reactions 17α -hydroxylation and 21-hydroxylation; in rats, and mice only 21-hydroxylation occurs. Both pregnenolone and progesterone 17α -hydroxylations are catalyzed by the same enzyme, $P450_{c17}$, producing 17α -hydroxypregnenolone and 17α hydroxyprogesterone respectively. The products of this reaction may then undergo scission of the C-17,20 carbon bond to yield dehydro-epiandrosterone (DHEA) and androstenedione, which are catalyzed by C-17, 20 lyase. Reconstitution of enzymatic

activity in vitro with purified P450, (298, 299) and cells transfected with a vector expressing bovine P450_{c17} cDNA (300, 301) demonstrated that both 17α -hydroxylase and 17,20-lyase activities reside in a single protein, P450_{c17}. The question is how these two activities can be separated since the adrenals of prepubertal children synthesize substantial cortisol but virtually no sex steroids, (only 17α -hydroxylase activity no 17,20 lyase activity) (302, 303) and patients have been described lacking of 17,20-lyase activity but retaining normal 17α-hydroxylase activity (304, 305). The detail mechanism of the control of these two enzymatic activities is not clear, but we do know several factors which are involved in this control mechanism. These are the preference for P450_{c17} for a 5-ene-20-bond scission, in addition substrate for 17, 17α hydroxylation occurs more readily than the 17, 20-lyase reaction, and the ratio of P450 reductase to P450,17, and P450 reductase to P450_{c17}. The ratio of P450 reductase to P450_{c17} might be the most important factor.

The P450_{c17} cDNA has been purified and sequenced entirely for human (306, 307), bovine (300), rat (308), and chicken (309). The authentic human gene for $P450_{c17}$ has also been cloned and sequenced (310) and located to chromosome 10, as a single gene (310).

 $P450_{c17}$ and other P450s in the endoplasmic reticulum, such as $P450_{c21}$, receive electrons from a flavoprotein, P450 reductase distinct from the adrenodoxin reductase in mitochondria, without participation of iron/sulfur protein (311-313). P450 reductase accepts two electrons from NADPH, and transfers them to P450 one at a time (314). Cytochrome b₅ may provide the second electron to the P450 (315). Increasing the ratio of P450 reductase or cytochrome b₅ to P450_{c17} in vitro increases the ratio of 17,20lyase activity to 17α -hydroxylase activity (316, 317).

17α-hydroxypregnenolone can also be converted to 17αhydroxyprogesterone before the scission of the C17,20-carbon bond by the same enzymes which catalyze the conversion of pregnenolone to progesterone. The 21 carbon of progesterone and 17α-hydroxyprogesterone will be hydroxylated, yielding 11deoxycorticosterone and 11-deoxycortisol. 21-hydroxylation is mediated by P450_{c21} which was the first P450 enzyme to be described in the steroidogenic pathway (318). P450_{c21} is found in smooth endoplasmic reticulum using the same P450 reductase as that used by P450_{c17}. P450_{c21} cDNAs (319-320) and genes (321, 322) were cloned and characterized.

The 11-deoxycorticosterone and 11-deoxycortisol leave the endoplasmic reticulum and enter the mitochondria for the final step in glucocorticoid or mineralocorticoid production, which is catalyzed by the second mitochondrial form of cytochrome P-

Ł

450 (11B-hydroxylase cytochrome P450, or P450_{c11}). This single P450 has 11B-hydroxylase, 18-hydroxylase, and 18-oxidase (aldehyde synthetase) activities. This was suggested by both immunochemical studies (323) and reconstitution of purified P450_{c11} in vitre (324, 325) and confirmed by very convincing experiments (326) using purified enzyme from mitochondria from bovine adrenal zona glomerulosa and from zona fasciculata. The P450_{c11} from both zones was indistinguishable enzymologically, immunologically, by amino acid composition and by N-terminal amino acid sequence. Like P450_{scc}, P450_{c11} exists as a large multimer in vivo (327, 328) and uses adrenodoxin and adrenodoxin reductase to receive electrons from NADPH (329-331). Full length cDNA for bovine P450_{c11} (332, 333, 348) and a fragment cDNA encoding the carboxyl-terminal 293 amino acids of human P450_{c11} (333) were cloned and sequenced.

The enzymes of the steroidogenic pathway are regulated by ACTH. The half-life of RNA for $P450_{c11}$, $P450_{c21}$, and adrenodoxin seem to be unaffected by ACTH treatment in primary bovine adrenocortical cells (334). However, the half-life for $P450_{scc}$ RNA was increased 5-fold by ACTH treatment. ACTH treatment induces increased rates of synthesis of $P450_{scc}$ (340), $P450_{c11}$ (341), $P450_{c2}$, (342), $P450_{c17}$ (343), and adrenodoxin (345); and leads to the accumulation of mRNA specific for $P450_{scc}$ (349), and

adrenodoxin (290, 282). Nuclear run-on experiments have demonstrated that within 8 hours after initiation of ACTH treatment, transcription rate of RNA encoding of $P450_{scc}$, $P450_{c11}$, $P450_{c17}$ P450_{c21} and adrenodoxin increased (349). All these ACTH effects can be mimiced by treatment with cAMP (350).

ACTH and cAMP can also stimulate the accumulation of IGF-II mRNA (351). There is a hypothesis that ACTH stimulates adrenal growth via stimulation of IGF-II, based on the following facts: the time course and dose-response curves for the accumulation of IGF-II mRNA and P450_{scc} mRNA rose in parallel; exogenously added steroid lormones did not affect IGF-II mRNA (351) and exogenously added IGF-I or IGF-II did not affect P450_{c17} and P450_{c21} mRNAs in the response to ACTH but significantly reduced the ACTH-stimulated accumulation of IGF-II mRNA in the same cells (282). Further studies are needed before reaching a final conclusion.

1.6. Regulation of the Immune System and the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal axis.

1.6.1. The Regulation of the Immune System by Glucocorticoids

The final products of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, the glucocorticoids will be released into the blood circulation a few minutes after the activation of the axis by

stressors. Glucocorticoids act on virtually every cell type in the body to cause alterations in differentiated function (for a review see ref. 7). The exact mechanisms of the action of glucocorticoid in each cell type is still the subject of investigation. From the forgoing, we already knew that glucocorticoids exert very profound effects on the regulation of ACTH secretion. The effects of glucocorticoids depend not only on their concentrations but also on their time domains after onset, and each cell type more likely has its own time response curve to glucocorticoid stimulation. In this way glucocorticoids segregate bioactivities of each cell type in different functional states assisting the central neuronal system to maintain the body's normal daily activities. This kind of neuronal and endocrine control becomes particularly crucial when the body is under a life threat. Under conditions of stress and in the absence of glucocorticoids there is vascular collapse which leads usually to death (352-356). The importance of glucocorticoids for survival was first noticed by Addison and later emphasized by numerous medical doctors and investigators (for reviews see 357-360).

In the body there is another critically important system for coping with certain kinds of threats and challenges namely the immune system. The immune system functions to combat microbial invasion, to provide resistance against the

development and spread of cancer, and to eliminate denatured substances from the body, that is, to distinguish self from notself as formulated by Burnet (361). Since most immune reactions may be duplicated in vitro in the absence of influences emanating from other organ systems (362), the immune system is still believed to be relatively autonomous. The immune system bears a striking resemblance to both the nervous and endocrine systems. Like the nervous system, the immune system has the capability of detecting and reacting to environmental changes and of keeping the experience in its memory for later use. The molecular basis of memory is still unknown in both systems, however a cellular basis for immune memory has been suggested for both B-cells (363-365) and T-cells (for a review see 366). Moreover the immune system not only like the nervous system penetrates most of the tissues of the body and interacts by direct cell encounters, but also like the endocrine system it uses soluble hormone-like molecules (cytokines) to regulate its cell maturation, differentiation and the cellular response triggered by antigen-cellular interactions. During the last twenty years, a large number of cytokines has been discovered advent of recombinant AIID and characterized. With the technology, many of the cytokine genes have been isolated and studied to a great extent (for a review see 367). It is now clear that most of the cytokines have multiple biological

activities on different target cells, and some cytokines have antagonistic biological effects. Many cytokines are produced by cell types including monocyte/macrophage, variety of а endothelial cells, fibroblasts, stromal cells, and lymphocytes. The biosynthesis of a cytokine is influenced by other cytokines, forming the so called cytokine network (368). The biological interleukin-1 effects of cytokines such as (IL-1)and interleukin-6 (IL-6) are not restricted to the immune system but in fact the effects of IL-1 are manifest in nearly every tissue and organ (369). One thing should be emphasized, the immune system unlike any other system can destroy live cells or organs and improper regulation of the system will contribute to pathological processes and even death of the host.

The interaction of the endocrine system and the immune system (although the immune system is now sometimes considered as a large endocrine system) has been taken seriously only in very recent years, despite the early discovery of the antiinflammatory effects of glucocorticoids made in the 1940s (370, 371) which has led to wide clinical use of glucocorticoids (372, 373). The importance of normal adrenal function to the immune reaction was also noticed in clinical practice. In patients with Cushing's disease, infectious illness was a major cause of death (374), however hyposecretion of glucocorticoid would also increase susceptibility to infection (375). The anti-
inflammatory effects of glucocorticoids had been excluded from physiological consideration until the 1970s when Besedovsky et al. deliberately investigated the interaction between immune system and neuroendocrine system (367). They found that injection of antigens into rats or mice led to a 2- to 5-fold increase in blood corticosterone levels after about 6 days when the antigenic response also reached a peak (69, 376). Later they suggested that the increase of corticosterone levels in blood could be responsible for the antigenic competition (377) based on the fact that the antigenic competition could be abolished by adrenalectomy. These authors also demonstrated that there were changes in electrical activity of neurons in the ventromedial part of the rat hypothalamus after antigenic stimulation (378) suggesting that the communication takes place at the hypothalamic level or above. They speculated that the physiological function of the delayed rise in glucocorticoid levels during the primary immune response may be acting to preserve the antigenic specificity of the response by preventing lymphocytes with little affinity for the antigen from proliferating in an unrestricted way that could lead to autoimmunity.

The molecular basis for the bidirectional communication between the immune and endocrine system was not understood at that time. It has now been shown that some cytokines from the

immune system are capable of mediating the control of certain neuroendocrine functions and their syntheses are under the regulation of the HPA axis but mainly by glucocorticoids.

In the cytokine network, the polypeptide IL-1 plays а central role in stimulating the immune and inflammatory responses (379, 380). IL-1 which also has been know as the endogenous pyrogen, the leukocytic endogenous mediator, the lymphocyte activating factor, the mononuclear cell factor, catabolin, the osteoclast activating factor, and hemopoietin-1, is a polypeptide that is produced following infection, injury, or antigenic challenge. IL-1 activates lymphocytes (381) and plays an important role in the initiation of the immune response. Although the antigenically challenged macrophage is a primary source of IL-1, epidermal, epithelial, lymphoid, and vascular tissues synthesize IL-1 (382). IL-1 stimulates the production of IL-2, a T-cell-derived cytokine (lymphokine) that stimulates the proliferation of T-cells (383, 384) and also stimulates the production of the interferons, IL-3 and other bone marrow colony stimulating factors and IL-6 (B-cellstimulating factor-2) (385). IL-1 stimulates its own production (386). However, because IL-1 lacks a signal peptide, a considerable amount of the IL-1 that is synthesized may remain associated with the cell (387), particularly as part of the plasma membrane (388). Moreover, membrane-associated IL-1 is

biologically active, especially in its ability to participate in lymphocyte activation and mesenchymal tissue remodelling (382). There are two gene products coding for IL-1; IL-1 α and IL-1 β (389). The spectrum of biologic activities of IL-1 are induced by both forms. and receptors for IL-1 recognize both forms (390, 391).

IL-1 is a highly inflammatory molecule and stimulates the production of arachidonic acid metabolites and also can modulate some of the biological processes such as tumor cell destruction, hematopoiesis, pyrogenesis, neutrophil activation, coagulation and bone and cartilage resorption (392, 386). IL-1 also acts synergistically with other cytokines, particularly tumor necrosis factor. IL-1 is one of the major cytokines regulating the acute phase response (393). The multitude of biologic responses to IL-1 is an example of the rapid adaptive changes that take place to increase the host's defensive mechanisms. However, IL-1-induced changes take place at a considerable cost to the host, and when the production and activity of IL-1 persist and escapes regulation, IL-1 itself contributes to pathologic processes and perhaps the death of the host (382). It is consistent with the biology of IL-1 to consider that the molecule is of vital importance to the host as long as its production and activity are appropriately modulated. To date, only corticosteroids block IL-1 transcription and reduce its

production (394). It is important to note that IL-1 is capable of down regulating its own receptor (282).

That glucocorticoids reduced the amount of IL-1 activity secreted from activated mouse macrophages was first reported by Snyder and Unanue (395). Physiological concentrations of dexamethasone inhibit IL-1 production by a 2-3 fold inhibition at the mRNA level (394). This is due, in part, to a reduction in the number of IL-1 synthesizing cells, which in turn is probably is due to regulation of transcription, since the induction of IL-1 by lipopolysaccaride (LPS) is mediated at this level (396). Glucocorticoid also selectively decreases the stability of interleukin-1ß mRNA (397).

The other multiple biologically active cytokine was IL-6 which also is known as hepatocyte stimulating factor (HSF), 26kDa-protein, interferon-B, (IFN-B,), hybridoma/plasmacytoma growth factor (HGF or HPGF), or B-cell stimulatory factor-2 (BSF-2) (398, 399). IL-6 is produced by many different cell types including normal fibroblasts, endothelial cells and monocytes, as well as cell lines of T, B, sarcomatous or carcinomatous origin (400). The IL-6 gene can be transcribed in "ordinary" fibroblasts after stimulation with the double stranded poly-rI.rC RNA, (401, 402), bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (403), IL-1 (404), or TNF (405). These observations suggest that IL-6 may appear at any time or any

place in any tissue. Thus, the induction of the factor seems to be less specific than that of IL-1.

The most important biological function for IL-6 appears to be its hepatocyte stimulating factor activity. IL-6 is the major regulator of acute-phase protein synthesis (406) in the acute phase response. The acute phase response is one of the oldest and most preserved of the homeostatic responses of the body to injury and infection. This includes leukocytosis, fever, and a characteristic increase in a group of liver-derived plasma proteins called acute phase protein (AP) or reactants (407). The true physiological role of many of the acute phase proteins remain unclear, in general they act as antiproteinases, opsonins, or blood-clotting and wound healing factors, and they likely inhibit the generalized tissue destruction that is associated with the local inhibition of inflammation. More recently, evidence has been provided which suggests that some antiproteinases such as α 2 macroglobulin may act as a carrier for some cytokines, such as IL-1, TGFB, platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), and IL-6 (408). IL-1, TNFa, IL-6 are the three cytokines which are responsible for the regulation of acute phase protein synthesis in the liver. They are synergistic, additive or negative to each other dependent on individual protein induction. Among these three mediators, only IL-6 is able to induce the full spectrum of acute-phase proteins (406).

Į

Although glucocorticoids also directly regulate acute-phase protein gene expression and are required for synergistic and additive effects of IL-1 and IL-6, the production of IL-6 and TNF α are under negative control by glucocorticoids (409) as well as IL-1. Dexamethasone was found to inhibit the enhancement of IL-6 (IFN- β_2) mRNA levels in fibroblasts induced with IL-1, TNF or LPS (410, 403).

The production of a number of important T cell derived lymphokines including IL-2, IL-3, GM-CSF and IFN- τ , are also suppressed by the synthetic glucocorticoid analogue such as dexamethasone (411, 412). In common with many other glucocorticoid effects, this inhibition is manifest at the mRNA level (412).

The suppression of immune defence system by glucocorticoids has also been proposed as being associated in part with their suppressive effects on formation of leukotrienes and prostaglandins. These substances and other metabolites of arachidonic acid are potent mediators of the inflammatory response (413). Published data suggests that glucocorticoids act at the step of phospholipases, enzymes that cleave phospholipids to release arachidonic acid (414). The following mechanism of glucocorticoid action has been speculated on. Glucocorticoids first bind to receptors in the cytosol. The glucocorticoidreceptor complexes are then transferred into the nucleus where

they regulate the expression of genes and therefore the synthesis of phospholipase inhibitory proteins, lipocortins, also called lipomodulins (415, 416). Highly purified lipocortins can mimic some of glucocorticoid actions such as inhibiting chemotaxis of neutrophils, blocking desensitization of betaadrenergic receptors, increasing the affinity of beta-adrenergic receptors for agonist ligands, blocking the activation of phospholipase A, in neutrophil plasma membranes by fMetLeuPhe. Lipocortins, like glucocorticoids, can inhibit proliferative responses of T cells in response to mitogens such as phytohemaglutinin (PHA) and concanavalin A (Con A). This might contribute to the reduction in interleukin 1 production and release (417).

In summary, the inhibition of IL-1, along with the inhibition of other cytokines, and the suppression of the formation of leukotrienes and prostaglandins helps us to understand the antiinflammatory action of glucocorticoids.

Recently, the HPA axis derived substances other than glucocorticoids especially opioid peptides have been speculated to act as mediators of the immune system (for reviews see 418, 419). This is based on the existence of opioid receptors in the cells of immune system which exert a variety of direct opioid effects (418). However, levels of active circulating opioid peptides are difficult to measure (420-423) and do not alone

constitute strong evidence for humorally mediated opioid regulation of the immune system. Although the production of the opioid peptide B-endorphin and ACTH is not restricted to cells of the central nervous system, the presence of these POMC derived peptides has also been detected in the placenta (424), gonads (425, 426), pancreas, gut (427) and the immune system (428, 429). Results of a number of studies suggest that cells of the immune system can synthesize (430-432) and secrete (433, 434) POMC-derived peptides. Therefore circulating concentrations need reflect opioid levels not in the architecturally specialized areas where lymphocyte maturation takes place in thymus, lymph nodes, and spleen. Preferential synthesis, uptake, metabolism, and release of opioid peptide could affect local concentration but under normal circumstances the rate of synthesis and secretion of POMC derived peptides in extrapituitary sites is extremely low. Their physiological significance is still questionable.

1.6.2. Immunoregulatory Feedback of the HPA Axis.

1.6.2.1. The positive control of the HPA axis

As mentioned in the previous sections Besedovsky *et al.* demonstrated that the existence of bidirectional communication between the immune and endocrine systems in the 1970s'. In the 1980s, Besedovsky, *et al.* reported a series of studies demonstrating that IL-1 is the most important cytokine

responsible for the mediation of HPA axis. One of the first important observation they made was that Newcastle disease virus-activated human peripheral blood leukocytes in vitro produced a ACTH-like substance(s) which was not ACTH but which was able to increase glucocorticoid blood levels (435). They later reveal that the human leukocyte-derived substance was 1L-1 by using a human IL-1 antibody to neutralize its capacity of increasing corticosterone and ACTH blood levels in rats (394). Injection of purified human IL-1 or recombinant human IL-1 to rats can mimic the action of human leukocyte-derived substance (394). The IL-1-stimulated ACTH and glucocorticoid increase was not the secondary action resulting from its pyrogenic effect, as at the doses used (0.25 μ g/rat to 1 μ g/rat), the body temperature of rats was normal in all instances (394). The possibility that the stimulatory effect of IL-1 was a consequences of lymphokine cascade was excluded by repeating the experiments in the athymic nude mice which lack functional T cells. In this experiment, IL-1 was still able to stimulate ACTH and corticosterone secretion (394). Injection of mice with IL-2, IFN τ , or TNF (tumor necrosis factor) did not induce an ACTH or glucocorticoid response (394).

An independent study conducted by Woloski (436) show that IL-1 and IL-6 had corticotropin-releasing activity on the AtT-20 cell line and the potency of IL-1's corticotropin-releasing

activity was in the same order of CRF and 3 times more potent then AVP. These results suggest that IL-1 acts at the pituitary level to stimulate ACTH secretion. However there is considerable evidence suggesting that IL-1 acts on CRF-secreting neurons. First, rats treated with anti-CRF antiserum prior to IL-1 injection did not show the expected increase in ACTH (437-439) and intracerebroventricular injection of recombinant human IL-1 can elicit a rapid increase in circulating ACTH at a much lower dose (30 ng) than the dosage required for intraperitoneal injection (1 μ g) (440). Moreover, blood samples taken from the hypothalamic-hypophyseal portal system showed increased CRF levels after IL-1 injection (439). Studies in vitro support this point of view showing that IL-1 acutely and directly stimulates the release of CRF-41 from rat hypothalamus at doses which are unable to modify the direct pituitary release of ACTH. Direct pituitary actions of IL-1 have been observed, but all have involved prolonged incubation for several hours with cultured cells, which are unlikely to relate to the rapid pituitaryadrenal response seen in vivo. The potency of IL-1 α and IL-1 β is of the same order. The maximum stimulation of the CRF production in the hypothalamic incubation by IL-1 α and IL-1 β were 20 picomoles and 2.4 picomoles respectively (441).

Very recently Berkenbosch (442) demonstrated that *in vivo* IL-1 stimulated corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) turnover

at an approximate rate of 15%/h, but did not cause a concomitant change in AVP turnover as can be observed after insulin-induced hypoglycemia. These results suggest that IL-1ß selectively stimulates the subtype of vasopressin deficient CRF neurons. As mentioned early, the vasopressin deficient CRF neurons can produce vasopressin after depleting endogenous glucocorticoids such as occurs following adrenalectomy. Of interest is that IL-1 failed to activate ACTH secretion in the adrenalectomized rat (443). These results suggest that the vasopressin deficient CRF neuron undergoes some possible reversible cell differentiation when vasopressin gene is being activated. So far the mechanism of this phenomenon has not been clarified.

Although a large body of evidence suggests that IL-1 acts at CNS levels especially at the level of the hypothalamus, the basic question as to how IL-1 crosses the blood -brain barrier (BBB) still remains to be answered. Very recently Banks *ct al.* (444) presented some direct evidence showing that IL-1(α) can bidirectionally cross the BBB possibly via a saturable component and that the hypothalamus had the highest entry rate on a weight basis accounted for 2% of total entry.

IL-6 has also been shown to act as corticotropin-releasing factor (445, 446). Like IL-1, IL-6 acts at the hypothalamic CRFcontaining neuron. The following factors from the immune system have also been reported to activate the HPA axis. Mitogen

stimulation of rat spleen cells produces a corticosteronereleasing activity that can act directly on the adrenal gland (447). Other factor such as thymosin fraction 5 (TF5), a complex mixture of thymic peptides, causes increased corticosterone secretion in rodents *in vivo* (448-451). TF5 has also been found to inhibit the binding of dexamethasone to thymocytes (452). Thymosins reportedly can potentiate recovery from the hydrocortisone-induced decrease in responsiveness of mouse splenic lymphocytes to the mitogen concanavalin A (Con A) (453). These results are very difficult to interpret.

1.6.2.2. The negative control of the HPA axis

A functional immune system is necessary for the elimination of microbial invaders and neoplastic cells. As mentioned in the previous sections, the HPA axis can be activated by many stressful stimuli other than IL-1 and other cytokines such as hemorrhage, trauma, emotional stress, or combinations of these. However, the HPA axis final products, the glucocorticoids are potent suppressors of the immune system. Since the activation of HPA axis is much faster than the immune response, there is a period of time when HPA axis has been activated before normal immune defence reaction takes place. However, during the process an active immune system is still required for the host to survive. Therefore a negative regulation mechanism on HPA axis by the immune system appears to be not only necessary but also

important (see chapter V for further discussion).

The negative control of the HPA axis by the immune system has not been investigated as much as its positive control. However, evidence has now accumulated to suggest that some factors of the immune system can inhibit the HPA axis the level of adrenal.

Mathison et. al. (454, 455) reported that murine macrophages produce a factor that *in vitro* inhibits the action of ACTH on the adrenal cortex. The inhibitory factor has an apparent molecular weight greater than 10,000, and is relatively stable to heat and pH. Secretion of this factor is stimulated by bacterial lypopolysaccharide and enhanced by a lymphokine derived from the supernatant of a murine T-cell hybridoma. This factor also inhibits cholera toxin-induced steroidogenesis, suggesting the site of its action is somewhere after G stimulatory protein.

Transforming growth factor β , TGF- β secreted from macrophages and other types of tissues (456, 457) in vitro suppresses glucocorticoid production by adrenal glands after prolonged exposure (12-18 hours). The inhibitory effect of TGF- β is manifest at very low concentration being detectable at 10 ¹³M (458, 459), and it inhibits both basal and ACTH-induced glucocorticoid production. The detail mechanism of its action is unknown. TGF- β may control the converting step of cholesterol

from lipoprotein (459) or inhibit the steroid $17-\alpha$ -hydroxylase activity (458, 460). TGF-B also inhibits AII-stimulated aldosterone production (460).

In this thesis, the purification, characterization, biological functions and mechanism of action of a family of arginine-rich and cysteine-rich peptides derived from neutrophil and possibly other types of cells and which has anti-ACTH activity (461-462) will be presented.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Materials

2.1.1. Source of Peptides

Synthetic hACTH₁₋₃₉, hACTH₁₋₂₄, hACTH₆₋₂₄, hACTH₇₋₃₈ aMSH were purchased from Peninsula Laboratories, Inc., Belmont, California, USA. Synthetic CSI was obtained from American Peptide Company, Inc (Santa Clara, CA. USA.)

[Phe², Nle⁴]-ACTH₁₋₃₈ was obtained from Dr. J. Ramachandran, Neurex Corporation, Menlo Park, CA, USA.

hACTH₁₋₁₈ amide was obtained from Dr. K. Inouye of Shionogi Co., Osaka, Japan.

The amino acid compositions of peptides were checked by amino acid analysis prior to use.

2.1.2. Source of Tissues

Fetal human lung tissues were obtained from human fetuses of 12-18 weeks of gestation. These fetuses were obtained at the time of therapeutic abortion at the Royal Victoria Hospital in Montreal, Quebec, Canada. Fetuses were obtained from the pathologist and permission to use human fetal tissues was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, and the McGill Institutional Review Board. Fetal age was estimated by measurement of crown-rump and foot length (463).

Frozen fetal rabbit lungs and adult rabbit lungs were obtained from Pel-Freez Biologicals, Rogers, Ark USA.

Rabbit peritoneal neutrophils were obtained from peritoneal exudate which was generated as previously described (464). Exudates were collected 16 h after intraperitoneal instillation of a total of 750 ml of saline solution containing 0.1% glycogen and 5 μ g of Escherichia coli lipopolysaccharide.

2.1.3. Source of Reagents and Instruments

Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA, fraction V), Charcoal, Cholera Toxin, Corticosterone, db-cAMP, DNase (deoxyribonuclease I), Escherichia Coli Lipopolysaccharide, Forskolin, Glutaraldehyde (Grade 1, 25% aqueous solution), Glycoger, Guanidine, Keyhole Limpet Haemocyanin, Lysine (free base crystalline) and Trypsin Inhibitor were purchased from Sigma, St. Louis, MO, UAS.

 ^{125}I (100 $\mu\rm{Ci/ml}$ in NaOH pH 7-10) and Cyclic AMP Assay Kits were obtained from Amersham, Oakville, Ontario.

Aldosterone radioimmunoassay kits were obtained from Bio-Mega Diagnostic Inc., Montreal.

Corticosterone antiserum B3-163 was obtained form Endocrine Sciences Tarzana, CA, USA.

 $[1, 2-{}^{3}H (N)]$ -Corticosterone 58.0 Ci/mmol in ethanol solution was purchased from New England Nuclear, Boston Mass. USA.

Borosiicate glass disposable culture tubes 12 x 75 mm and 16 x 100 mm were purchased from Fisher Scientific Co. Limited, Pittsburgh, PA USA.

Acetonitrile (HPLC grade), Methanol (HPLC grade), Methylene Chloride (HPLC grade) were obtained from Fisher Scientific Fair Lawn, New Jersey, USA.

Heptafluorobutyric Acid HPLC grade and Hydrochloric acid 6 N (Sequanal grade) were purchased from Pierce, Rockford, Illinois, USA.

Trifluoroacetic Acid, 99 +% (suitable for protein sequencing) was obtained from Aldrich Chemical Company, Inc. Craftsmen in Chemistry Milwaukee Wis USA.

Gentamicin, Ham's F-12 wigh glutamine and Medium 199 were purchased from Flow Laboratories, Mississauga Ontario.

Medium 199 with Earle's Salts & L-Glutamine was obtained from Gibco Laboratories, Life Technologies Inc. Grand Island, New York, USA.

2-Mercaptoethanol (Baker Grade) was obtained from J. T. Baker Chemical Co. Phillipsburg, N.J. USA.

Heparin Leo 1,000 iu/ml from Leo Laboratories Canada LTD, Pickering Ontario.

Collagenase was purchased from Boehringer Mannheim GmbH, Germany.

Rabbits, female New Zealand rabbit weighing about 4.5 kg were purchased from Chene Bleu.

Guinea Pigs (Hartley male) weighing 450 grams and Rats Sprague-Dawley male rats weighing from 150 to 250 grams were purchased from Charles River Breeding Laboratories.

Pertussis toxin was obtained from List Biological Laboratories, Inc. Campbell, CA USA.

Deoxyribonucleic acid (phenol extracted) from salmon testes was purchased from P-L Biochemicals, Inc (Milwaukee, Wis.)

Dextran T-70 was purchased from Pharmacia, Uppsala, Sweden Sodium Pentobarbital (for veterinary use) M.T.C. Pharmaceuticals, Mississauga, Ontario.

Ficoll-Paque for *in vitro* Lymphocyte isolation was obtained from Pharmacia LKB Biotechnologh Inc. Piscataway, New Jersey USA.

RIBI adjuvant (0.5 mg MPL, 0.5 mg TDM and 2 µl of Tween-80) was purchased from RIBI Immunochem Research Inc. Hamilton, Montana, USA.

Saline was purchased from Travenol Canada Inc. Mississauga Onatario.

Xylazine (20 mg/ml) (Rompun) was purchased from Bayvet Division Chemagro Limited Etobicake, Ontario.

Ketamine 57.5 (mg/ml) (Ketalar) was purchased from Parke-Davis Canada Inc. Scarborough, Ontario.

High performance amino acid analyzer, System 6300, was purchased from Beckman Instruments, Inc.

LKB Ultrorak Fraction Collector and LKB-WALLAC 12// Gammamaster Automatic Gamma Counter (WALLAK Oy Turku Finland) were purchased from Fisher Scientific Co. Montreal, Quebec.

Savant Speed Vac concentrator was purchased from Savant Instruments Inc. Farmingdale N.Y. USA.

Shaking water bath, Dubnoff Metabolic Shaking incubator, was purchased from Precision Scientific Co. Chicago, USA.

Spectrophotometer: Spectronic 7000, was made by Bausch & Lomb, USA; U-2000 was made by Hitachi, Japan.

 μ Bondapak 3.9mm x 30cm and 7.8mm x 30 cm stainless steel columns, Protein-Pak-125 (old name I-125) 7.8mm x 30 cm stainless steel columns, C₁₈ Sep-Paks, CM Sep-Paks, NorganicTM Water Purification System and HPLC system were purchased from Waters Associates, Milford, MA, USA.

2.2. Isolation and Purification of Peptides.

2.2.1. Extraction of Tissues

2.2.1.1. Acidic medium extraction

A total of 100 pairs of frozen rabbit fetal lungs obtained at late gestation or frozen rabbit adult lungs (Pel Freez) were homogenized at 4°C in an acidic medium consisting of 1M HCl/5% formic acid/1% NaCl (wt/vol)/1% trifluoroacetic acid (465). The ratio of the tissues and the extraction medium was kept at about 1:1 (wt/vol). After centrifugation (3300 x g for

15 min), the pellet was re-extracted twice with the same amount of the extraction medium and the supernatants rich in peptide were combined for the ODS silica cartridge extraction (2.2.1.2).

2.2.1.2. ODS silica cartridge extraction

ODS-silica cartridges (C18 Sep-Pak) were prepared using a slightly modified procedure originally described by Bennett et al. (465). A set of five C_{18} Sep-Paks were connected in series using headless pipet tips (i.e. the bottom 1 to 1.5 inch of 2 inch of 2-200 μ l polypropylene pipet tips). These were first conditioned by flushing with 20 ml of 80% acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA followed by 30 ml of 0.1% TFA. Each 150 ml of extracts of rabbit fetal lungs or 250 ml of rabbit adult lung extract (see section 2.2.1.1.) was passed through one set of the cartridges. The cartridges were then washed with 50 ml of 0.1% TFA to remove unbound material. Peptides bound to the ODSsilica resin were eluted with 10 ml of 80% acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA. The eluates were stored at -40°C for later use or directly subjected to cationic exchange cartridge extraction (see section 2.2.1.3.) or to reversed-phase HPLC (see section 2.2.2.2.).

2.2.1.3. CM cation exchange cartridge extraction

The ODS silica cartridge extracts (see section 2.2.1.2.) were diluted with 4 volumes of 150 mM Tris buffer pH 7.2

containing 20% acetonitrile (466) to bring the pH to 6-7. Each 150 ml of the diluted extract was passed six times through carboxymethyl cationic ion exchange cartridges (CM Sep-Pak). Prior to use, the CM Sep-Pak was conditioned with 10 ml of 50mM Tris pH 7.2 containing 1 M NaCl and 20% acetonitrile and then equilibrated with 50 ml of 150 mM Tris pH 7.2 containing 20% acetonitrile. After loading the eluates, the cartridges were washed with 50 ml of the 150 mM Tris and the cationic peptides bound to the resin were eluted with 4 ml of 50 mM Tris buffer containing 1 M NaCl and 20% acetonitrile. The final cation exchange eluates were then concentrated in a Savant Speed Vac concentrator and stored at -20° C prior to purification on HPLC (see section 2.2.2.2.).

2.2.2. HPLC Purification

2.2.2.1. General methods

HPLC separations were carried out on a Waters HPLC system consisting of two M-45 pumps and a Model 680 Automated Gradient Controller. Eluates from the column were monitored at 280 nm and 215 nm using a Waters Model 441 and a Model 481 variable wavelength detector connected in series. The UV absorbance of eluates were recorded by a recorder (model SE^R 120).

HPLC grade water was made from deionized, glassdistilled water by filtering through Norganic Water Purification

System (Waters Associates, Milford, MA). All reagents used for HPLC purification procedure were HPLC grade, except TFA which was prepared as a stock solution of 1% (v/v, 0.13M) and purified by passing through a C₁₈ Sep-Pak. Prior to use, the Sep-Pak was conditioned as described in section 2.2.1.2.. Acetonitrile and water were degassed under a water vacuum for about 20 minutes immediately before use.

2.2.2.2. Reversed-phase HPLC purification

Reversed-phase HPLC purifications were carried out as previously described (465, 467). The method used is as follows. The Sep-Pak eluates or HPLC fractions were concentrated in the Speed Vac to evaporate acetonitrile, and loaded onto a C18 μ Bondapak column (Waters Associates, Milford, MA) via an injector (Beckman Instruments Inc.) or an HPLC pump (Milton Roy Inc.) Two solvent systems were used, one employing TFA as the hydrophobic counter-ion pairing reagent at a concentration of 0.1% and the other employing HFBA as the hydrophobic counterion pairing reagent at a concentration of 0.13%. In both solvent systems, 80% acetonitrile was used as the organic modifier as buffer B. Buffer A was prepared with HPLC-grade water. The concentration of the corresponding hydrophobic counter-ion pairing reagent was the same in both buffer A and buffer B. Buffer A and buffer B were delivered by separated pumps, pump A and pump B which were controlled by a automated gradient

controller (Waters Model 680). Bound peptides were eluted from the column with linear gradients of solvent B. Fractions were collected in glass or plastic 12 x 75 mm test tubes, using an LKB Ultrorak Fraction Collector (Fisher Scientific Co., Montreal, Quebec.)

2.2.2.3. Gel permeation HPLC purification

Gel permeation HPLC separations were performed isocratically at a flow rate of 1.0 ml/min on two I-125 Waters protein analysis columns connected in series with the solvent system of 40% acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA (467). Samples from reversed-phase HPLC were either dried to a small volume or to complete dryness and then dissolved in 50 to 100 μ l of 40% acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA for application to the columns.

2.3. Characterization of Peptides

2.3.1. Amino Acid Analysis

2.3.1.1. Acid hydrolysis

A total of 100 picomoles to 1000 picomoles of aliquots taken from the samples purified by HPLC (see section 2.2.2) for amino acid analysis were dried in the Speed Vac in 6 x 50 mm KIMAX culture tube and hydrolized at 105° C for 16 hours by the vapour of constant boiling HCl containing a small amount of phenol in a gas phase of 100% nitrogen on a Waters Pico-Tag work

station. HCl was evaporated under vacuum prior to analysis as described in section 2.3.1.2..

2.3.1.2. Amino acid analysis

Amino acid components derived from acid hydrolysis as described in section 2.3.1.1. were separated and quantitated on a high performance amino acid analyzer (System 6300, Beckman Instruments, Inc.) consisting of an automatic sample loading turn table, ion exchange HPLC and ninhydrin colour reaction. The ninhydrin derivatives were monitored by an on line spectophotometer at 440 and 570 nm and the sum of both peak areas was integrated by a Hewlett Packard 3390A Reporting Integrator. The working procedure was set up according to instructions supplied with the machine.

2.3.2. Gas Phase Sequencing of Peptides

2.3.2.1. Reduction and pyridylethylation

About 40 μ g of purified peptides was dissolved in 200 μ l of the denaturant buffer (6M Guanidine-HCl, 0.25 M Tris, 1 mM EDTA pH 8.5) and incubated with 10 μ l of 1.4 M 2mercaptoethanol at room temperature in the dark. After 2 hours, 10 μ l of 4-vinylpyridine (undiluted) was added and the mixture was incubated for another 2 hours under the same conditions. The linear pyridylethylated peptide was separated from other peptides by RP-HPLC as described in section 2.2.2.2.

1

3

2.3.2.2. Amino acid sequence analysis

The amino acid sequence of the purified peptides was determined by automated Edman degradation in an Applied Biosystem 470 A gas-phase sequanator with the trifluoroacetic acid conversion program. The PTH (phenylthiohydantoin) amino acids were monitored by an Applied Biosystem 120 A on-line analyzer. Some sequence analysis was carried out in the Shriner's Hospital in Montreal and some was carried out in the Laboratory for Neuroendocrinology, Salk Institute, San Diego, California, USA by Dr. Fred Esch.

2.4. Radioimmunoassays

2.4.1. Radioimmunoassays of Peptides

2.4.1.1. Iodination of peptides

Labelled peptides for radioimmunoassay were prepared using a modification of the chloramine-T method, as described by Browne at al (468). 2 μ g of peptide dissolved in 10 μ l of 2 M phosphate buffer pH 7.4 and 1 mCi of ¹²⁵I⁻ in 10 μ l of NaOH solution pH 8-11 were mixed with 10 μ g of chloramine T in 20 μ l of PBS buffer in a 1.5 ml polypropylene microfuge tube for 15 seconds, then the reaction was terminated by adding 50 μ g of sodium metabisulphite in 20 μ l of PBS buffer.

The ¹²⁵I-peptide and a small amount of unlabelled peptide were separated from iodide by chromatography on a C_{18} reversed phase cartridge. A preconditioned ODS-silica cartridge was prepared as described previously (see section 2.2.1.2.). The mixture of the products of iodination were passed through the cartridge which was then washed with 50 to 100 ml of 0.1% TFA to get rid of unbound free iodide and eluted with 3 ml of 80% acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA. The eluates were stored at 4°C for use as a tracer in the corresponding radioimmunoassay.

2.4.1.2. Antisera

Antisera to ACTH, and α MSH were generated in our laboratory by Drs. C. A. Browne and S. Mulay (468).

CSI antiserum was raised in guinea pigs with conjugates of CSI and keyhole limpet haemocyanin I.M.. A total of 5 mg of synthetic CSI and 5 mg of keyhole limpet haemocyanin dissolved in 5 ml of PBS buffer were conjugated together by using glutaraldehyde to a final concentration of 0.25% v/v. After 1 hour incubation at room temperature, the reaction was terminated by adding lysine to a final concentration of 0.2 M. A total of 0.8 ml of conjugate containing 0.8 mg CSI was added to RIBI adjuvant reconstituted in 1.2 ml of saline per vial. Booster injections contained 0.4 ml of conjugate and 1.6 ml of adjuvant in reconstituted saline. Immunization was performed in guinea pigs as follows: a total of 0.2 ml of the mixture of the

conjugate and adjuvant was injected I.M. into each side of the hind legs and 0.1 ml of the mixture was injected I.P.. Boosters were given at 3, 6, 9 and 12 weeks. The blood was taken by cardiac puncture using Xylazine (lmg/kg) and Ketamine (40 mg/kg) as anaesthetics two weeks after the booster shots. The serum was stored at -20° C.

2.1.1.3. Specificity of antisera

The ACTH antiserum was directed towards amino acid 17-20, and cross-reacted equally well with $ACTH_{1-24}$, $ACTH_{17-39}$, $ACTH_{16-27}$ and CLIP (468). The antiserum did not cross-react significantly (<0.05%) with α MSH (468).

The α MSH antiserum was directed toward the C-terminal amino acid residues (10-13 amide), and cross-reacted poorly (<0.1%) with ACTH₁₋₃₉, ACTH₁₋₂₄ and ACTH₁₋₁₈ (468).

The CSI antiserum cross-reacted very weakly with CSII, CSIII, and CSIV (<0.01%) and had no detectable cross-reactivity with other peptide including human corticostatin, HP-4, and rat corticostatin R-4.

2.4.1.4. Radioimmuncassays

Ņ.

0.02 M Barbitone buffer containing 1% (w/v) BSA, 0.18% (w/v) NaCl, and 0.4% mercaptoethanol pH 8.6 was used for the radioimmunoassays for ACTH and α MSH, and PBS buffer containing 0.5% BSA was used for CSI radioimmunoassay.

Standard curves were constructed using known amounts of unlabelled peptide (10 to 4,000 pg of ACTH, or 50 to 12,000 pg of α MSH, or 25 to 10,000 pg of CSI) in a volume of 100 μ l of buffer. Aliquots of the samples from HPLC or ODS cartridge fractions were dried in the Speed-Vac concentrator prior to assay. In order to get accurate RIA data, samples were somevimes diluted so that the RIA reading would lie in the middle of the assay standard curve.

A total of 100 μ l of appropriate tracer containing 10,000 to 20,000 cpm was added to each of the tubes, followed by the addition of 100 μ l of antiserum solution to all tubes except for those used to determine total counts and non-specific binding, (100 μ l of buffer was added instead). The tubes were incubated at room temperature for 2 hours for the ACTH assay, 3 hours for α MSH assay and at 4°C for 16 hours for CSI assay. At the end of ircubation, 750 μ l of dextran-charcoal buffer containing 0.25% charcoal and 0.05% dextran T-70) at 4°C was added to each tube except for those used to determine total counts, and vortexed. The tubes were then incubated for 6 min at 4°C and centrifuged at 2000 x g for 15 min. The supernatants were decanted into 12 x 75 mm test tubes, stoppered with corks and counted for 1 to 3 min to obtain a total number of counts of at least 10,000.

2.4.2. Radioimmunoassay of Steroids and CAMP

The radioimmunoassay for corticosterone and aldosterone were carried out according to the instructions supplied by the manufacturer (BioMeg).

The radioimmunoassay for cAMP was carried out by using a kit purchased from Amersham, and the instructions supplied with the kit.

2.5. In Vitro Bioassay

2.5.1. Rat Adrenal Cell Bioassay

dispersed rat adrenal cell bioassay was The a modification of method of Sayers (469-473). Prior to use, all media used in the bioas. y were prewarmed to 37°C in a shaking water bath (Dubnoff Metabolic Shaking incubator, Precision Scientific Co., Chicago, USA) in an atmosphere of 95% 0,/5% CO2. A total of 10-26 Sprague-Dawley male rats (Charles River Breeding Laboratories) weighing 150 to 250 grams were sacrificed by decapitation, and adrenals were decapsulated removed immediately, and quartered in Ham's F-12 medium containing 0.5% BSA. The tissue was then incubated for 1 hr in 10 ml of the medium with 2 mg/ml collagenase and 250 μ g/ml DNase. At the end of the incubation, the dispersal of the cells was completed by pipetting the medium up and down 50 times using a Pasteur pipette. The cell suspension was centrifuged at 150 x g for 7 min, and the cell pellet was resuspended and washed twice with

12 ml of the same medium. Finally, the cell pellet was suspended in 2 ml of the medium and filtered through prewetted nylon gauze (100 μ m) and layered on top of 8 ml of Ham's F-12 medium containing 2.5% BSA prior to gradient centrifugation. After centrifugation at 170 x g for 10 min, 6 ml of the upper layer was aspirated and the cells in the lower 4 ml were diluted with 10 ml of incubation medium (Ham's F-12 medium containing 0.5% BSA and 7 mM Ca²⁺) before determining the cell number. The viability of the cells was determined by the trypan blue exclusion method. Only the cells which contained lipid droplets and excluded trypan blue were counted. The cell suspension was adjusted to a final concentration of 400,000 cells per ml and 0.5 ml was added to the incubation tubes. The cells were preincubated for 60 min at 37°C on a shaking water bath under an atmosphere of 95% 0,/5% CO2. Then, a 0.5 ml aliquot of incubation medium or incubation medium containing either synthetic human or synthetic porcine ACTH (ACTH_{1.30}) alone or ACTH plus test material was added. The mixture was incubated for an additional 2 hr. After incubation the tubes were centrifuged at 120 x g for 10 min, and the supernatant was decanted into borosilicate culture tubes. Steroids were extracted with 2 ml of methylene chloride and corticosterone and aldosterone in the extract were determined by radioimmunoassay. CAMP was determined in the aqueous phase by radioimmunoassay.

2.5.2. Rat Adrenal Zona Glomerulosa Cell Bioassay

Zona glomerulosa cells were prepared essentially as described by Douglas et al. (474). A total of 15-20 Sprague-Dawley male rats (Charles River Breeding Laboratories) weighing at 150 to 175 grams were sacrificed by decapitation. The adrenals were freed from fat tissues before removal anddecapsulation. The capsules were minced and the mince was incubated for 45 min at 37°C in 10 ml of medium 199 with 2 mg/ml collagenase and 250 μ g/ml DNase on the shaking water bath in an atmosphere of 95% O₂/5% CO₂ as described in section 2.5.1.. The tissue was mechanically dispersed and centrifuged at 120 x g for 10 min and then washed with medium 199. The resulting cells were resuspended in 2 ml of the medium and filtered through nylon gauze onto a bed of 8 ml of the medium containing 2.5% of BSA prior to gradient centrifugation as described in section 2.5.1.. The cells (400,000) contained in 1 ml of medium 199 which was supplemented with 0.5% BSA and 5 mM K^{+} , were incubated together with either angiotensin II alone or corticostatin I plus angiotensin II for 2 h under the same condition as previously described in section 2.5.1. Aldosterone output was measured by the radioimmunoassay following extraction of supernatant with methylene chloride as described in section 2.5.1.

2.6. ACTH Receptor Assay

2.6.1. Preparation of Labelled ACTH Ligand

The fully biologically active ACTH analogue ([Phe,, Nle⁴] ACTH₁₋₃₈) was freshly iodinated and purified for each experiment. A total of 4-12 μ g of [Phe₂, Nle⁴] ACTH_{1.70} (a gift from Dr. Ramachandran) in 10 μ l of 2 M phosphate buffer pH 7.4 and 1 mCi of ¹²⁵I' were mixed with 2 μ g of chloramine T in 20 μ l of PBS buffer in a 1.5 ml polypropylene microfuge tube for 15 seconds. Then the reaction was terminated by adding 25 μ g of sodium metabisulphite in 20 μ l of PBS buffer. The ¹²⁵I-ACTH analogue was separated from iodide and non-iodinated ACTH analoque by reversed-phase HPLC. After loading, the column was first washed with 0.1% TFA for 60 min to wash away unbound free iodine and then eluted with two linear gradients of 1-24% acetonitrile (for the first 10 min) and 24-32% acetonitrile (for the next 50 min). Fractions were collected every minute, and 10 µl aliquots were taken from each fraction and counted in a LKB-WALLAC 1277 Gammamaster Automatic Gamma Counter . The efficiency of the gamma counter was estimated by known dpm standard ¹²⁹I supplied by LKB-WALLAC company at 55% (31865 CPM = 58300 DPM). The specific radioactivity of the ¹²⁵I-ACTH analogue was estimated from the ratio of the UV absorbance areas of the cold and labelled ACTH analog, the amount of cold ACTH analogue being quantitated by RIA. The specific radioactivity was approximately 2000 Ci/mmol.

2.6.2. ACTH Receptor Binding Studies

ACTH binding studies were carried out as previously reported (475, 477). Decapsulated adrenal glands from male Sprague-Dawley rats were digested with collagenase and DNase as described in section 2.5.1. but using the medium 199 rather than Ham's F-12. The cells were suspended in medium 199 containing 10% fetal bovine serum and 0.004% gentamicin and washed three more times under the sterile conditions. The cells at a concentration of 7.5 x 10^5 cells per ml were incubated overnight (18 hr) in sterile bacterial Petri dishes at 37° C in 5% $CO_2/95$ % air.

Cells were removed from the Petri dishes with a pipette, centrifuged at 100 x g for 10 min, and washed once with meaium 199 containing 0.5% BSA. The cells were resuspended in 2 ml of the medium and filtered through nylon gauze on the top of 8 ml of medium 199 containing 2.5% of BSA for gradient centrifugation. After centrifugation at 100 x g for 10 min, 8 ml of the upper layer was aspirated and the cells in the lower 2 ml were resuspended in the medium 199 containing 0.5% BSA and 3.5 mM CaCl, at a concentration of 2 x 10^6 cells per ml. 0.4 ml aliquots of the cells were incubated in polypropylene tubes in duplicate with 0.1 ml of ¹²⁵I-ACTH analogue (175 pM) in the presence or absence of displacing ligands for 1 hr at 23°C on the shaking water bath in an atmosphere of $O_2/5\%$ CO₂. At the end of the incubation, the tubes were centrifuged at 70 x g for 7

80

min at 4°C and 250 μ l of supernatant was taken from each tube. After extraction by 1 ml of methylene chloride, corticosterone production was measured by RIA as described in section 2.5.1. The cells in the bottom layer were resuspended using a 100 μ l micropipettor, and duplicate 100 μ l aliquots were removed and layered on to the top of 300 μ l cf ice-cold medium 199 containing 1.5% BSA in 400 μ l polypropylene microfuge tubes and centrifuged at about 9000 x g in a Beckman 152-Microfuge for 5 min at 4°C. After removing the supernatant with a Pasteur pipette, the tubes were kept inverted for 30 min. The tip containing the cell pellet was cut off and counted for 2 min in the τ Counter.

For estimation of DNA content the cell pellet was then dissolved in 500 μ l of 0.1 N NaOH in 16 x 100 mm Borosilicate glass disposable culture tubes, mixed with 1 ml of 6 N HCl and 500 μ l of 0.04% Indole and heated in a boiling water bath for 10 min. After cooling with running water, the solution was extracted two times with 2 ml of chloroform. The intensity of the indole derivative was determined in a spectrophotometer (Spectronic 7000, Bausch & Lomb, USA, or U-2000, Hitachi, Japan) at 490 nm. Deoxyribonucleic acid (phenol extracted) from salmon was used as the standard.

CHAP. 3. Purification

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS I:

PURIFICATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF CORTICOSTATINS

3.1. The Discovery of the Existence of Anti-ACTH Peptides in the Fetal Rabbit Lungs

My first research task upon arrival in the Endocrine Laboratory was to determine if the fetal lung contained authentic ACTH. It was interesting to know whether fetal lungs can produce ACTH or some ACTH-like substances because immunoreactive ACTH had been detected in the fetal lung. To accomplish this task a scheme was worked out for the isolation of ACTH which is shown below:

> Human Fetal Lungs L Homogenized in Acidic Medium 1 Centrifugation **Re-extracted** Twice Supernatant Pool C18 Sep-Pak 80% Acetonitrile Eluates HPLC Purification RIA for ACTH and aMSH

CHAP. 3. Purification

A total of 20 pairs of human fetal lungs that been collected and frozen at -40°C were processed as shown in scheme above. The results are shown in Fig. 3-2. which shows that there was a certain amount of ACTH immunoactive substance present in the fractions 26-28 of the lung extract. Because it was such small amount of material, it was important to prove that the immunoreactive materials was indeed ACTH and not artifactual contamination. It should be noted that immunoreactive α MSH was also present in fairly sizable amounts. The availability of human fetal lungs was limited at that time, and we turned to examine frozen rabbit fetal lungs because immunoreactive ACTH was shown to be present in such tissues. We turned to using ODS cartridge (Sep-Pak) to fractionate the lung extracts and used the rat adrenal cell ACTH bioassay to monitor these fractions. The experiment was carried out as follows:



RAT ADRENAL CELL BIOASSAY


biologically active ACTH fractions as was found for the human fetal lungs. Of interest was the fractions from 40% to 80% acetonitrile eluates which did not show any ACTH bioactivity. These results were puzzling because the resolution by ODS cartridge fractionation is usually relatively poor compared to HPLC purification and a slight contamination from fractions of 30% to 40% acetonitrile was thought to be unavoidable. These results presented several possibilities, one of which was existence of an inhibitor of corticosterone synthesis. This hypothesis was tested in the subsequent experiments. A 325 μ l aliquot was taken from the fraction of 40% to 80% acetonitrile eluates (equal to 1 g of rabbit fetal lung tissues), dried in the speed-vac before co-incubating with increasing does of synthetic hACTH in the rat adrenal cell bioassay. The corticosterone response to ACTH stimulation was significantly depressed when the 40-80% acetonitrile fractions were present (Fig. 3-3). This data suggested the presence of an anti-ACTH factor(s).

Although acidic and ODS cartridge extraction procedure were designed to obtain peptide-rich fraction, the peptide nature of anti-ACTH components still needed to be confirmed. This was accomplished by trypsin digestion. After incubating with trypsin for three and half hours, the fraction lost its inhibitory activity comparing with the controls (Fig. 3-4) but it kept its

1.5 1.,5

5-

fully biologically activity after incubation for 30 min in a boiling water bath. These experiments were repeated two more times before further purification and characterization was undertaken.



يەھەرە يەن

Fig. 3-1 Radioimmunoreactive ACTH in fetal human lung extracts The elution pattern of radioimmunoreactive ACTH from a reversed phase HPLC column of an extract of 20 pairs of fetal human lungs extracted as described in sections 2.2.1.1. and 2.2.1.2.. The tissue extract was dried in the speed vac to evaporate about 80% of its volume and diluted with 10 ml of 0.1% TFA and pumped directly onto a C_{18} µBondapak column that was washed with 90 ml of 0.1% TFA. The column was eluted at a flow rate of 1.5 ml/min for 1 hr with a linear gradient of 0-56% acetonitrile. Fractions were collected every min. Aliquots (100 µl) were taken from each fraction and radioimmunoassay for ACTH and α MSH were carried out as described in section 2.4.1.4.. Bars indicate the amount of radioimmunoreactive ACTH or α MSH in each fraction.



ŝ

R 1

Fig. 3-2 Adrenocorticotropic activity in fetal rabbit lung extracts. 16 pairs of fetal rabbit lungs (15.4 g) were extracted with acidic extraction medium as described in section 2.2.1.1 . Extracts were passed through a set of five C18 Sep-Pak which was first conditioned by flushing with 20 ml of 80% acetonitrile containing 0.13% HFBA followed by 30 ml of 0.13% HFBA prior to use. The cartridges were then washed with 50 ml of 0.13% HFBA to remove unbound material. Peptides bound to the ODS-silica resin were fractionated first with 10 ml 30% acetonitrile containing 0.13% HFBA and then with 10 ml of 35% acetonitrile containing 0.13% HFBA, followed with 10 ml of 40% acetonitrile containing 0.13% HFBA, and finally with 10 ml of 80% acetonitrile containing 0.13% HFBA. Aliquots of $325 \mu l$ (equivalent to 1 gram tissues) were taken from each fraction and dried in the speed-vac for testing for adrenocorticotropic activity in the rat adrenal cell bioassay as previously described. Bars represent corticosterone released by dispersed rat adrenal cells in response to increasing concentrations of hACTH₁₋₃₀ and to materials contained in each fraction.



Fig. 3-3 Inhibition of ACTH-stimulated corticosterone output by material in fraction 40-80% acetonitrile from Fig. 3-2. Dose response of corticosterone produced by rat adrenal cells stimulated by increasing concentration of hACTH (o) and by hACTH plus aliquots (325 μ l) from fractions 40-80% acetonitrile (\bullet). The aliquots of 325 μ l were dried in the Speed Vac before coincubation with ACTH and adrenal cells.



Fig. 3-4 The loss of the anti-ACTH activity following trypsin **digestion.** A total of 650 μ l aliquots of the 40-80% acetonitrile fraction were dried in the Speed Vac and dissolved in 0.4 ml of 1% NH, HCO,, then divided into two. One part was co-incubated with 0.1 mg of trypsin in 0.2 ml of 1 mM HCl at 37 °C for 3.5 hr, and the other was co-incubated with 0.2 ml of 1 mM HCl first and mixed with 0.1 mg of trypsin at the end of the incubation as control. The reaction was stopped by adding 2 ml of 1% TFA. The incubation products were then passed through C₁₈ Sep-Pak, which were washed with 30 ml of 0.1% TFA and eluted with 3 ml of 80% acetonitrile separately. The eluates were dried in the Speed Vac and their anti-ACTH activities were tested in the rat adrenal cell bioassay system as previously described. In this experiment 0.025% (w/v) trypsin inhibitor was added to the incubation medium and 100 pg/ml of hACTH was either added alone (first bar) or co-incubated with trypsin untreated aliquots from 40-80% acetonitrile fraction (second bar) or the ontrols (third bar) or with trypsinized products (fourth bar) together with the adrenal cells.

ą

3.2. Purification and Characterization of Corticostatins

3.2.1. Purification of Corticostatins

To facilitate the isolation of ACTH-inhibitory peptides, a sensitive and reproducible bioassay was established, detailed in section 2.5.1. Fig. 3-5 shows the increase in corticosterone production on a logarithmic scale with increasing $hACTH_{1-39}$ concentrations in the rat adrenal cell preparation. The response reached a plateau at 740 pg/ml and the 50% effective dose (ED₅₀) was about 150 pg/ml (33 pM). An inhibition assay was then set up using 150 pg of ACTH per ml and adding HPLC column fraction in amounts sufficient to inhibit corticosterone production stimulated by this amount of trophic hormone. The protocol of the purification is shown as below: Fetal Rabbit Lungs Extracted with acidic medium C₁₈ Sep-Pak Eluted with 80% MeCN First HPLC Purification (TFA) Rat Adrenal Cell Bioassay Second HPLC Purification (HFBA) Rat Adrenal Cell Bioassay Third HPLC Purification (TFA) Rat Adrenal Cell Bioassay Gel Filtration HPLC

Fig. 3-6 shows that there were four areas of inhibitory materials that eluted from the column, the most abundant of which had a retention time of 72-96 min. This material was further purified on a second HPLC column using 0.13% HFBA as the counter-ion. As shown in Fig. 3-7, the peptide eluted in 38% acetonitrile and most of the proteins eluted earlier. A large degree of purification was thus achieved. The material that

91

eluted with a retention time of 44-46 min from Fig. 3-7 was

purified by HPLC using trifluoroacetic acid as a counter ion as shown in Fig. 3-8. It is obvious from this chromatogram that the peptide was still not pure, necessitating a further purification step using gel filtration HPLC in which a uniform peak (fractions 17, 18 and 19) was obtained as shown in Fig. 3-9. Amino acid analysis of this material indicated that the peptide was homogeneous (Table 3-1).

AMINO ACID			Fraction		
	17		18	19	
Aspartic acid	2.0		2.2	2.1	
Asparagine	27	(2)	2 9	2 (
Clutamia agid	2./	(3)	2.0	2	
Drolino	1.1	(1)	1.0	1.1	
Clucine	1.0	(1)	2.0	2.0	
Alamina	2.0	(3)	2.9	2.7	
Custoine	1.9	(2)	2.0	1./ 5 3	
Valino	2.4	(0)	5.0	2.2	
Valine	2.2	(2)	2.0	2.0	
	1.0		1.0	1.0	
Tyrosine	2.0	(2)	2.0	2.1	
Phenylalanine	2.0	(2)	2.3	2.0	
Arginine	9.4	(9)	10.1	9.4	

Table 3-1. Amino acid composition of CSI after hydrolysis

Numbers in parentheses are calculated from sequence analysis data (34 amino acids; M.W. 3993)

The homogeneous sample was then sent to Dr. F. Esch laboratory (Salk Institute, San Diego, CA) for sequence analysis. Gas-phase microsequencing of the peptide indicated the following sequence: Gly-Ile-Cys-Ala-Cys-Arg-Arg-Arg-Phe-Cys-Pro-Asn-Ser-Glu-Arg-Phe-Ser-Gly-Tyr-Cys-Arg-Val-Asn-Gly-Ala-Arg-

Tyr-Val-Arg-Cys-Cys-Ser-Arg-Arg. This peptide was named corticostatin I (CSI) because of its ability to inhibit ACTH and first one characterized. The ability of CSI to inhibit the secretion of corticosterone by rat adrenal cells under the stimulation of a fixed dose (33 pM) of ACTH is shown in Fig. 3-10. Total inhibition of ACTH stimulation can be achieved at high concentrations of CSI (2 μ g/ml).

The ED₅₀ of CSI was found to be 100 ng/ml (25 nM) and the minimum effective dose was 20 ng/ml (5 nM) against 150 pg/ml ACTH, because it is significantly different from the control value.

3.2.2. Purification of corticostatic peptides using the separation of basic peptides from neutral and acidic fractions.

In an effort to establish whether the rabbit fetal lung was the only source of corticostatic peptides, and to purify a large quantity of CSI for the further study, a simple and quantitative method for rapid scanning of tissues was developed.



• >

, 3

ς,

Fig. 3-5. Dose response of corticosterone released by rat adrenal cells in response to increasing concentration of synthetic $hACTH_{1-39}$. The values shown are the means of 11 experiments done in duplicate (mean ± SD).



e.

ŧ

Fig. 3-6 The elution pattern of inhibitory peptides from a reverse-phase HPLC column of an extract of 100 pairs of fetal rabbit lungs The lungs were extracted as described in sections 2.2.1.1. and 2.2.1.2. The tissue extract was diluted to 20 ml with 0.1% TFA and pumped directly onto a C_{18} µBondapak column that was washed with 100 ml of 0.1% TFA. The column was eluted at a flow rate of 1.0 ml/min for 3 hr. Two linear gradients were used: 0-12% acetonitrile for 60 min followed by 12-24% acetonitrile for the next 120 min. Fractions were collected every 3 min. Aliquots (100 µl) were taken from fractions 20-60 and bioassayed as described. Bars indicate percentage inhibition of ACTH (150 pg/ml) added to the cells along with the fractions from the column. Corticosterone production was used as the end point in obtaining an ACTH titre in the inhibition reaction.



turka -

ŗ

Fig. 3-7 Second Reversed-phase HPLC purification of the anti-ACTH peptide. Reversed-phase HPLC of the first peak of inhibitory activity from Fig. 3-6. Fractions with retention times of 72-96 min from Fig. 3-6 were combined, concentrated, and pumped directly onto the HPLC column, which was eluted at a flow rate of 1.5 ml/min over 90 min with a linear gradient of 0-32% acetonitrile containing 0.13% HFBA during the first 30 min and 32-56% acetonitrile containing 0.13% HFBA over the next 60 min. One minute fractions were collected and submitted to bioassay as described.



Fig. 3-8 Purification of the inhibitory material from Fig 3-7. Fractions 44-46 of Fig. 3-7 were combined, concentrated, and pumped onto an HPLC column using the same conditions described in Fig. 3-6. The linear gradient was 0~35% acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA for the first 45 min and 36-80% acetonitrile for the next 25 min. The flow rate was 1.5 ml/min. Fraction were collected by hand and submitted to bioassay as described.



Fig. 3-9 The last purification of the anti-ACTH peptide by gel filtration HPLC. The fractions that eluted at 29 and 30 min in Fig. 3-8 were combined, concentrated in the Speed Vac to about 100 μ l and injected onto two gel filtration columns using the condition as described in section 2.2.2.3. Fractions were collected every half minute and submitted to bioassay as described.



7 -

State and some

17

Fig. 3-10 Inhibition of ACTH-stimulated corticosterone output by CSI. ACTH was maintained at 27 pg/ml (A), 150 pg/ml (B), 740 pg/ml, and CSI was increased up to 5000 ng/ml. The values shown are the average of duplicate determinations in figure (A). In figures (B) and (C) are shown the mean ± SD of four separate experiments.

One of the most striking characteristics of CSI is its high cationic content of basic amino acids. Thus exchange chromatography should be one of the most suitable ways of isolating these peptides. A relatively weak cationic exchange silica based carboxymethyl (CM) cation-exchange cartridge and high ionic strength buffer (150 mM, pH 7.2 Tris buffer) were used for this purpose. The method was based on the results of pilot experiments (Fig. 3-11) using radio-iodinated CSI (see section 2.2.1.1.). Under these conditions only CSI (eight net positive changes) and a few basic peptides were retained by the cartridge. In subsequent experiments the purification procedure was simplified by including the preliminary step of cationexchange (described in 2.2.1.3.) prior to HPLC.

Fig. 3-12 compares the HPLC profiles of the cationic fraction of fetal rabbit lung (a), adult rabbit lung (b), and rabbit peritoneal neutrophils (c). The rabbit peritoneal neutrophils were obtained as described in Materials and Methods. These results indicated that adult rabbit lung was the richest source of CSI. Several other tissues such as heart, kidney, and liver (Fig. 3-13) were also screened but CSI like peptides present in the lung and neutrophil extracts were undetectable in these tissues.

Using of the CM (carboxymethyl) cation exchange batch extraction method greatly facilitated our studies at that time

since an antiserum against CSI was not available yet. Using this technique we were able to visualize the peak fractions by using two Sep-Pak cartridge extraction steps and reversed-phase HPLC and without the use of the bioassay.

It was necessary to determine the number of CM Sep-Pak cartridges needed for efficient purification of extracts resulting from the procedure described in the materials and methods section (CHAPTER 2) of this thesis (2.2.1.3.) This was established according to the results shown in Fig. 3-14. It was also found that HFBA system gave better resolution than TFA system. Fig. 3-15 (upper panel) shows the first reversed-phase HPLC purification of the eluates of these basic peptides using 0.13% HFBA as the counter-ion. There were only four major peaks in the cationic pools and the dispersed rat adrenocortical cell bioassay revealed that they were exclusively corticostatic materials (lower panel). These four peaks were provisionally named corticostatin I, II, III, and IV in the same order as they are eluted in the HFBA system. In order to test the purity of the first peak, fractions 43 to 47 from Fig. 3-15 were rechromatographed separately on a second HPLC gradient, using 0.1% TFA as the counter-ion as shown in Fig. 3-16. In contrast to the first purification protocol discuseed in section 3.2.1., the peptide was already more than 80% pure in the first purification and reached homogeneity in the second reversed-

phase HPLC. The purities of these corticostatic peptides were confirmed later by amino acid analysis and gel filtration HPLC. The other three major peaks in the first HPLC were also homogeneous after a second reversed-phase HPLC. Their amino acid compositions are shown in the table 3-2.

Table 3-2. Amino acid composition of CSs after hydrolysis

	CORTICOSTATIC PEPTIDES								
AMINO ACID	CSI		CSII		CSIII	CSIV			
Aspartic acid Asparagine	2.0	(0) (2)	1.0	(1)					
Serine Glutamic acid Glutamine	2.7 1.1	(3) (1)	1.0 2.1	(1) (1)	1.1 (1)	1.1 (1)			
Proline Glycine Alanine	1.0 2.8	(1) (3) (2)	2.0 2.9	(2) (3)	$\begin{array}{ccc} 2.1 & (2) \\ 1.9 & (2) \\ 2.8 & (3) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{ccc} 2.0 & (2) \\ 1.8 & (2) \\ 2.9 & (3) \end{array}$			
Cysteine Valine	5.4	(2) (6) (2)	4.7 2.1	(6) (2)	$\begin{array}{ccc} 2.3 & (3) \\ 4.5 & (6) \\ 2.2 & (2) \\ 2.1 & (2) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{ccc} 2.9 & (3) \\ 4.3 & (6) \\ 2.2 & (2) \\ 2.2 & (2) \\ \end{array}$			
Leucine Tyrosine	2.0	(1)	2.0 2.2 1.0	(2) (2) (1)	3.1 (2) 3.1 (3)	4.2 (2) 4.2 (4)			
Phenylalanine Histidine Lysine	2.0	(2)	2.0 2.1	(2)	1.1 (1) 0.9 (1)	1.2 (1) 0.9 (1)			
Arginine	9.4	(9)	8.2	(8)	10.4(10)	9.4 (9)			
Molecular Weigh	nt.	3993		4065	3887	3844			

Numbers in parentheses are calculated from sequence analysis data.

Gas-phase microsequencing of the peptides indicated the following sequence:

CSI Gly Ile Cys Ala Cys Arg Arg Arg Phe Cys Pro Asn Ser
CSII Gly Arg Cys Val Cys Arg Lys Gln 2Leu Cys Ser Tyr Arg
CSIII Val Val Cys Ala Cys Arg Arg Ala Leu Cys Leu Pro Arg
CSIV Val Val Cys Ala Cys Arg Arg Ala Leu Cys Leu Pro Leu

CSI Glu Arg Phe Ser Gly Tyr Cys Arg Val Asn Gly Ala Arg CSII Glu Arg Arg Ile Gly Asp Cys Lys Ile Arg Gly Val Arg CSIII Glu Arg Arg Ala Gly Phe Cys Arg Ile Arg Gly Arg Ile CSIV Glu Arg Arg Ala Gly Phe Cys Arg Ile Arg Gly Arg Ile

CSI	Tyr	Val	Arg	Cys	Cys	Ser	Arg	Arg	(34)	
CSII	Phe	Pro	Phe	Cys	Cys	Pro	Arg		(34)	
CSIII	His	Pro	Leu	Cys	Cys	Arg	Arg		(33)	
CSIV	His	Pro	Leu	Cys	Cys	Arg	Arg		(33)	

It is not surprising to find out that the CSI from adult rabbit lung has the same sequence as the one from fetal rabbit lungs. By using the same procedure, CS's were also purified from peripheral leukocytes and lipopolysaccharide treated rabbit peritoneal exudate neutrophils. These tissues had almost the same peptide pattern as that from rabbit adult lungs. The abilities of the four CSs to inhibit a fixed dose (150pg/ml) of ACTH in the secretion of corticosterone by dispersed rat adrenocortical cells are shown in Fig. 3-17. CSI was the most potent inhibitor of ACTH stimulated steroidogenesis. The minimum

飼

A

effective dose of CSI was 5 nM (20 ng/ml) and it reached a plateau and completely inhibited ACTH stimulation at greater than 500 nM concentrations (2 ug/ml). The ED₅₀ of CSI, CSII, CSIII, CSIV were approximately 100, 500, 1500, and 2000 ng/ml, respectively.



• • • • •

Fig. 3-11 The fractionation of the radiolabelled CSI by CM cationic exchange cartridge. 2 μ g of rabbit corticostatin I purified as indicated in Fig. 3-9 was radio-iodinated with I¹²⁵ as described in section 2.4.1.1. A total of 546683 cpm in 20 ml of 5 mM Tris buffer pH 7.4 containing 20% acetonitrile was loaded onto a CM cationic exchange cartridge and fractionated by the addition of 10 ml of 50 mM, followed by 10 mls of 125 nM, 250 mM, 250 mM, 375 mM, 500 mM, 625 mM, and 750 mM finally by elution with 10 ml of 1250 mM of Tris buffer pH 7.4 (all Tris buffers used in this experiment contain 20% acetonitrile). The eluates were collected and counted in a gamma counter.



,

.

Fig. 3-12 The comparison of the amounts of cationic peptides in fetal rabbit lungs (16 pairs about 16.3 g), adult rabbit lung (one pair 17 g), and rabbit peritoneal neutrophils (from one rabbit). Tissues were extracted as described in section 2.2.1.. The linear gradient was 0-12% acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA for the first 15 min and 12-44% acetonitrile for the next 60 min. The flow rate was 1.5 ml/min. The retention time for purified CSI had been determined and was 29 min. Therefore, CSI like materials eluted at 28 min for fetal and adult lung and at 31 min for neutrophils were submitted to the rat adrenal cell bioassay. All showed corticostatic activity.



1 - 1

۰.

-
CHAP. 3. Purification

Fig. 3-13. HPLC purification of cationic peptides from (a) adult rabbit heart (17 g), (b) kidney (17 g), (c) and liver (17 g). The conditions used were the same as those described in Fig. 3-12.



CHAP. 3. Purification

Fig. The recovery of cationic peptides 3-14 after chromatography on CM-Silica cartridges. A total of 100 pairs of adult rabbit lungs were extracted using acid medium as previously described (see section 2.2.1.1.). The extracts were passed through a C18 Sep-Pak and eluted with 80% acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA as described in section 2.2.1.2. A total of 30 ml of the C_{18} cartridge extracts was diluted with 4 volumes (120 ml) of 150 mM Tris buffer, pH 7.2, containing 20% acetonitrile and the mixture passed through three sets of two CM Sep-Pak connected in series by a headless pipet tip. The CM Sep-Paks were conditioned as described in section 2.2.1.3. prior to use. The aliquots equivalent to one pair of adult rabbit lungs were taken from eluates of each set CM Sep-Paks, dried in the Speed Vac and loaded onto a reversed-phase HPLC column. The gradient used was the same as described in Fig. 3-12.



CHAP. 3. Purification

Fig. 3-15 The purification of corticostatic peptides from adult rabbit lungs. Peptides from ten pairs of adult rabbit lungs were batch extracted using C_{18} Sep-Pak extraction then a cationic ion exchange cartridge (CM-Sep-Pak, Waters, MA), and purified by reversed-phase HPLC using a gradient of 0-32% acetonitrile over 20 minutes, followed by a linear gradient to 48% acetonitrile over 80 minutes. The flow rate was 1.5 ml/min, and 0.13% HFBA was used as the counter-ion. One minute fraction were collected. The upper two panels show UV absorbance at 215 and 280 nm. The lower panel shows the percent inhibition of corticosterone production in the presence of 150 pg/ml ACTH.



CHAP. 3. Purification

Fig. 3-16 The purity of CSI fractions from the first RP-HPLC as demonstrated by a second RP-HPLC step. Fractions 43, 44, 45, 46 and 47 from Fig. 3-15 were repurified separately on a second HPLC, using 0.1% TFA as the counter-ion and a linear gradient. The gradient used was the same as those described in Fig. 3-12.

- - -

ł

â



ŝ

CHAP. 3. Purification

Fig. 3-17 A comparison of the corticostatic activity of CSI, II, III, and VI. The % inhibition of corticosterone production by isolated adrenal cells stimulated with 150 pg/ml of synthetic porcine ACTH₁₋₃₉ in the presence of increasing concentration of corticostatins (I to IV). The values are the mean of four (five for CSI) separate experiments each measured in duplicate. The vertical lines represent the standard deviation.

and the second second second

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS II:

THE MECHANISM OF ACTION OF CSI

4.1. The Mechanism of the Anti-ACTH Action of Corticostatin

4.1.1. The Specificity of the Action of CSI

After obtaining the CSI sequence we performed a computer search of the Protein Identification Resource of the National Biomedical Research Foundation (Georgetown University. Washington, DC) This research revealed that Selsted et al. (478) had found the same peptide as an antimicrobial defensin (NP-3a) previously purified from rabbit peritoneal neutrophils. The question we first wanted to answer was whether the corticostatic activity of CSI was due to its cytotoxic activity. Accordingly we performed the following study. An increasing concentration of CSI was co-incubated with isolated adrenal cells, 200,000 cells/ml for two hours in the presence of 150 pg/ml of synthetic porcine ACTH₁₋₃₀. (The experiment was performed as described in section 2.2.1.4.) At the end of the 2 hour incubation, the viability of the cells in each incubation tube was determined by the trypan blue exclusion method. The results are shown in Table 4-1. which demonstrate that the viability was affected neither by the doses nor by the presence of CSI over 2 hr period of incubation. The postulation that the corticostatic activity

of CSI is not due to its cytotoxic activity was further supported by the fact that there is no positive correlation between the corticostatic activity and antimicrobial activity. The potency of corticostatic activity of the four corticostatins is in the order CSI>CSIII>CSIII≥CSIV, while the antimicrobial activity is CSIII≥CSIV>CSI≥CSII according to the report of Levitz et al. (479).

CSI ng/ml	<pre>% cells surviving ± SD</pre>
0	84.3 ± 3.5
19.5	79.4 ± 5.3
39.1	86.5 ± 7.4
78.1	85.3 ± 6.4
156.2	76.4 ± 8.5
312.5	82.4 ± 6.7
625.0	80.3 ± 4.3
1250.0	84.4 ± 8.6
2500.0	76.5 ± 16.4
5000.0	79.9 ± 6.9

Table 4-1

Corticostatin I was the most potent corticostatic peptide of the four, therefore it was chosen for studies of the mechanism of action of corticostatic peptides.

113

In the whole rat adrenal cell suspension bioassay, ACTH can

increase not only the corticosterone production and CAMP accumulation but also aldosterone output as well. The mechanism the effect of ACTH on aldosterone secretion remains of controversial (for a review see ref. 480). It could be due to the intra-adrenal ACTH-stimulated factors such as increased qlucocorticoid production (481). CSI was able to suppress or even abolish all these ACTH effects (Fig. 4-1). With 1 $\mu q/ml$ CSI, the dose response curves of corticosterone, cAMP, and aldosterone shift to the right about 1 order. 1 μ g/ml CS1 was able to suppress about 50% of steroid production in response to the stimulation of 2.2 ng/ml ACTH (Fig. 4-1). The kinetic study by adding 533 fold excess of CSI to each dose of ACTH in the rat adrenal cell bioassay suggested that the inhibition of CSI on ACTH-stimulated steroid production belong to competitive mechanism. The results in Fig. 4-2 shows that the corticosterone production was kept at half maximum level when ACTH and CSI increasing proportionally.

The concept that the CSI is a specific ACTH inhibitor arose from the fact that it did not inhibit angiotensin II-stimulated aldosterone production by rat zona glomerulosa cells as shown in Fig. 4-3.



Fig. 4-1 The effect of CSI on the ACTH stimulatedcorticosterone, aldosterone and cAMP productions in dispersed rat adrenal cell bioassay. The experiment was discussed in detail in section 2.5.1.. Corticosterone (A), cAMP (B), and aldosterone (C) log-dose response by isolated rat adrenal cells to ACTH in the absence (o) and presence (\bullet) of 1 µg/ml CSI. The values are the means of six (A & B) or three (C) separate experiments, each measured in duplicate. The bars represent standard deviation.



Fig. 4-2 The competitive inhibition pattern of CSI on ACTH stimulated corticosterone production. (a) Corticosterone logdose-response to ACTH in the absence (o) and presence (\bullet) of 533 fold excess of CSI (weight/weight, and 600 fold excess, molar/molar) at each dose. (b) Results from figure (a) were plotted as % inhibition which equal to corticosterone production in the presence of 600 folds of CSI divided by corticosterone production in the absence of CSI and multiplied by 100.



ŧ

いいち あるい

Fig. 4-3 The effect of CSI on the Angiotensin II stimulatedaldosterone production in dispersed zona glumarulosa cell bioassay. Aldosterone log-dose-response to angiotensin II in the absence (o) and presence (\bullet) of 1 µg/ml CSI using rat adrenal zona glomerulosa cells prepared as described in the methods section. The results are the mean of four separate experiments, each measured in duplicate. The vertical lines represent standard deviations.

4.1.2, The Site of Action of CSI on Membrane Signal Transduction

To elucidate the mechanism of action of CS, we used agents which mimic the action of ACTH on adrenal cell steroidogenesis (i.e. dbcAMP, forskolin, cholera toxin). Their possible sites of action are summarized diagrammatically in Fig 4-4.

The effects of increasing concentrations of dbcAMP on corticosterone production in dispersed rat adrenocortical cells in the presence (\bullet) and in the absence (0) of CSI are shown in Fig. 4-5. The effective dosage range of dbcAMP was from 2 to 64 ug/ml. The maximal corticosterone production by the adrenal cells in response to db-cAMP was proximately 300 ng/2x10⁵ cells/2h, which was of the same order as that obtained by ACTH stimulation. There was no significant difference between the action of dbcAMP in the absence or presence of CSI, even at concentrations of 1 μ g/ml of CSI, which completely abolished the steroidogenic response to 150 pg/ml ACTH under the same assay conditions. These results were consistent with the previous observation that CSI reduced the production of cAMP by adrenal cell suspensions in response to ACTH (Fig. 4-1). We can infer from this that CSI acts prior to the production of cAMP in the response of adrenal cells to ACTH.

Forskolin, the adenylate cyclase activator (482), can also stimulate rat adrenal cell steroidogenesis. The difficulty in using this stimulator is its low saturation concentration and

relatively long penetrating time, so the variation of actual concentration of forskolin, especially in a short incubation period, greatly contributed to experiment variation in terms of steroid genesis. The maximal stimulation of steroid genesis was only 25 ng/2x10⁵ cells/2h under our experimental conditions. There was no significant difference between the action of forskolin in the absence or presence of CSI (1 μ g/ml) as shown in Fig. 4-6. Thus, the possibility that CSI could act as a adenylate cyclase inhibitor can be excluded by these results.

In most types of cells, G proteins, the link between a hormone receptor and the adenylate cyclase, can be divided into two categories: inhibitory and stimulatory G proteins. The stimulatory G protein (G) can be activated by cholera toxin and the inhibitory G protein (G_i) can be activated by pertussis toxin (for a review see ref. 483). Cholera toxin in our rat cell bioassay system stimulated corticosterone adrenal production. The maximal response of steroidogenesis to cholera toxin was 150 ng/2x10⁵/2h. There was no significant difference between the presence or absence of CSI (at 1 μ g/ml) as shown in Fig. 4-8. Pertussis toxin was found to be able to suppress the inhibitory effect of vasopressin on ACTH-induced CAMP production by Y-1 cells (484). In our rat adrenal cell bioassay system, pertussis toxin had no stimulatory effects or inhibitory effects on the basal or on ACTH-stimulated corticosterone production.

Pertussis toxin also had no effect on the inhibitory action of CSI as shown in Fig. 4-9.

These results taken together suggested that CSI acts at a site(s) prior to the action of the stimulatory G proteins and this site is most likely at the ACTH receptor itself.



4

Fig. 4-4 The adrenal cell membrane. For a detail discussion of the signalling transduction system see section 5.6.



Fig. 4-5 The effect of CSI on dbcAMP stimulated-corticosterone production. Log-dose response of corticosterone production by isolated adrenal cells in response to dbcAMP in absence (o) and presence (\bullet) of 1 µg/ml CSI in isolated rat adrenal cells. The values are the mean of four or five separate experiments of duplicate incubations. The bars represent standard deviations.



Fig. 4-6 The effect of CSI on forskolin stimulatedcorticosterone production. Corticosterone log-dose response to forskolin in absence (o) and presence (\bullet) of 1 µg/ml CSI in isolated rat adrenal cells. The values are the mean of four separate experiments, each measured in duplicate. The bars represent standard deviations.



Fig. 4-7 The effect of CSI on cholera toxin stimulatedcorticosterone production. Corticosterone log-dose response to cholera toxin in absence (o) and presence (\bullet) of 1 µg/ml CSI in isolated rat adrenal cells. The values are the mean of five separate experiments of duplicate incubations. The bars represent standard deviations.

.

Fig. 4-8 The effect of pertussis toxin on the CSI inhibition. % inhibition of corticosterone production in ACTH-stimulated adrenal cells (150 pg/ml) with increasing concentrations of CSI in the absence (**b**) and presence (**W**) of 100 ng/ml pertussis toxin (PT). The values are the mean of two separate experiments, each measured in duplicate.



golene HTDA-I²⁵¹ to pribrid to noitididnl %

. م

ŀ

Fig. 4-9 The ACTH receptor binding assay. The percent inhibition of specific binding of $^{125}I-Phe^2$, Nle^4-ACTH_{1-38} to rat adrenal cell ACTH receptors by $ACTH_{1-39}$, CSI and $ACTH_{6-24}$. The experiment was carried out as described in section 2.6.2..



Fig 4-10 The inhibition of corticosterone production by CSI and $ACTH_{6-24}$. In the same experiments outlined in Fig. 4-9 corticosterone productions were measured in the medium. Values are the mean of three separate experiments \pm standard deviations. (Methods are described in detail in 2.6.)

4.1.3. CSI: A Competitive Inhibitor of ACTH

All the evidence presented so far suggested that CSI was a competitive inhibitor of ACTH. The direct evidence that CSI was a competitive inhibitor of ACTH was obtained through ACTH receptor binding studies with the aid of ¹²⁵I-[Phe², Nle⁴] ACTH₁. ₃₉, a fully biologically active ACTH analogue (477). The experiments were carried out as discussed in detail in the methods section. Fig. 4-9 shows that CSI was able to displace 175 pM of ¹²⁵I- [Phe², Nle⁴] ACTH₁₋₃₈ in the concentration range 10 nM to 250 nM being about 12 times less potent than hACTH₁₋₃₉ and 1.7 times more potent than ACTH₆₋₂₄, a synthetic ACTH antagonist (485). The ability to displace radiolabeled ligand by CSI and ACTH₆₋₂₄ correlates very well with their ability to suppress corticosterone release as shown in Fig. 4-10.

4.1.4. The Site of Action of CSI on the ACTH Receptor

Further evidence of the nature of CS binding to the ACTH receptor was obtained by comparing the inhibition of steroidogenesis by CSI in response to N-terminal fragments of ACTH. It was found that α MSH (N-acetyl-ACTH₁₋₁₃ amide), stimulates adrenal steroidogenesis at a concentration higher than 10⁻⁷ M, and is not inhibited by 1 µg/ml CSI as is shown in Fig. 4-11. ACTH₁₋₁₈ amide however which is effective at 10⁻¹² M, is inhibited by 1 µg/ml CSI, the ED₅₀ for steroidogenesis

shifting from about $2X10^{-11}$ to $1x10^{-10}$ M (Fig. 4-12). Now there are only two possibilities left, one is that CSI competitively binds to the ACTH receptor at residues 14 to 18, or that CSI binds to the 14 to 18 sequence of ACTH 14-18 itself. Because the 14 to 18 sequence of ACTH (-Gly₁₄-Lys₁₅-Lys₁₆-Arg₁₇-Arg₁₇-) and CSI are both very basic, the latter possibility is unlikely. This view was further supported by the results from repeating the experiment shown in Fig. 3-10B in the presence of 1 ng/ml of ACTH₇₋₃₉ which had 14 to 18 sequence but had no effect on the inhibitory action of CSI against 150 pg/ml of ACTH stimulation. ACTH₇₋₃₉ is an antagonist of ACTH. The potency of anti-ACTH activity of ACTH₇₋₃₉ is close to (slightly weaker than) the potency of CSI therefore 1 ng/ml ACTH₇₋₃₉ will not significantly change the dose-response curve of corticosterone to the stimulation of ACTH.

In conclusion, the experimental evidence suggests that CSI acts by competing with the basic $-Gly_{14}-Lys_{15}-Lys_{16}-Arg_{17}-Arg_{18}-$ sequence of ACTH for its binding site.


.

٠.

Fig. 4-11 The effect of CSI on α MSH stimulated-corticosterone production. Corticosterone log-dose response to α MSH in the absence (o) and presence (\bullet) of 1 μ g/ml CSI in isolated rat adrenal cells. The values are the mean of three separate experiments each measured in duplicate. The vertical lines represent standard deviations.



Fig. 4-12 The inhibitory effect of CSI on the $ACTH_{1-18}$ amide stimulated corticosterone production. Corticosterone log-dose response to $ACTH_{1-18}$ amide in the absence (open circle) and presence (closed circle) of 1 µg/ml CSI in isolated rat adrenal cells. The values are the means of three experiments, each measured in duplicate. The vertical lines represent standard deviations.



.

÷

Fig. 4-13 The mechanism of action of CSI on the adrenal cell membrane. For a detail discussion of the signalling transduction system see section 5.6.

4.2. The Comparisons of the Effects of Natural CSI and Synthetic CSI

Recently CSI has been successfully synthesized by Dr. Varga of American Peptide Company, Inc. (Santa Clara, CA) using solid phase methods in a joint project with our laboratory. They used the BOC/Benzyl strategy and random air oxidation to cyclize the synthetic peptide. The peak material which co-eluted with the natural product has been isolated and purified by HPLC.

The purified synthetic CSI was further characterized by gas phase micro-sequencing after reduction using mercaptoethanol and pyridylethylation. Prior to sequencing one reversed-phase HPLC step was undertaken and the purity of the peptide was confirmed by amino acid analysis. The first 33 cycles of sequencing showed that the synthetic peptide had the same sequence as rabbit CSI. The last cycle of sequencing failed presumably because insufficient sample was loaded. In order to confirm further that the synthetic CSI has the same structure of rabbit CSI, both synthetic CSI and rabbit CSI were digested by trypsin and their HPLC peptide maps were compared (see Fig. 4-14). There were no noticeable differences between two tryptic maps. Not only were the chemical properties of the natural and synthetic CSI very similar, the biological activity of the synthetic peptide was found to be identical to native CSI (see Fig. 4-15).

It is of interest that two side products of synthetic CSI,

named CSIb and CSIc, also had corticostatic activity but were 4 times less potent than synthetic CSI (see Fig. 4-16). The antibody raised against synthetic CSI was able to bind to CS1b and CSIc but to reduced extent with approximately 50% crossreactivity. These results suggest that the correct disulfide bridges in the CSI are not essential but important for its corticostatic activity.



Fig. 4-14 Trypsin digestion maps of rabbit CSI and synthetic rabbit CSI. A total of 100 μ g of rabbit CSI and synthetic rabbit CSI was digested with trypsin at a concentration of 1:50 (enzyme:peptide/w:w) in 0.5 ml of 0.75% NH₄HCO₃ buffer pH 7.4 at 37°C for 24 hours. At the end of incubation 2 ml of 1% TFA was added to lower the pH to approximately 3 prior to purification by reversed-phase HPLC using 0% acetonitrile for the first 20 minutes, followed by a linear gradient to 22% acetonitrile over 100 minutes. The flow rate was 1.5 ml/min, and 0.1% TFA was used as the counter-ion. The upper panel shows UV absorbance at 215 nm for synthetic CSI. The lower panel shows UV absorbance at 215 nm for natural CSI.



Fig. 4-15 Inhibition of ACTH-stimulated corticosterone production by rabbit CSI and synthetic rabbit CSI. ACTH was maintained at 150 pg/ml, and the corticostatins were tested at concentration up to 5000 ng/ml. The values shown are the means (± SD) of four separate and experiments were done in duplicates.



Fig. 4-16 Inhibition of ACTH-stimulated corticosterone production by synthetic rabbit CSI and synthetic CSIb and synthetic CSIc. ACTH was maintained at 150 pg/ml. The values shown are the means (± SD) of three separate and the experiments were done in duplicates.

CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION

5.1. The Evidence for the Presence of Anti-ACTH Substances in Rabbit Fetal Lung Extracts.

Initially we set out to determine whether the human fetal lung synthesizes ACTH which had previously been detected in that tissue by radioimmunoassay. We started with 20 pairs of human fetal lungs and indeed could demonstrate that ACTH was present in the fractions eluted from the first HPLC (Fig. 3-1) but that the amount was insufficient for further analysis. We also detected the presence of large concentration of α MSH which we did not further characterize because the desacetly- α MSH had previously been isolated from the human fetal pituitary (486). The postulate we formed at that time dealt with the fact that glucocorticoids had specific receptors in the fetal lung (487) and if ACTH were made in fetal lung it could stimulate the fetal adrenal and thus the lung could control its own synthesis of surfactant which is vital for lung function.

Because of the small amounts of ACTH present in human fetal lung we set out to determine if biologically active ACTH was present and set up the Sayer's adrenal bioassay system (469) to test these fractions. In addition we turned to the fetal rabbit lung to continue this work because of the difficulty in

obtaining human fetal lung tissue. Although we were unable to confirm this hypothesis we noticed ACTH inhibitory fractions in our lung extracts.

The first indication that anti-ACTH peptides might be present in the lung extracts came from the analysis by bioassay of corticosterone production from adrenal cells after the addition of Sep-Pak fractions containing ACTH activity (Fig. 3-2). It was noted that there was an unexpected fall in bioactivity in fraction eluted with 40-80% acetonitrile. One of the possible explanations for this repeated observation was that there was an inhibitor present in those fraction.

To test this possibility, an aliquot of $325 \ \mu$ l from the 40-80% acetonitrile fraction (equal to 1 gram of fetal lung tissue) was co-incubated with an increasing amount of ACTH in the rat adrenal cell bioassay and the results shown in Fig. 3-3 supported this assumption. Later trypsinization (Fig. 3-4) and heat resistance (data not shown here) studies showed that this factor(s) had lost its inhibitory activity after 3.5 hours trypsin digestion but was still active after 30 min incubation in a 100°C hot water bath.

In order to study further this inhibitory substance(s) we turned to a large scale isolation from rabbit fetal lung. Before doing so we had to improve our bioassay and determine how we could isolate these peptides by HPLC.

5.2. The Rat Adrenal Cell Bioassay

Radioimmunoassays have provided a fast, highly sensitive and selective post-column detection procedure for the chromatographic analysis of most known hormones. The problems associated with immunochemical techniques when dealing with unknown peptides are that it can only be used to determine known or some structurally closely related peptides, and in most case it cannot provide any information on the unknown's physiological activity. When studying a new factor or investigating a new physiological activity, the method of choice is the bioassay. In a bioassay the activity of a factor is studied on living tissue or cells. Physiological responses, such as secretion of another hormone or cell growth are monitored and physiologically useful data on secretion and mode of action can be obtained .

Most of the important discoveries in endocrine sciences have followed the establishment of a good sensitive, reliable bioassay.

To set up a new bioassay system and then to use it to pick up a new factor(s) is not easy and vary time consuming. The bioassay method we have successfully used and emphasize here is ED_{50} bioassay method which has a wide applicability. The difference between ED_{50} bioassay method and traditional bioassays is that in the traditional bioassay the cell is at a basal level and any factor which can increase the basal secretion or reduce

basal secretion can be monitored. In the traditional bioassay one cannot detect factors of two important categories, potentiator and antagonist. While in the ED₅₀ bioassay method basal secretion has been elevated to 50% of maximum by a stimulator, therefore it can detect antagonists and potentiators as well. The disadvantage of this method is high background, and low sensitivity to agonists.

The bioassay for corticostatic peptides is essentially the same as for the ACTH assay. The bioassay for ACTH was carried out first *in vivo* by measuring adrenal weight or histological changes (488), ascorbic acid or cholesterol depletion (489), or corticosterone output (490). The sensitivity was highest by measuring corticosterone output (25 pg) and lowest by measuring adrenal weight. *In vitro* bioassays for ACTH were first reported by Saffran and Schally (491) using adrenal quarters, then by Kloppenborg *et. al* (492) and Swallow & Sayers (493) using isolated adrenal cells. Relatively high concentrations of ACTH were needed to stimulate steroidoyenesis in rat adrenal quarters. This was due to tissue heterogeneity and uneven exposure of peptides to cells. The possibility of other factors from medullary cells responsible for this lack of sensitivity in using adrenal quarters bioassays cannot be excluded.

In the dispersed rat adrenal cell bioassay, both collagenase (492, 494) and trypsin (495, 469) can be used to lyse the collagen fibres and ground substance between the outer cellular

layers. The quality of commercially available collagenases has been improved dramatically, therefore the advantage of using the purer trypsin was lost. In addition, it may not be necessary to inhibit the dispersal enzyme with trypsin inhibitor as is the case for trypsin dispersal. Trypsin inhibitor has been shown to inhibit steroidcgenesis. Medullary cells are destroyed during the isolation procedure in the Sayer's method.

Sedimentation was suggested by Bennett et. al (471) to remove the cell debris thus increasing the apparent potency of ACTH and pre-incubation was proposed by Goverde et. al (473) as a means of further increasing the sensitivity of the bioassay.

In the present bioassay system, addition of trypsin inhibitor has been omitted and always keeping cells in the preoxygenated buffers at 37°C has been emphasized. These small modifications did not change the observed potency of ACTH, but improved the viability of cells, the reproducibility of the assay, and increased the corticosterone production therefore increasing the sensitivity of the assay.

In the ED₅₀ bioassay method, 150 pg/ml ACTH was added to each tube except where an ACTH dose-response curve was constructed. It has been found that the control tubes with 150 pg/ml ACTH should be placed at least every 10 tubes when the total exceed 100 tubes. This is in order to correct for the time difference when adding the reagents in both bioassay and

radioimmunoassay procedures.

As with any cell dispersal or culture method, certain precautions have to be taken. Adrenal glands should be removed immediately after decapitation of rats. The enzymatic activity of collagenase changes from one batch to another, or even during the time of storage, so the amount of enzyme should be adjusted to meet the minimum requirement. This can be achieved by addition of mechanical dispersal at 30 or 45 min of the 1 hour incubation time especially in when using a new batch of collagenase. A shorter or longer than 1 hour of incubation time required for enzymatic dispersal of quartered adrenal glands always indicates the necessity to decrease or increase the amount of collagen used in the experiments. The cells should be treated as gently, and as fast as possible during the entire cell preparation. The temperature in the bioassay has to be controlled at 37°C or a little below. Temperatures higher than 38°C should be avoided at all costs.

The lowest amount of ACTH that could be detected in our assay system was 1 to 3 pg/ml (data not shown here), and ED_{50} was at approximately 150 pg/ml, and reached a plateau at about 740 pg/ml (Fig. 3-5). The maximal corticosterone response to ACTH stimulation could change from one assay to another. This is due to the variations in the conditions of the animal such as the degree of stress before decapitation, and the method of handling the cells, the temperature of incubation, the gas phase

condition, and even the counting of cells and the radioimmunoassay of corticosterone. The value of the maximal response to ACTH stimulation in our bioassay system was around $300 \div 700$ ng corticosterone/2 x 10^5 cells / 2h and most of results obtained have been normalized as % of maximal corticosterone production.

5.3 Isolation and Identification of Corticostatic Peptides.

5.3.1. Peptide Extraction and Purification

During the course of isolation most peptides are susceptible to proteolytic enzyme degradation. The risk of purifying a peptide that has been generated artificially during the extraction process is very high. The acidic extraction medium at 4°C (homogenization medium) we used, first described by Bennett et al (496) is the most efficient way of inhibiting peptidase activity during the first stages of isolation. Furthermore, most of the large proteins are insoluble in this medium and may be removed by centrifugation. The peptides in the supernatant are simultaneously concentrated, desalted and deproteinized by adsorption onto ODS-silica cartridges. Small peptides are able to penetrate the pores of ODS-silica, whereas protein are usually excluded and salts are too polar to be retained. Peptides bound to the ODS-silica cartridge can be recovered by elution with non-polar solvent, 80% acetonitrile

or roughly fractionated by a series of solvent in the order of increasing hydrophobicity. This methodology represents a general approach for the extraction and isolation of peptides.

The eluate from the ODS-silica cartridge usually in 80% acetonitrile containing 0.1% TFA can be stored safely at below -20°C for a long time. At this low pH, in a non-polar solvent and in the cold, most of the peptidases are not active. The eluate cannot be injected onto reversed-phase HPLC columns directly unless the acetonitrile concentration is below 2%. This can be achieved by dilution with aqueous buffer or by evaporation of acetonitrile under vacuum.

The reversed-phase HPLC has been proven to be the best method for the chromatographic separation of peptides (for a review see ref. 497). This is primarily due to the its versatility and its ability to resolve peptides exhibiting very minor differences in structure. There are other advantages of using reversed-phase such as the efficiency, speed and the high reproducibility. The reversed-phase HPLC system used in the present studies employed solvent systems which are completely volatile. Thus following direct drying, the use of radioimmunosassay, bioassay and amino acid analysis on column eluates could be undertaken. The hydrophobic interactions of peptides with ODS-silica packing material are enhanced by using a pH below the pKa of carboxylic groups and the ion-pairing agents (TFA or HFBA) to minimize the polarity of free amino

.

.

groups. Thus the relative elution position of peptides depends to a large extent on the number of positive charges and hydrophobic residues. The counter-ion HFBA, is stronger hydrophobic ion-pairing reagent than TFA and maximizes the retention of basic peptides. Both TFA and HFBA systems have high solvating power, and are completly volatile, while TFA is more UV transparent than HFBA. This is the reason why TFA is used more often than HFBA especially during the final step of purification.

5.3.2. Recovery of Peptides in the Initial Protocol

The recovery of peptides when using reversed-phase HPLC methods is variable and depends on the individual peptide, the amount of peptide and the purity of the peptide. The main source of losses are non-specific adsorption of peptide to glass or plastic surfaces.

The discovery of the existence of corticostatic peptides in the fetal rabbit lung extracts was made essentially by chance. As I mentioned earlier HFBA was more UV absorbing at 210 than TFA, therefore TFA is used more often than HFBA, especially with ODS-silica cartridge extraction or fractionation. There was no particular reason to use HFBA buffer in the first instance (Fig. 3-2), since we did not know the peptides would turn out to be so basic in nature. The only reason for using HFBA buffer was its availability (my double distilled water for making new TFA

buffer was not ready yet at that time). Fortunately corticostatic peptides can only be separated from the main peak of ACTH by C_{18} Sep-Pak in the HFBA system, otherwise it will be eluted mainly in the fraction of 0-30% acetonitrile and some of them will be in the fraction of 30-35% acetonitrile in the TFA system, therefore we might not have found the ACTH or corticostatins so readily.

Because of the extremely basic nature of these peptides, they do not behave in the manner expected for most peptides. The retention time of these peptides was not constant in the RP-HPLC system. The retention time shifted from a low percentage of acetonitrile (15% in Fig. 3-5) to a higher percentage of acetonitrile when the peptide became purer (Fig. 3-8). This was due primarily to the protein-protein interaction which can only be noticed when local concentrations of proteins are high and the peptide being purified is highly charged.

The efficiency of purification of corticostatic peptides by reversed-phase HPLC largely depends on the way the sample is handled and the quantity of the material present. In general, corticostatic peptides are very sticky because they are so basic and easily adsorb to glass or plastic surfaces. This property made purification very difficult at first. We failed to realize this, but learned to do rapid purifications and to avoid the complete evaporation of solvents from samples which is very important for their recovery. The evidence of the adsorption of

the corticostatins to the plastic surfaces of the test tubes used was realized by finding that there was very high corticostatic activity in the "empty tubes", which had been washed with the aqueous buffer at least three times, in the rat adrenal cell bioassay.

The recoveries of corticostatic peptides was also improved by using polypropylene tubes and by adding carrier protein such as BSA. The maximum recoveries were achieved while purifying in the 10 to 200 μ g range of peptide.

The other characteristic of CSI is related to its high content of arginines (9 out of 34 amino acids). During reversedphase HPLC the concentration of acetonitrile at which the pure CSI elutes in two counter-ion systems (i.e. TFA and HFBA) are very different. CSI was eluted at 35 to 42% of acetonitrile in the HFBA system, while it was eluted relatively early at 15 to 22% of acetonitrile in the TFA system. The range of difference of acetonitrile concentration indicated here was caused by the age of the column. The older the column being used, the lower the elution concentration of acetonitrile needed to elute CSI. This relatively big difference in these two counter-ion system did cause some problems in the first two trials when we missed scanning the very beginning part of the HPLC run in the rat adrenal cell bioassay because the elution time was much earlier in the TFA system than we had predicted from its elution time in the HFBA system. We soon took advantage of this property.

4

ų,

á

We used a very shallow gradient running from 12% to 25% acetonitrile for 2 hours from 60 to 180 min in the first TFA purification as shown in Fig. 3-6. The most abundant inhibitory materials with retention time of 72-96 min was further purified in HFBA system with a steep jump in gradient for the first 30 min to clute most of the peptides followed by a relatively shallow gradient from 32 to 56% acetonitrile for the next 60 min (Fig. 3-7). The corticostatic peptides eluted at а concentration of 38% acetonitrile beyond most of the proteins thereby effecting a large degree of purification. The purpose of using a relatively steep gradient at the beginning of this HPLC purification step was to reduce the sample size later on in the rat adrenal cell bioassay. The aliquot sizes taken for the rat adrenal cell bioassay should be as much as one could afford, that is, there should be enough material left for later bioassay and sequence studies. Here we took 100 μ l in duplicates from the fist HPLC purification corresponding to 6 g of fetal lung tissue and 100 μ l in duplicates again from the second HPLC purification because we knew, from the results of Fig. 3-3 and Fig. 3-4, that extracts equal to 1 gram of tissue would be sufficient to suppress totally the corticosterone release stimulated by 100 pg/ml ACTH. We also took into account the recovery during HPLC and peak spreading into several fractions. The chromatogram of the third purification step shown in Fig. 3-8 indicated the necessity of carrying out further

44

purification. We used gel permeation HPLC purification and successfully obtaining a uniform peak as shown in Fig. 3-9. The amino acid analysis of this material indicated that the peptide was homogeneous (Table 3-1). This purified material was sent to Dr. Fred Esch's laboratory at the Salk Institute, San Diego, Calif. for a gas-phase sequence analysis and the following sequence was obtained: Gly-Ile-Cys-Ala-Cys-Arg-Arg-Arg-Phe-Cys-Pro-Asn-Ser-Glu-Arg-Phe-Ser-Gly-Tyr-Cys-Arg-Val-Asn-Gly-Ala-Arg-Tyr-Val-Arg-Cys-Cys-Ser-Arg-Arg. This peptides was named corticostatin (CSI) because of its ability to inhibit the action of ACTH. In order to obtain a large amount of purified CSI for further investigation we modified the purification protocol.

5.3.3. Separation into Basic, Acidic, and Neutral Fraction.

The second protocol that was developed employed CM (carboxymethyl)-silica cartridges as a step between ODS-silica cartridge extraction and reversed-phase HPLC. The use of ionexchange Sep-Pak cartridges in the batch fractionation of tissue extracts was first introduced by Bennett (466). The CM-silica cartridge is a weak cation-exchanger. The capacity to bind peptide was well correlated with the theoretical charge calculated for a variety of peptides at a given pH. The binding ability of the cartridge for peptides was largely dependent on the total ion strength of the mobile phase including the peptides themselves. The stronger the ion strength, the weaker

1

the binding. The capability to bind could change slightly from one batch of Sep-Paks to another so the ion strength or pH needs to be adjusted to achieve the best results. In order to decrease other types of interactions which can cause poor recovery, 20% all buffer acetonitrile was added to systems (466).Theoretically peptides bound on the CM-silica cartridges can be recovered by elution with low pH buffer such as 20% acetonitrile in 0.1% TFA, but in the present studies the use of low pH buffer results in very poor recovery. This is due to low dissociation rate for corticostatic peptides such as CSI with 9 arginines being released from the resin. With the use of a 50 mM Tris buffer containing 1 M NaCl and 20% acetonitrile a better recovery was realized. Eluates were then desalted by ODS-silica cartridges. Direct injection of eluates with high concentrations of NaCl onto reversed-phase HPLC column would shorten column life, and should be avoided.

Corticostatins were fractionated into a basic pool such that they could be purified to homogeneity in a single step (in some cases in two steps) by reversed-phase HPLC. The results as shown in Fig. 3-15 are typical examples illustrates the facilitation of the purification after using the CM-silica cartridge as a step between ODS-silica cartridge extraction and reversed-phase HPLC. This could also be when we compared the HPLC profiles of fetal rabbit lung extracts without using CM cation exchange (see Fig. 3-6) and using CM cation exchange (see Fig. 3-12a).

There were four major peaks corresponding to the four corticostatic peptides in Fig. 3-15. Although they appeared to be asymmetric, the next reversed-phase HPLC (see Fig. 3-16) demonstrated the first CSI peak only had some contamination at the beginning and at the end of the peak and it had already reached 90% purity. The purity of other three peaks were much higher. They had slight contamination at the begining and end of each peak (data not shown here). The asymmetric shape of these peaks was caused by their high polar properties especially when using the HFBA system. These four peptide were all purified to a homogenous form after the second reversed-phase HPLC in the TFA system. Following reduction and alkylation of these peptides their sequences determined were by the gas-phase microsequencing.

5.4. Tissues that Contain CSI

The retention time of CSI in reversed-phase HPLC purification depends not only on the concentration of acetonitrile but also on protein-protein interaction especially in dealing with cationic (CSI) and anionic peptide interactions. This property makes it very difficult and time consuming to screen tissues with reversed-phase HPLC, followed by the rat adrenal cell bioassay methods because the protein composition is markedly in different tissues. A fast purification step using the pre-column

treatment of samples was desperately needed at that time in order to obtain relatively constant retention time. The use of CM cation exchange made it possible to scan the tissues that contain CSI, because acidic and neutral peptides had been excluded by this method before HPLC purification. As we discussed previously we could even visualize the peak fractions in the chromatogram of the first HPLC purification. This greatly facilitated our studies at that time since an antiserum against CSI was not available yet. The sensitivity of the quantitation by HPLC was limited by the sensitivity of the UV detector. The lowest amount of peptides which could be visualized was approximately 1 to 4 μ g in our reversed-phase HPLC system.

Using this method we scanned fetal rabbit lungs, adult rabbit lungs, rabbit peritoneal neutrophils (see Fig. 3-12 a, b, and c), adult rabbit heart, kidney, and liver (see Fig. 3-13 a, b, and c). We were surprised to find that adult rabbit lungs contain the largest amount of CSI like substances because we speculated at that time that CSI was an important regulator of fetal adrenai grands but not in the adult life. Neutrophils contained the highest concentration of CSI. CSI was undetectable in heart, kidney and liver extracts using this methods.

The distribution of CSI in the rabbit was studied later on by radioimmunoassay using a polyclonal antibody raised against CSI as described in the methods section. The results are shown in the Table 5-1. Of interest was that the CSI content had been

found in the central nervous system and they were unevenly distributed. This phenomenon is currently under the investigation in our laboratory.

Tissues	CSI	(ng/g tissue)
Spleen	21	
Plasma	40	(ng/ml)
Liver	86	
Kidney	108	
Heart	158	
Brain	165	
Adrenal	619	
Lung	1810	
Bone Marrow	202000	(ng/two femur
		bone)
Pituitary	9590	
Cerebrum	27	
Corpus	43	
Cerebellum	97	
Thalamus	164	
Pons, medulla		
Oblongata	482	
Hypothalami	682	

Table 5-1 CSI levels in the rabbit tissues

5.5 Corticostatic Peptides in the Immune System

5.5.1. Corticostatic Peptides from Neutrophils

The rationale for scanning the CSI content in rabbit neutrophils resulted from a computer search of the Protein Identification Resource of the National Biomedical Research Foundation (Georgetown University, Washington, DC) which revealed that a few months earlier, Selsted et al (478) had

í

found the same peptide in rabbit peritoneal neutrophils. We purified the first four peaks shown in Fig. 3-12c (from retention time 31 to 47 min) by using the exactly same gradients and counter-ions described in the legends to Fig. 3-7, and Fig. 3-8 when we purified the CSI from rabbit fetal lungs extracts. The gas-phase sequence analysis of these purified peptides confirmed that they had the same structures as the ones we purified from adult rabbit lungs. Since lung contains a large amount of neutrophils, the peptides we purified from rabbit fetal and adult lung might come from the neutrophils in the these tissues. We are now trying to identify the cell types in which contain CSI cells the lung tissue using immunocytochemistry techniques.

5.5.2. The Possible Role of CSI in the Interaction of the HPA Axis and the Immune System

The fact that the corticostatins are immune system derived factors makes this project very interesting. As was pointed out in the introduction, the HPA axis and the immune system have bi-directional communication. It has been well established that glucocorticoids exert a negative control over the immune system; and that macrophage derived-IL-1 or IL-6 and possibly other cytokines act as potent CRF releasing factors in the hypothalamus and pituitary. This immune and endocrine bidirectional regulation can explain nicely the old observation

that glucocorticoids cause monocytopenia, and lymphocytopenia (498, 499) (see Fig. 5-1 a and b). However it became difficult to explain another effect of glucocorticoids, that is, that glucocorticoids stimulate neutrophil egress from bone marrowstores and causes neutrophilic leukocytosis (500) (see Fig. 5-2). The real physiological significance of the increased number of neutrophils in the blood circulation upon the stimulation of glucocorticoids is still unknown. The discovery of the Anti-ACTH activity of the corticostatins in the neutrophils may help explain these findings.

A possible relationship between the immune and endocrine system during the inflammation process has been postulated as follows. As mentioned in the introduction, there are a variety of stimuli that can activate the HPA axis. Very often trauma or infection will cause an increase in glucocorticoid secretion from the adrenal glands. This is not a process mediated by IL-1 or IL-6 since the macrophages or monocytes have not been fully activated during this initial time period. The increased glucocorticoid levels at this first stage is very important. It directs the body into an emergency status (for a review see ref. increasing the number of neutrophils in the blood 7), circulation which are new ready for the later inflammation process. This is the most critical time for the body to survive. In the second stage, the increased glucocorticoids play a negative feed-back role on the hypothalamus. Concurrently it is

possible that and the corticostatic peptides secreted from the neutrophils or escaping from the destroyed neutrophils exert their corticostatic activity to counter act the ACTH action on the adrenals and to ensure a lowered glucocorticoid secretion. A lower glucocorticoid circulatory level is critical for the normal immune response to take place. Third, the leukocyte, particularly neutrophil polymorphs, and to a lesser extent macrophages, migrate out of the capillaries and into the surrounding tissue and an acute inflammation response begins. In the fourth stage, the activated macrophages secrete IL-1 which triggers the immune response process into taking place. In the last stage, the increased levels of IL-1 activate the hypothalamic CRF cells resulting in the higher levels of glucocorticoids in the blood circulation which in turn suppress the IL-1 synthesis and secretion and slow down the immune response process in instances where an over active immune system will do harm to the body.



Fig. 5-1. The effect of corticosteroid administration on absolute circulating (a) lymphocy : and (b) monocyte counts. Subjects received a single dose of either hydrocortisone (\blacksquare , 320 mg, i.v.) prednisone (Δ , 80 mg, p.o.) or dexamethasone (o, 12 mg p.o.). There were eight subjects in each treatment group. Each data point represents the mean (\pm s.e.m.) counts at various time intervals following corticosteroid administration (copied from ref. 499)

į



Fig. 5-2. The effect of various doses of intravenous hydrocortisone administration on absolute circulating PMN counts. The point shown are mean values for groups of the sizes indicated in the parentheses (copied from ref. 500).
In some instances in the first step, the increased glucocorticoid secretion in the circulation does not appear, however the concentration of neutrophils in the blood still appear to rise faster than other leukocytes and this is in part because other factors such as bacterial endotoxin (501) will also cause an increase of neutrophils in the blood. Its anti-ACTH, corticostatic peptides found in neutrophils may suppress the glucocorticoids secretion and assure that the normal immune response will take place.

Large amounts of CSI has been found in the blood circulation of surgical infected rabbits. In some infected rabbits, CSI levels were as high as 300 to 500 ng/ml (data is not shown here). This is not surprising if we consider the fact that neutrophils represent about 60-70% of the total normal blood leucocyte content and they are produced in the bone marrow at a rate of eighty million per minute with a short half life of 2 to 3 days.

The negative control of the immune system over HPA axis has been known for quite sometime. The variations in adrenocortical responsiveness has been reported in surgical patients (502) and in patients with severe bacterial infections (503). Corticostatins may in part be responsible for these phenomenona Several other inhibitory factors recently reported including murine macrophage factors (454, 455), TGFB (458, 459) may also contribute to this negative control. However, these negative

mediators of the HPA axis are derived mainly from monocyte and macrophages and their effects may be negated by positive mediators such as IL-1. The detailed mechanisms of how these regulators work together will be the subject of further investigations.

5.6. The Mechanism of Action of CSI

The mechanism of the anti-ACTH action of corticostatins has been studied extensively. The knowledge of its antimicrobial activity reported by Selsted et al five months before we obtained the CSI sequence raised the question as to whether the corticostatic activity was due to its cytotoxic activity. We used the Trypan Blue exclusion method to compare the viability of the cells in the absence of CSI and in the presence of an increasing dose of CSI after two hours incubation. We did not find any significant difference in the presence or the absence of CSI. These experimental results were shown in table 4-1. We also compared the activities of the corticostatic agents and found the following rank order of potency, CSI>CSII>CSIII>CSIV (see Fig. 3-17). Their order of antimicrobial activity was found to be CSIII2CSIV>CSI2CSII according to the data of Levitz et al. (479). These activities are not related to each other. The idea that the anti-ACTH activity of CSI was not due to its cytotoxic activity was further supported by the facts that CSI only

suppressed ACTH-induced corticosterone, aldosterone and cAMP release (see Fig. 4-1) but was unable to suppress the action of other adrenal stimulators such as angiotensin II (see Fig. 4-3), db-cAMP (see Fig. 4-5), forskolin (see Fig. 4-6) and cholera toxin (see Fig. 4-7).

The other important thing we could establish was the specificity of CSI action. Since CSI could suppress ACTHstimulated aldosterone production as well as corticosterone production, we wondered whether CSI could inhibit angiotensin II stimulated aldosterone. To our surprise CSI did not affect aldosterone formation stimulated by angiotensin II in rat zona glomerulosa cells as shown in Fig. 4-3 but it did in inhibit ACTH stimulated aldosterone production. This indicated that CSI only acted on ACTH stimulated processes. We then turned to the study of the mechanism on its inhibitory action. Our approach was based on the current knowledge of the trans-membrane signalling system in the adrenal cell.

Cyclic-AMP has been demonstrated to be an intracellular mediator of steroidogenesis (for a review see ref. 504). This concept was based on the following observations. First, the characteristics of the dynamic responses of steroidogensis and cyclic AMP to ACTH stimulation, such as the time to reach maximum output rates, the initial stimulatory rates as well as the subsequent decay rates, were very similar (504). Second, exogenously added cyclic AMP, or its derivatives could mimic the

action of ACTH in terms of steroidogenesis (for reviews see ref Third, Rae et al. (506) demonstrated that the adenylate 505). cyclase and protein-kinase-deficient mutant strains of Y-1 mouse tumor adrenocortical cells totally lost response to ACTH stimulation. Very recently, in elegant studies, Wong et al. (507) demonstrated that protein kinase defective (Kin 8) Y-1 cells concomitantly recovered steroidogenic and morphologic 8-bromo-cAMP, after being responsiveness to ACTH- and transfected with an expression vector encoding the catalytic subunit of cAMP-dependent protein kinase. The interesting question we first tried to answer was whether CSI exerted its anti-ACTH activity through a cAMP mediated mechanism, and if so was it prior to CAMP or after CAMP. The experiments shown in Fig. 4-1 strongly suggested that CSI exert its corticostatic action through cAMP mediated mechanism since CSI could suppress ACTH-stimulated CAMP accumulation as well as corticosterone production. We confirmed this using a cAMP derivative db-cAMP to stimulate corticosterone production in the rat adrenal cell bioassay. In this experiment, a total of 1 μ g/ml CSI was coincubated with an increasing dose of db-cAMP (see Fig. 4-5), in the same design we used in the experiments shown in Fig. 4-1. significant difference There were no in the amount of corticosterone released in the presence or in the absence of the CSI. Therefore the site of action of CSI must be prior to the cAMP step in the membrane transduction signal.

Salarian Contenter Sanch

The adenylate cyclase which catalyzes the cAMP formation was the next possible site at which CSI might act. This was tested by checking the effect of CSI on forskolin, an adenylate cyclase stimulator, which stimulates corticosterone production. Although the results shown in Fig. 4-6 had a very big standard deviations, which was caused by the difficulty in preparing accurate forskolin concentrations because of the low solubility of this reagent in aqueous buffer, it still can be seen that there was no significant difference between the corticosterone production in the presence and in the absence of 1 μ g/ml CSI. These results suggested that CSI did not act directly on adenylate cyclase.

It is now well established that there is another protein called G protein in the membrane signal transduction pathway between the hormone receptor and adenylate cyclase (for a recent review see ref. 508). G-proteins are membrane-associated heterotrimeric proteins composed of α -, β -, and τ -subunits (483). It is now generally accepted that G-protein undergoes an activation cycle when interacting with receptors and effector enzymes such as adenylate cyclase. The α -subunit of G-proteins contains the guanine nucleotide-binding site which has an intrinsic GTPase activity that slowly hydrolyzes bound GTP for GDP. In the non-activated state, the guanine nucleotide-binding site is occupied by GDP. In the presence of an appropriate hormone such as ACTH, hormone-receptor complexes activates C-

proteins by catalyzing the exchange of bound GDP for GTP. This leads to the dissociation of the $\beta\tau$ -subunit complex from α -GTP complex. The α -GTP complex in turn regulates the activity of adenylate cyclase. The bound GTP will be hydrolyzed by the α subunit and the α -GDP complex then reassociates with $\beta\tau$ -subunit reforming an inactive heterotrimer. Cholera toxin is an ADPribosylating enzyme, that uses NAD as a substrate to covalently modify a specific residue (i.e. Arg 201) (509) in the α -subunits of G stimulatory proteins, resulting in the inhibition of α subunit's GTPase activity. The consequence of this GTPase inactivation is the accumulation of the active form of α_s -GTP complexes which leads to constitutive activation of adenylate cyclase. The corticosterone release response of the adrenal cell to cholera toxin stimulation is much slower, almost a 1 hour delay, than that to the ACTH stimulation (510). Our results were consistent with this as the maximal response of corticosterone production to the cholera toxin stimulation was only half of the maximal response to ACTH stimulation during a 2 hour incubation period. We did not find any effect on the corticosterone response when co-incubating 1 μ g/ml of CSI and an increasing dose of cholera toxin with the rat adrenal cells as shown in Fig. 4-4-7.

Pertussis toxin like cholera toxin is also an ADPribosylating enzyme using NAD as substrate. It acts to covalently modify cysteine residues, four amino acids from the

C-terminal (511, 512) in the α -subunits of G inhibitory proteins resulting in the uncoupling G-protein activation (513). The role of G_i protein in the adrenal glands is still not clear. Pertussis toxin was found to be able to suppress the inhibitory effect of vasopressin on ACTH-induced cAMP production by Y-1 cells (514) and enhance the potentiating effect of angiotensin II on ACTH- and cholera toxin- induced cAMP production on cultured bovine adrenal cells between 0 and 3 days of culture (515). We tested the possibility that a G_i protein might be involved in the corticostatic function of CSI by comparising the corticostatic activity of CSI in the absence and in the presence of 100 ng/ml of pertussis toxin. We found no significant difference between these two curves as shown in Fig. 4-8. Therefore, the site where CSI might act, must be prior to the G-proteins, somewhere on the ACTH receptor.

5.7. ACTH Receptor Binding Studies.

The clue that CSI might be a competitive inhibitor of ACTH came from an early experiment in which the weight ratio of CSI and ACTH was fixed at 533 (molar ratio was 600) as shown in Fig. 4-2. In this manner, the corticosterone response decreased to about 50-60% of maximal and remained at this level regardless of the continued increase of ACTH as well as CSI. The direct evidence that CSI was a competitive inhibitor of ACTH could only

be obtained from ACTH receptor binding studies. The interaction of ACTH with specific ACTH receptors on the adrenocortical cell membrane itself remained a controversial issue. The recognition of ACTH in adrenocortical steroidogenesis was made as early as 1955 by Li and co-workers who isolated ACTH from the pituitary, and the discovery of the control of adrenal glands by the pituitary was made even earlier in 1927 by Smith.

A number of reports from various laboratories (516-519) have claimed that binding sites of both high affinity ($K_d = 0.25$ nM) and low affinity ($K_d = 10$ nM) sites were observed and that there was a correlation between occupancy of the high affinity binding sites and stimulation of steroidogenesis. The difficulty encountered in solving this issue was to prepare an uniform and fully biologically active radio-iodinated ACTH (520). Studies from Dr. Ramachandran laboratory indicated that ¹²⁵I-Phe²,Nle⁴ ACTH₁₋₃₈ could be used as it had the same biological potency as ACTH in stimulating steroidogenesis (521). Using this labelled analogue Ramachandran and colleagues were able to show that there was only one type of saturable, high affinity ($K_d = 1.41$ nM) binding site (477).

We chosen Ramachandran's ACTH receptor assay system to study the binding of the CSI molecule after comparing the biological activity of Phe^2 , Nle^4 ACTH₁₋₃₈ and $^{125}I-Phe^2$, Nle^4 ACTH₁₋₃₈ with natural ACTH₁₋₃₉ and $^{125}I-ACTH$. The amount of biologically active $^{125}I-ACTH$ found after reversed-phase HPLC purification by our

iodination method was extremely small and for unexplained reasons the material became biologically inactive very rapidly. The half-life was estimated to be less than 20 min (data not shown here) so it was impossible for us to check its biological activity prior to ACTH receptor assay and therefore it was not a suitable radiolabeled ligand to be used to study CSI competition. Compared with natural ACTH, ¹²⁵I-Phe², Nle⁴ ACTH₁₋₃₈ was a much better ligand with full biologically activity and structural stability. However we found it was still necessary to use freshly iodinated material and to purify ¹²⁵I-Phe², Nle⁴ ACTH₁₋₃₈ each time before doing receptor studies. As shown in Fig. 4-9 CSI, ACTH₆₋₂₄ and ACTH₁₋₃₉ were all able to displace ¹²⁵I-Phe², Nle⁴ ACTH₁₋₃₈. Interestingly the potency of CSI in inhibiting the binding of the labelled ACTH analogue lies between ACTH₁₋₃₀ and $ACTH_{6-24}$. CSI was able to displace 175 pM of ¹²⁵I- [Phe², Nle⁴] ACTH_{1.38} in the range of 10 nM to 250 nM, with about 12 times less potency than hACTH₁₋₃₉ and 1.7 times more potency than ACTH₆. 24. ACTH .- 24 is a synthetic ACTH antagonist synthesized in The laboratory (485). ability to displace Schwyzer's radiolabeled ligand by CSI and ACTH₆₋₂₄ correlates very well with their ability to suppress corticosterone synthesis as shown in Fig. 4-10. As we previously discussed in order to maintain 50 to 60% inhibition of the corticosterone response to ACTHstimulation, we had to keep the CSI concentration at about 533 fold weight ratio (600 fold molar ratio) higher than the ACTH

concentration. We also demonstrated that the potency for $ACTH_{1}$. ₃₉ was only 12 times higher than that of CSI displacement. This is due in part to the fact that the maximal corticosterone response to ACTH stimulation only requires about 5% of receptor occupancy. If we suppose that CSI or $ACTH_{6.24}$ have occupied 50% of the total receptor population there are still half of the receptor sites available for ACTH. Theoretical doubling the amount of ACTH will overcome this CSI inhibitory effect.

5.8. ACTH Structure and the Dual Site Calcium Channel Form ACTH Receptor.

The structural requirement for the ACTH molecule to exert its adrenal corticotropic hormone activity has been studied by testing dozens of ACTH analogues, derivatives, and fragments in the adrenal cell preparations (505). There is a lot of controversy with respect to the steroidogenic activity of some of these synthetic fragments and analogues. This controversy is believed to be due in part to the use of adrenal tissues from different species and to the use of different incubation conditions, such as different Ca²⁺ concentrations, which have been proven to be crucial for the activity of some of the analogues such as ACTH_{6.39} which acts as an antagonist at low Ca²⁺ concentration and as an agonist at high Ca²⁺ concentration (522).

The structural studies of the ACTH molecule by Evans et al.

÷ 1

(523) Schwyzer et al. (524) Bristow et al., Buckley & Ramachandran and other investigators (525) have contributed to the following concepts:

1. ACTH₁₋₃₉ can first be divided into two parts, $ACTH_{1-24}$ and $ACTH_{25-39}$. $ACTH_{1-24}$ possess full biological activity associated with $ACTH_{1-39}$ and even more potent than the native hormone in vitro assays using isolated adrenal cells (470, 471, 473). Attachment of the C-terminal $ACTH_{25-39}$ enhances the antigenicity and prolongs the half life of $ACTH_{1-39}$ in the bloodstream.

2. The first four or five amino acids from N terminal side potentiate the activity of ACTH; from five or six to nine amino acid residues of ACTH molecule are essential for its ACTH activity.

3. The amino acid sequence 11 to 18 is important for the binding to adrenal cortex cells and therefore this region has been called the address region. Within this region, the residues 15-18 containing the sequence Lys-Lys-Arg-Arg are particularly important in the binding of the hormone to the adrenal cell ACTH receptor. The ability of ACTH analogues to bind to the ACTH receptor is proportional to the positive charge associated with this region (526, 527, 477).

In order to find out with which ACTH region the CSI molecule competes for ACTH receptor binding, we added a fixed amount of CSI (1 μ g/ml) to increasing concentrations of ACTH₁₋₂₄, ACTH₁₋₁₈ amide, and ACTH₁₋₁₃ amide in the rat adrenal cell system. What we

found was the following: CSI was able to inhibit $ACTH_{1-24}$ (data not shown here) and $ACTH_{1-18}$ amide-stimulated corticosterone production (see Fig. 4-12) but there was no inhibition of $ACTH_{1-13}$ amide-stimulated corticosterone production (see Fig. 4-12). These results demonstrated that CSI competes mainly with amino acids 14-18 for binding to the ACTH receptor.

Very recently Li et al. (528) reported that $ACTH_{1-10}$ and $ACTH_{11-24}$ were both biologically active with almost equal potency in terms of stimulation of cortisol production in bovine adrenal cell cultures. They also claimed that both $ACTH_{1-10}$ and $ACTH_{11-24}$ could only elicit about 50% of the $ACTH_{1-24}$ response and that $ACTH_{1-10}$ and $ACTH_{11-24}$ were additive in the stimulation of cortisol production. With the aid of forskolin and calcium channel blockers, they suggested that there were two receptors mediating $ACTH_{1-24}$ -stimulated steroid secretion: one class of receptor recognized $ACTH_{1-10}$ but not $ACTH_{11-24}$ and was linked to the cAMP messenger pathway, other class of receptor recognized $ACTH_{11-24}$ and was not linked to the cAMP messenger pathway.

We are in favour of the concept that only one kind of ACTH receptor mediates $ACTH_{1-24}$ or $ACTH_{1-39}$ stimulated steroidogenesis and this is linked to the cAMP messenger pathway. This is because: CSI specifically competes with the ACTH 14-18 sequence for its binding site to the ACTH receptor. If there were two receptors mediating $ACTH_{1-24}$ or $ACTH_{1-39}$ -dependent steroid secretion, CSI could not suppress ACTH-stimulated cAMP

accumulation and could only partly suppress corticosterone secretion. In contrast, even though CSI was unable to suppress ACTH₁₋₁₃ amide-stimulated corticosterone production (see Fig. 4-11), CSI was able to inhibit all ACTH₁₋₃₉ actions, namely, stimulation of corticosterone production, cAMP accumulation and aldosterone production (4-1) and CSI could totally suppress ACTH-stimulated corticosterone production when the concentration of CSI was high enough (see Fig. 3-10).

Further evidence, supporting dual receptor mechanisms of ACTH come from receptor binding studies. As mentioned earlier, there are a substantial number of reports from several laboratories (516-518), using ¹²⁵I-ACTH, which demonstrate that there are two kinds of binding site, high affinity ($K_d = 0.25$ nM) and low affinity (K_d = 10 nM). The dissociation constants reported from these laboratories were reasonably close. Based on the observation of two populations of binding sites, many models have been proposed, such as dual receptors for ACTH as discussed above, dual sites within a single receptor molecule, negative cooperativity, dimeric receptors, or a tertiary receptor with interaction of the receptor with another membrane protein (see review, 480). However, using ¹²⁵I-Phe²,Nle⁴ ACTH₁₋₃₈ which had the same biological potency as ACTH in stimulating steroidogenesis (477) Ramachandran and colleagues demonstrated that there was only one type of saturable, high affinity ($K_d = 1.41$ nM) binding sites (477).

In trial experiments we found that ¹²⁵I-Phe², Nle⁴ ACTH₁₋₃₈ was superior in many respects to ¹²⁵I-ACTH₁₋₃₀. First, ¹²⁵I-Phe², Nle⁴ ACTH_{1.38} was fully biologically active with the same potency as non-iodinated Phe², Nle⁴ ACTH_{1.38} and natural ACTH_{1.30} in our assay system. Second it was much more stable than ¹²⁵I-ACTH_{1.39}, even though we still found it necessary to iodinate it freshly and purify the $^{125}I-Phe^2$, Nle⁴ ACTH₁₋₃₈ tracer immediately before use. In contrast to this, $^{125}I-ACTH_{1.30}$ was much less potent than ACTH₁ 30 and had a very short half-life for reasons unknown. We postulated that ¹²⁵I-ACTH_{1.30} used these ACTH receptor binding studies but it was still a mixture of products. The impurity of ¹²⁵I-ACTH₁₋₃₀ might be caused by poor chromatography which was unable to separate fully biologically active forms, such as ¹²⁵I-Tyr²³-ACTH_{1.30}, from partly biologically active forms, such as ¹²⁵I-Tyr²-ACTH₁₋₃₉. Impurities of ¹²⁵I-ACTH₁₋₃₉ might form after chromatography and give rise to its short half-life. For instance the methionine residue at position four from N-terminal side may be oxidized by trace amount of ¹²⁵I which can possibly detach from the $^{125}I-Tyr^{23}-ACTH_{1-39}$ or simply be there through contamination. When the mixture is used in ACTH receptor binding studies, $^{125}I-Tyr^{23}-ACTH_{1-30}$ would bind to the receptor with K_d close to K_d of ¹²⁵I-Phe², Nle⁴ ACTH_{1.38}, while ¹²⁵I-Tyr²-ACTH_{1.39} or other forms would bind to the ACTH receptor with a K_d close to the K_d of $ACTH_{6-24}$ or CSI.

The other equally important issue in the ACTH receptor

۲.

debate is the role of Ca^{2*} in ACTH stimulated-steroidogenesis. It has been known for long time and repeatedly confirmed by many investigators including ourselves (date not shown here), that the extracellular Ca^{2*} is crucial for the ACTH activity. Adding sufficient EGTA or EDTA in the medium could totally abolish the ACTH effect. The concentration of extracellular Ca^{2*} will effect not only the potency of ACTH and ACTH analogs but also the maximal steroid production. It appears to be that the influx of Ca^{2*} from the extracellular fluid is necessary for ACTH biological action. Recently, using ¹²⁵I-Phe²,Nle⁴ ACTH₁₋₃₈ and a photoreactive derivative of ACTH, Ramachandran *et al.* (529) demonstrated that extracellular Ca^{2*} was absolutely required for the binding and continued occupancy of the receptor by ACTH, but was not needed for steroidogenesis once the hormone was bound to the receptor.

Taken together all information presented so far and from our results, we postulate that dual sites exist within one receptor calcium channel model. In the model, the whole process of the activation of ACTH receptor is divided into three major steps: first step, Ca^{2+} binds to an inactive form of the ACTH receptor, which in fact is more like a calcium binding protein or calcium channel than an ACTH receptor, resulting in conformational changes to the membrane proteins and the formation of two major ACTH binding sites: a site to which ACTH 1-5 (or ACTH₁₋₁₃) binds, which we call the α domain, with a K_d of 10⁻⁵ M; and a site to

which ACTH 6-24 (or $ACTH_{14-39}$) binds, which we call the ß domain, with a K_d of 10⁻⁸ M. These two binding sites are structurally separated in the absence of $ACTH_{1-24}$ or $ACTH_{1-39}$ occupancy so that CSI with mass of 4K does not interfere with $ACTH_{1-13}$ amide activity. In a second step , the address region of ACTHmolecule, 10 to 18 residues, binds to the ß domain resulting in another type of conformational changes bringing the α domain even more closer to the ß domain. The third step, the N-terminal part of the ACTH molecule binds to the α domain and resulting in the activation of the ACTH receptor. The consequence of the occupancy of the two sites of ACTH receptor, α ß domains is the formation with an apparent K_d of 10⁻⁹ M. The model of the ACTH receptor is schematically shown below:





5.9. The Structural Requirement for Anti-ACTH Activity of Corticostatin

In the last two years, corticostatic peptides have been detected in other species such as the human (530), rat (531), guinea pig and bovine (532) Some of the peptides have been fully characterized. Their structures are shown on the below together with the structure of $ACTH_{6-24}$.

Peptides with Corticostatic activity

АСТН ₆₋₂₄	HFRWGKPVGKKRRPVKVYP
CSI	GICACRRR FCPNSERFSGYCRVNGARYVRCCSRR
CSII	GRCVCRKQLLCSYRERRIGDCKIRGVRFPFCCPR
CSIII	VVCACRRA LCLPRERRAGFCRIRGRIHPLCCRR
CSIV	VVCACRRA LCLPLERRAGFCRIRGRIHPLCCRR
HP-4	VCSCRLV FCRRTELRVGNCLIGGVSFTYCCTRV
R-4	VTCYCRRT RCGFRERLSGACGYRGRIYRLCCRR
R-5	VTCYCRTT RCGFRERLSGACGYRGRIYRLCCRR
GPCS	RRCICTTR TCRFPYRRLGTCIFQNRVYTFCC
Peptides	without Corticostatic activity

IF ACICKIP ACIAGERRIGICI IOGRLWAFCC	HP-1	ACYCRIP	ACIAGERRYGTCIYOGRLWAFCC
-------------------------------------	------	---------	-------------------------

- R-1 ACYCRIG ACVSGERLTGACRLNGRIYRLCC
- R-2 VTCSCRTS SCRFGERLSGACRLNGRIYRLCC

R-3 CSCRTS SCRFGERLSGACRLNGRIYRLCC

By comparing the structure-activity relationships of the corticostatins it appears that an arginine residue in the C-terminal end next to the final cysteine is important since this is missing in the inactive analogue HP1 and three rat peptides (531) R-1, R-2, R-3. In preliminary experiments we have removed the last two arginines from CSI. This did not totally diminish its corticostatic activity. This could have been caused by the contamination of the side-products from incomplete digestion. Further experimental studies will be necessary before reaching final conclusions concerning the C-terminal arginines.

By comparing the structures of the two most potent corticostatins rabbit CSI and rat R-4 with ACTH₆₋₂₄, all three peptides have a very similar basic amino acid pattern, namely, basic-X-X-basic-X-X-X-basic-basic. When the basic amino acid in the last 6 position is replaced by other amino acid in the case for CSIII and CSIV, the corticostatic activity falls to 10% of that of CSI. Rat peptides R-1, R-2, R-3 have a basic arginine four residues from the C terminus and they have no corticostatic activity. Therefore it seems that this basic amino acid is not essential for the corticostatic activity, but is a very important potentiator. CSII and CSIII have very similar overall basic amino acid patterns. Interestingly, CSII is missing the last C-terminal basic amino acid but has an extra one at the

second position of the N-terminal site and CSII is almost three time more potent then CSIII. Therefore the amino acid at the Nterminal may be as important as it at C-terminal.

Although the disulphide bridges of these peptide has not yet been characterized, the disulphide linkages for NP-5, an analoque (we predict that it is corticostatic) has been deduced recently (533). The disulfide linkages were C-3-C-31, C-5-C-20, correct disulphide and C-10-C-30. Α linkage in the corticostatic peptides will potentiate its corticostatic activity. This can be seen very clearly when we compare the activity of three synthetic rabbit CSIs (see Fig. 4-16). For these three peptides only synthetic CSI has the correct disulphide linkage and it is almost four times more potent than other two. We postulate that correct disulphide bridge brings N-terminal basic amino acids to the C-terminal, such as the tribasic sequence of residues 6 to 8 in CSI. This feature may account for the higher potency of CSI compared to $ACTH_{6-24}$ and the other analogs. From immunological studies we have obtained further evidence that CSI differs from the less potent corticostatins including synthetic CSIb and CSIc. A polyclonal antibody raised against synthetic CSIa cross reacts not only very weakly with CSII, CSIII, CSIV, but also can distinguish synthetic CSIa (correct form) from the other two side products which have about 40% cross-reactivity.

CONCLUSIONS

- The anti-ACTH substance(s) extracted from rabbit fetal lungs was thermodynamically stable but susceptible to trypsin digestion suggesting that this substance(s) might be a peptide.
- 2. Reversed-Phase HPLC followed by rat adrenal cell bioassay revealed that there were at least four anti-ACTH peptides in the acidic extracts of rabbit fetal lungs. The most abundant one was purified to homogeneity and had the following sequence: Gly-Ile-Cys-Ala-Cys-Arg-Arg-Arg-Phe-Cys-Pro-Asn-Ser-Glu-Arg-Phe-Ser-Gly-Tyr-Cys-Arg-Val-Asn-Gly-Ala-Arg-Tyr-Val-Arg-Cys-Cys-Ser-Arg-Arg. This peptide was named corticostatin I (CSI) because of its ability to inhibit ACTH and it was the first such peptide characterized.
- 3. Scanning adult rabbit tissue by an improved purification protocol demonstrated that rabbit adult lung and rabbit neutrophils contain higher levels of the peptides.
- 4. Four major components have been purified from both rabbit adult lung and neutrophils and sequenced. They are called corticostatin I (CSI), II (CSII), III (CSIII), and IV (CSIV) respectively according to their retention time. Among them CSI is the most potent with ED₅₀ of 25 nM against a concentration of

0.033 nM ACTH in the rat adrenal cell bioassay.

ŝ.

Ĩ

- 5. The mechanism of the action of CSI has been studied extensively. CSI shows a high degree of specificity in that it does not inhibit the action of angiotensin II in the adrenal cortex. CSI does not inhibit dbcAMP induced steroidogenesis, however it does inhibit the accumulation of cAMP in response to ACTH in the rat adrenal cell bioassay. CSI does not directly act at adenylate cyclase or G proteins. CSI acts by competing with the basic -Gly₁₄-Lys₁₅-Lys₁₆-Arg₁₇-Arg₁₈- sequence of ACTH for its binding site.
- Synthetic CSI has an identical anti-ACTH activity of the isolated peptide.

CLAIMS TO ORIGINALITY

This is the first description of a family of peptides which are derived from the non-endocrine systems which specifically inhibits ACTH action on the adrenal cortex. Due to the nature of this research, all the results presented in the chapter III and IV can be considered as original research. The most significant contributions of this work to original knowledge are listed below:

1. Discovery of the existence of anti-ACTH substances in the acidic extraction of rabbit fetal lungs.

2. Purification and characterization of the corticostatic (anti-ACTH) peptide from rabbit fetal lungs.

3. Purification and characterization of four corticostatic peptides (CSI, CSII, CSIII, and CSIV).

4. Evidence that CSI is the most active corticostatic peptide of the four.

5. CSI inhibits ACTH but not Agiotensin II-stimulated aldosterone production.

6. CSI is not a direct inhibitor of the cAMP-dependent protein

kinase or adenylate cyclase or G proteins.

7. CSI inhibits ACTH binding by competing with the sequence 14 to 18 of ACTH.

8. Preparation of a highly specific polyclonal antibody for CSI.

9. Evidence that the negative control of HPA axis by the immune system.

10. Fetal and adult lungs are the richest source of corticostatic peptides.

References

- 001. Scharrer, E., Scharrer, B. (1940) Res. Publ. Ass. Nerv. Ment. Dis. 20:170
- 002. Harris, G.W. (1948) Phyiol. Rev. 28:139
- 003. Rasmussen, A.T. (1938) Endocrinology 23:263
- 004. Scharrer, B. (1970) In, The neurosciences: second study program (Ed. Schmitt, F.O.), New York, Rockefeller University Press, p519-520.
- 005. Szentagothai, J., Flerko, B., Mess, B., Halasz, B. (1968) Akademiai Kiado, Budapest
- 006. Besedovsky, H.O., Sorkin, E., Felix, D., Haas, H. (1977) Eur. J. Immunol 7:323
- 007. Munck, A., Guyre, P.M., and Holbrook, N.J. (1984) Endocrine Reviews 5:25
- 008. Worden, F.G., Swazey, J.P., Adelman, G. (1975) The Neurosciences: Paths of Discovery. The MIT Press Cambridge, Massachusetts, and London, England.
- 009. Aschner, B (1912) Pflugers Arch. ges. Physiol. 146:1
- 010. Camus, J., Roussy, G. (1920) Endocrinology 4:507
- 011. Bailey, P., and Bremer, F. (1921) Arch. Intern. Med. 28:773
- 012. Smith, P.E. (1927) J. Amer. Med. Ass. 88:158
- 013. Harris, G.W. (1955) Neural control of the pituitary gland, Edward Arnold Ltd., London.
- 014. Harris, G.W. (1947) J. Anat. (Lond.) 81:343
- 015. Grcen, J.D. and Harris, G.W. (1947) J. Endocr. 5:136
- 016. Saffran, M., and Schally, A.V. (1955) Canad. J. Biochem. 33:408
- 017. Guillemin, R., and Rosenberg, B. (1955) Endocrinology 57:599
- 018. Guillemin, R., Hearn, W.R., Cheek, W.R., Housholder, D.E. (1957) Endocrinology 60:488

- 019. Royce, P.C., and Sayers, G. (1958) Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. (N. Y.) 98:677
- 020. Rumsfeld, H.W., and Porter, J.C. (1959) Arch. Biochem. 82:473
- 021. Shibusawa, K., Saito, S., Nishi, K., Yamamoto, T., Abe, C. and Kawai, T. (1956) Endocrin. Jap. 3:151
- 022. Shibusawa, K., Saito, S., Nishi, K., Yamamoto, T., Tomizawa, K. and Abe, C. (1956) Endocrin, Jap. 3:116
- 023. Shibusawa, K., Yamanoto, T., Nishi, K., Abe, C., Tomie, S., and Shirota, K. (1959) Endocrin. Jap. 6:149
- 024. Schreiber, V., Eckertova, A., Franz, Z., Koci, J. Rybak, M. Kmentova, (1961) Experientia (Basel) 17:264
- 025. Guillemin, R., Yamazaki, E., Jutisz, M., Sakiz, E. (1962) C.R. Acad Sci. (Paris) 255:1018
- 026. McCann, S.M., Heberland, P. (1960) Endocrinology 66:217
- 027. Campbell, H.J., Feuer, G., Garcia, J., Harris, G.W. (1961) J. Physiol. (London) 157:30P
- 028. Campbell, H.J., Feuer, G., and Harris, G.W. (1964) J. Physiol. (London) 170:474
- 029. Nikitovitch-Winer, M.B. (1962) Endocrinology 70:350
- 030. Igarashi, M., McCann, S.M. (1964) Endocrinology 74:446
- 031. Franz, J., Haselbach, C.H. and Libert, O. (1962) Acta. Endocr. (Kbh.) 41:336
- 032. Deuben, R.R., and Meites, J. (1964) Endocrinology 74:408
- 033. Schally, A.V., T.W. Redding, C.Y. Bowers and J.F. Barrett. (1969) J. Biol. Chem. 244:4077
- 034. Guillemin, R., (1967) Annu. Rev. Physiol. 29:313
- 035. Imura, H. (1985) The Pituitary Gland: Comprehensive Endocrinology. Raven Press, New York.
- 036. Vale, W., Spiess. J., Rivier, C. and Rivier, J. (1981) Science 213:1394
- 037. Familari, M., Smith, A.I., Smith, R., and Funder, J.W.

(1989) Neuroendocrinology 50:152

- 038. Antoni, F.A. (1986) Endocrine Rev. 7:351
- 039. Feldman, S., Conforti, N., Chowers, I., and Davidson, J.M. (1970) Acta Endocr. Copnh. 63:405
- 040. Nakane, T., Audhya, T., Kanie, N., Hollander, C.S. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82:1247
- 041. Beaulieu, S., Di Paolo, T., Cote, J., Barden, N. (1987) Neuroendocrinology 45:37
- 042. Whitnall, M.H. (1989) Neuroendocrinology 50:702
- 043. Feldman, S., and Conforti, N. (1980) Neuroscience 5:1323
- 044. Feldman, S., Conforti, N. (1980) Neuroscience 5:1323
- 045. Engler, D., Pham, T., Fullerton, M.J., Ooi, G., Funder, J.W., and Clarke, I.J. (1989) Neuroendocrinology 49:367
- 046. Aizawa, T., Greer, M.A. (1982) Endocrinology 110:1693
- 047. Karteszi, M., Dallman, M.F., Makara, G.B., Stark, E. (1982) Endocrinology 11:535
- 048. Vermes, I., Berkenbosch, F., Tilders, E.H., Smelik, P.G. (1982) Neurosci. Lett. 27:89
- 049. Plotsky, P.M., Bruhn, T.O., Vale, W. (1985a) Endocrinology 117:323
- 050. Guillaume, V., Grino, M., Conte-Devolx, B., Boudouresque, F., and Oliver, C. (1989) Neuroendocrinology 49:676
- 051. Gann, D.S., Ward, D.G., and Carlson, D.E. (1978) Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 34:357
- 052. Gann, D.S., Bereiter, D.A., Carlson, D.E., Thrivikraman, K.V. (1985) Fed. Proc. 44:161
- 053. Plotsky, P.M., Bruhn, T.O., Vale, W.W. (1985) Endocrinology 116:633
- 054. Carlson, D.E., Gann, D.S. (1987) Am. J. Physiol. 252 (Regulatory Intergrative Comp. Physiol). 21:R109
- 055. Thrivikraman, K.V., Carlson, D.E., and Gann, D.S. (1988) Am. J. Physiol. 254 (Regulatory Intergrative Comp. Physiol. 23):R289

- 056. Thrivikraman, K.V., Carlson, D.E., and Gann, D.S. (1988) Am. J. Physiol. 254 (Regulatory Intergrative Comp. Physiol. 23):R296
- 057. Linton, E.A., Tilders, F.J.H., Hodgkinson, S., Berkenbosch, F., Vermes, I., Lowry, P.J. (1985) Endocrinology 116:966
- 058. Gibbs, D.M. (1985) Endocinology 116:723
- 059. Rivier, C., Vale, W. (1983) Nature 305:325
- 060. Bruhn, T.O., Plotsky, P.M., Vale, W.W. (1984) Endocrinology 114:57
- 061. Ono, N., Samson, W.K., McDonald, J.K., Lumpkin, M.D., Berdan de Castro, J., McCann, S.M. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 82:7787
- 062. Mermet, C.C., Gonon, F.G. (1988) Neuroendocrinology 47:75
- 063. Makara, G.B., Stark, E., Kapocs, G., Antoni, F.A. (1986) Am. J. Physiol 250:E319
- 064. Gibbs, F.P., (1969) Amer. J. Physiol. 217:78
- 065. Greer, M.A., Allen, C.F., Gibbs, F.P., and Gullickson, K. (1970) Endocrinology 86:1404
- 066. Allen, C.F., Allen, J.P., and Greer, M.A. (1972) Excerpta Medica International Congress Series 256:202
- 067. Allen, J.P. Allen, C.F., and Greer, M.A. (1972) Excerpta Medica International Congress Series 256:202
- 068. Saphier, D., Abramsky, O., Mor, G., Ovadia, H. (1987) Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 496:354
- 069. Besedovsky, H., Sorkin, E., Keller, M., and Muler, J. (1975) Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol Med 150:466
- 070. Swanson, L.W., Sawchenko, P.E. (1983) Ann. Rev. Neurosci. 6:269
- 071. Taylor, A.L., Fishman, L.M. (1988) New Engl. J. Med. 319:213
- 072. Morton, K.D.R., Van de Kar, L.D., Brownfield, M.S., Bethea, C.L. (1989) Neuroendocrinology 50:73
- 073. Swanson, L.W., Sawchenko, P.E. Rivier, J. and Vale, W.W.

. .

(1983) Neuroendocrinology 36:165

- 074. Olschowka, J.A., O'Donohue, T.L. Mueller, G.P. and Jacobawits, D.M. (1982) Neuroendocrinology 35:305.
- 075. Merchenthaler, I., Vigh, S., Petrusz, P., and Schally, A.V. (1982) Am. J. Anat. 165:385
- 076. Bloon, F.E., Battenberg, E.L.F., Rivier, J., and Vale, W.W. (1982) Reg. Peptides 4:43
- 077. Bugnon C., Fellman, D., Gouget, A., and Cardot, J. (1982) Nature 298:158
- 078. Petrusz, P., Merchenthaler, I., Maderdrut, J.L. and Hertz. P.U. (1985) Fed. Proc. Res. 44:229
- 079. Merchenthaler, I., Hynes, M.A., Vigh, S., Schally, A.V., and Petrusz, P. (1983) Brain Res. 275:373
- 080. Bruhn, T.O., Engeland, W.C., Anthony, E.L.P., Gann, D.S., and Jackson, I.M.D. (1987) Endocrinolog 120:25
- 081. Thompson, R.C., Seasholtz, A.F., Douglass, J.O., and Herbert, E. (1987) Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 512:1
- 082. Antoni, F.A., Palkovits, M., Makara, G.B., Linton, E.A., Lowry, P.J., Kiss, J.Z. (1983) Neuroendocrinology 36:415
- 083. Merchenthaler, I., Vigh, S., Petrusz, P., Schally, A.V. (1983) Regul. Peptides 5:295
- 084. Davis, L.G., Arentzen, R., Reid, J.M., Manning, R.W., Wolson, B., Lawrence, K.L., Baldino, F. (1986) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 83:1145
- **085.** Paull, W.K., Gibbs, F.P. (1983) Histochemistry 78:303
- 086. Liposits, Z., Paull, W.K. (1985) Peptides 6:1021
- 087. Vale, W., Vaughan, J., Smith, M., Yamanoto, G., Rivier, J., Rivier, C. (1983) Endocrinology 113:1121
- 088. Rivier, C.L., Plotsky, P.M. (1986) Ann. Rev. Physiol. 48:475
- 089. Whitnall, M.H., Mezey, E., Gainer, H. (1985) Nature 317:248
- 090. Whitnall, M.H., Smyth, D., Gainer, H. (1987) Neuroendocrinology 45:420

- 091. Whitnall, M.H., Gainer, H. (1988a) Neuroendocrinology 47:176
- 092. Whitnall, M.H. (1988) J. comp. Neurol. 275:13
- 093. Hisan, S., Tsuruo, Y., Katoh, S., Daikoku, S., Yanaihara, N. and Shibasaki, T. (1987) Cell Tissue Res. 249:497
- 094. Plotsky, P.M. (1985) Federation Proc. 44:207
- 095. Plotsky, P.M. (1987) Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 512:205
- 096. Berkenbosch, F., Goeij, D.C.E., Tilders, F.J.H. (1989) Neuroendocrinology 125:28
- 098. Pradier, P., Davicco, M.J., Safwate, A., Tournaire, C., Dalle, M., Barlet, J.P., Delost, P. (1986) Acta Endocr. 111:93
- 099. Widerlov, W., Ekman, R., Jensen, L., Borglund, L., and Nyman, K. (1989) J. Neural Transm 75:101
- 100. Schwartz, J., Rivier, J., Vale, W. (1988) Endocrinology 122:1695
- 101. Castro, M.G., Estivariz, F.E., Iturriza, F.C. (1986) Compar. Biochem. Physiol. 83A:71
- 102. Bugnon, C., Fellmaqn, D., Gouget, A., Bresson, J., Clavequin, M.C., Hadjiyiassemis, M., Cardot, J. (1984) J. Steroid Biochem. 20:183
- 103. Koenig, J.I., Meltzer, H.Y., Devane, G.D.,Gudelsky, G.A. (1986) Endocrinology 118:2534
- 104. Holmes, M.C., Antoni, F.A., Catt, K.J., Aguilera, G. (1986) Neuroendocrinology 43:245
- 105. Makara, G.B. (1985) Federation Proc. 44:149
- 106. Petraglia, F., Cella, S.G., Radice, L., Genazzani, A.R., Muller, E.E. (1986) Endocrinology 118:360
- 107. Boscaro, M., Menegus, A.M., Mantero, F. (1985) J. Endocrinol. Invest. 8:523
- 108. Plotsky, P.M., Bruhn, T.O., Vale, W. (1985) Endocrinology 116:633
- 109. Gibbs, D.M. (1984) Endocrinology 114:1216

- 110. Gaillard, R.C., Grossman, A., Gillies, G., Rees, L.H., Besser, G.M. (1981) Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf) 15:573
- 111. Lind, R.W., Swanson, L.W., Ganten, D. (1985) Neuroendocrinology 40:2
- 112. Sobel. D.O. (1984) Peptides 5:47
- 113. Palkovits, M. (1987) Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 512:139
- 114. Palkovits, M. (1986) In, Current Topics in Neuroendocrinology (Ed. Ganten, D. and Pfaff, D.W.) 7:197.
- 115. Kaada, B.R. (1972) In, The Neurobiology of the Amygdala (Ed. Eleftheriou, B.E.). Plenum Press, New York, p 205-281.
- 116. Zolovick, A.J. (1972) In, The Neurobiology of the Amygdala (Ed. Eleftheriou, B.E.) Plenum Press, New York, p. 643-684.
- 117. Matheson, B.K., Branch, B.J., Taylor, A.N. (1971) Brain Res. 32:151
- 118. Redgate, E.S., Fahringer, E.E. (1973) Neuroendocrinology 12:334
- 119. Allen, J.P., Allen, C.F. (1974) Neurcendocrinology 15:220
- 120. Beaulieu, S., Di Paolo, T., Barden, N. (1986) Neuroendocrinology 44:247
- 121. Beaulieu, S., Pelletier, G., Vaudry, H., Barden, N. (1989) Neuroendocrinology 49:255
- 122. Gray, T.S., Carney, M.E., Magnuson, D.J. (1989) Neuroendocrinology 50:433
- 123. Sapolsky, R. M., Krey, L.C., McEwen, B.S. (1984) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:6174
- 124. Cote, J., Lefevre, G., Labrie, F., Barden, N. (1983) Regul. Peptides 5:189
- 125. Valentino, R.J., Wehby, R.G. (1988) Neuroendocrinology 48:674
- 126. Liposits, Z., Paull, W.K. Setalo, G., Vigh, S. (1985) Histochemistry 83:5
- 127. Plotsky, P.M. (1987) Endocrinology 121:924
- 128. Guillaume, V., Conte-Devolx, B., Szafarezyk, A., Malaval,

F., Pares-Herbute, N., Grino, M., Alonso, G., Assenmacher, I., and Oliver, C. (1987) Neuroendocrinology 46:143

- 129. Cummings, S., Seybold, V. (1988) Neuroendocrinology 47:523.
- 130. Inagaki, N., Yamatodani, A., Ando-Yamanoto, M., Tohyama, M., Watanabe, T., Watanabe, T., Wada, H. (1988) J. Comp. Neurol. 273:283
- 131. Itowi, N., Yamatodani, A., Cacabelos, R., Goto, M., Wada, H. (1989) Neuroendocrinology 50:187
- 132. Krieger, D.T., Rizzo, F. (1969) Am. J. Physiol. 217:1703
- 133. Szafarczyk, A., Ixart, G., Malaval, F., Nouguier-Soule, J., Assenmacher, I. (1979) J. Endocr. 83:1
- 134. Sawchenko, P.E., Swanson, L.W., Joseph, S.A. (1982) Brain Res. 232:365
- 135. Kiss, J.Z., Cassell, M.D., Palkovits, M. (1984) Brain Res. 324:91
- 136. Bal, F.L., Yamano, M., Shiotani, Y., Emson, P.C., Smith, A.D., Powell, J.F., Tohyama, M. (1985) Brain Res. 331:172
- 137. Lind, R.W., Swanson, L.W., Ganten, D. (1984) Clin. Exp. Hypertension. A6:1915
- 138. Lindavall, O., Bjorklund, A., Skagerberg, G. (1984) Brain Res. 306:19
- 139. Sawchenko, P.E., Swanson, L.W. (1982) Brain Res. Rev. 4:275
- 140. Zaborszky, L., Brownstein, M., Palkovits, M. (1977) Acta Morph. Acad. Sci. Hung. 25:175
- 141. Palkovits, M., Zaborszky, L., Feminger, A., Mezey, E., Fefete, M.I.K., Herman, J.P., Szabo, D. (1980) Brain Res. 191:161
- 142. Swanson, L.W., Sawchenko, P.W., Berod, A., Hartman, B.K., Helle, K.B., van Orden, D.E. (1981) J. Comp. Neurol. 196:271.
- 143. Palkovits, M., Meaey, E., Zaborszky, L., Feminger, A., Versteeg, D.H.G., Wijnen, H.L.J.M., de Jong, W., Fekete, M.I.K., Herman, J.P., Knayicska, B. (1980) Neurosci. Lett. 18:237
- 144. Sawchenko, P.W., Swanson, L.W., Steinbusch, H.W.M.,

3

-.

Verhofstad, A.A.J. (1983) Brain Res. 277:355

- 145. Palkovits, M., Saavedra, J.M., Jacobowitz, D.M., Kizer, J.S., Zaborszky, L., Brownstein, M.J., (1977) Brain Res. 130:121
- 146. Jones, M.T., and Gillham, B. (1988) Physiol. Rev. 68:743
- 147. Jones, M.T., Tiptaft, E.M., Brucsh, F.R., Fergusson, D.A.N., and Neame, R.L.B. (1974) J. Endocrinol. 60:223
- 148. Jones, M.T., Hillhouse, E.W. (1976) J. Steroid Biochem 7:1189
- 149. Keller-Wood, ME., and Dallman, M.F. (1984) Endocr. Rev. 5:1
- 150. Abe, K., and Critchlow, V. (1977) Endocrinology 101:498
- 151. Mor, G., Saphier, D., and Feldman, S. (1986) Exp. Neurol. 94:25
- 152. Dallman, M.F., Akana, S.F., Cascio, C.S., Darlington, D.N., Jacobson, L., and Levin, N. (1987) Rec. Prog. in Horm. Res. 43:113
- 153. Levin, N., Shinsako, J. Dallman, M.F. (1988) Endocrinology 122:694
- 154. Fuxe, K., Wikstrom, A.C., Okret, S., Agnati, L.F., Harfstrand, A., Yu, Z.Y., Granholm, L., Zoli, M., Vale, W. and Gustafsson, J.A. (1985) Endocrinology 117:1803
- 155. Agnati, L.F., Fuxe, K., Yu, Z.Y., Harfstrand, A., Okret, S., Wikstrom, A.C., Goldstein, M., Zoli, M., Vale, W., and Gustafsson, J.A. (1985) Neurosci. Lett. 54, 147
- 156. Reul, J.M.H.M. and de Kloet, E.R. (1985) Endocrinology 117:2505
- 157. Sutanto, W., ven Eekelen, J.A.M., Reul, J.M.H.M. and de Kloet, E.R. (1988) Neuroendocrinology 47:398
- 158. Buckingham, J.C. (1979) J. C. (1979) J. Physiol. (London) 286:331
- 159. Oliver, C., Conte-Devolx, B., Rey, M., Boudouresque, F., Giraud, P., Castanas, E., and Porter, J.C. (1983) Acta. Endocrinol. (Copenhagen) 103:98
- 160. Plotsky, P.M., and Sawchenko, P.E. (1987) Endocrinology

120:1361

- 161. Eckland, D.J.A., Todd, K., and Lightman, S.L. (1988) J. Endocrinol. 117:27
- 162. Fink, G., Robinson, I.C.A.F., and Tannahill, L.A. (1988) J. Physiol. (London) 401:329
- 163. Suda, T., Yajima, F., Tomori, N., Demura, H. and Shizume, K. (1985) Life Sci. 37:1499
- 164. Jingami, H., Matsukura, S., Numa, S., and Imura, H. (1985) Encorrinology 117:1314
- 165. Young, W.S., III, Mezey, E., and Siegel, R.E. (1986) Neurosci. Lett. 70:198
- 166. Lightman, S.L., and III, Young, W.S. (1989) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86:4306
- 167. Moriarty, G.C., (1973) J. Histochem. and Cytochem. 21:855
- 168. Gee, C.E., Roberts, J.L. (1983) DNA 2:157
- 169. Leong, D.A. (1988) J. exp. Biol. 139:151
- 170. Aguilera, G., Wynn, P.L., Harwood, J.P., Hangar, R.L. Millan, M.A., Greise, C., and Catt, K.J. (1986) Neuroendocrinology 43:79
- 171. Wynn, P.C., Aguilera, G., Morell, J., Catt, K.J. (1983) Biochim Biophys Res. Commun. 110:603.
- 172. Holmes, M.C., Antoni, F.A., Szentendrei, T. (1984) Neuroendocinology 39:162
- 173. De Souza, E., Perrin, M., Rivier, J., Vale, W.W., Kuhar, M.J. (1984) Brain Res. 296:202
- 174. Koch, B., Lutz-Bucher, B.C., (1983) Neuroendocrinol, Lett 25:277
- 175. Perrin, M.H., Hass, Y., Rivier, J.E., Vale, W.W. (1986) Endocrinology 118:1171
- 176. Heisler, S., Reisine, T. (1984) J. Neurochem 42:1659
- 177. Heisler, S., Reisine, T. D., Hook, V.Y.H., and Axelrod, J. (1982) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:6502
- 178. Aguilera, G., Harwood, J.P., Wilson, J.X., Morell, J.,

Brown, J.H., and Catt, K.J. (1983) J.Biol. Chem. 258:8039

- 179. Labrie, F., Veilleux, R., Lefevre, G., Coy, D.H., Sueiras-Diaz, J., and Schally, A.V. (1982) Science 216:1007
- 180. Reisine, T., Rougon, G., Barbet, J., Affolter, H. U. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad Sci. USA 82:8261
- 181. Heisler, S. (1985) J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 235:741
- 182. Luini, A., Lewis, D., Guild, S., Corda, D., and Axerod, J. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 82:8034
- 183. Hosey, M.M., Borsotto, M., and Lazdunski, M. (1986) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 83:3733
- 184. Childs, G.V., Marchetti, C. and Brown, A.M., (1987) Endocrinology 120:2059
- 185. Antoni, F.A. (1984) Neuroendocrinology 39:186
- 186. Antoni, F.A. (1987) Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 512:195
- 187. Manning, M., Sawyer, W.H. (1984) Trends Neurosci 7:6
- 188. Rivier, C., Vale, W. (1985) In: Vasopressin (Ed. Schrier, R.W.) Raven Press, New York, p 181
- 189. Knepel, W., Homolka, L., Vlaskovska, M., Nuto, D. (1984) Neuroendocrinology 38:186
- 190. Rivier, C., Rivier, J., Mormede, P., Vale, W. (1984) Endocrinology 115:882
- 191. Tilders, F.J.H., Berkenbosch, F., Vermes, I., Linton, E.A., Smelik, P.G. (1985) Fed. Proc. 44:155
- 192. Vale., W., Grant, G., Anness, M., Blackwell, R., Guillemin, R. (1972) Endocrinology 91:562
- 193. Giguere, V., Cote, J., Labrie, F. (1981) Endocrinology 109:575
- 194. Raymond, V., Leung, P.C.K., Veilleux, R., Labrie, F. (1985) FEBS Lett. 182:196
- 195. Miyazki, K., Reisine, T., Kebabian, J.W. (1984) Endocrinology 115:1933
- 196. Schoenenberg, P., Keherer, P., Muller, A.F., Gaillard, R.C. (1987) Neuroendocrinology 45:86

- 197. Abou-Samra, A-B., Catt, K.J., Aguilera, G. (1986) Endocrinology 118:212
- 198. Abou-Samra, A-B, Harwood, J.P., Manganiello, V.C., Catt, K.J., and Aguilera, G. (1987) J. Biol. Chem. 262:1129
- 199. Koch, B., Lutz-Bucher, B. (1989) Euro. J. Pharmacol. 158:53
- 200. Lutz-Bucher, B., Kock, B. (1983) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 115:492
- 201. Antoni, F.A. (1986) Endocrinology 119:2393
- 202. Koch, B., and Lutz-Bucher, B. (1985) Endocrinology 116:671
- 203. Samson, W.K., Lumpkin, M.D., and McCann, S.M. (1986) Endocrinology 119:554
- 204. Mori, M., Vigh, S., Miyata, A., Yoshihara, T., Oka, S., Arimura, A. (1990) Endocrinology 125:1009
- 205. Buckingham, J.C., Hodges, J.R. (1977) J. Endocrinol. 72:187
- 206. Buckingham, J.C. (1985) Br. J. Pharmacol. 84:213
- 207. Jones, M.T., Gillham, B. Holmes, M.C., Beckford, U., Di Renzo, G., and Lin, A.H. (1981) In, Advances in Physiological Sciences (Ed. Stark, E., Makara, G.B., Halasz, B., and Rappay, G.) Budapest, Akad. Kiadò, 14:131-141.
- 208. Beny, J.L., and Baertschi, A.J. (1982) Experientia Basel 38:1078
- 209. Giguere, V., and Labrie, F. (1982) Endocrinology 111:1752
- 213. Gillies, G.E., Linton, E.A., Lowry, P.J. (1982) Nature Lond 299:355
- 211. Nicholson, S.A., Adrian, T.E., Gillham, B., Jones, M.T., and Bloom, S.R. (1984) J. Endocrinol. 100:219
- 212. Turkelson, G.M., Thomas, C.R., Arimura, A., Cheng, J., Chang, J-H. and Shimiza, M. (1982) Peptides Fayetteville 1:111
- 213. Abou-Samra, A.B., Harwood, J.P., Catt, K.J., and Aguilera, G. (1987) Ann. Rev. NY Acad. Sci. 512:67
- 214. Watanabe, T., and Orth, D.N. (1987) Endocrinology 121:1133
- 215. Suda, T., Tozawa, F., Ushiyama, T., Tomori, N., Sumitomo, T., Nakagami, Y., Yamada, M., Demura, H. and Shizume, K. (1989) Endocrinology 124:1444
- 216. Affolter, H.U., Reisine, T. (1985) J. Biol. Chem. 260:15477
- 217. Loeffler, J.P., Kley, N., Pittius, C.W., Hollt, V. (195) Neurosci. Lett. 62:383
- 218. Dave, J.R., Eiden, L.E., Lozovsky, D., Waschek, J.A., Eskay, R.L. (1987) Endocrinology 120:305
- 219. Fremeau, R.T., Lundblad, J.R., Pritchett, D.P., Wilcox, J.N., Roberts, J.L. (1986) Scince 234:1265
- 220. Eipper, B.A., Mains, R.E. (1980) Endocr. Rev. 1:1
- 221. Civelli, O., Birnberg, N., Herbert, H. (1982) J. Biol. Chem. 257:6783
- 222. Jingami, H., Nakanishi, S., Imura, H., Numa, S. (1984) Eur. J. Biochem. 142:441
- 223. Lolait, S.J., Clements. J.A., Markwick, A.J., Cheng, C., McNally, M., Smith, A.I., Funder, J.W. (1986) J. Clin. Invest. 77:1776
- 224. Pintar, J.E., Schacter, B.S., Herman, A.B., Durgerian, S., Krieger, D.T. (1984) Science 225:632
- 225. Chen, C-L. C., Chang, C-C, Krieger, D.T., Bardin, C.W. (1986) Endocrinology 118:2382
- 226. Lacaze-Masmonteil T., de Ketzer, Y., Luton, J-P., Kahn, A., Bertagna, X. (1987) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 84:7261
- 227. Takahashi, H., Hakamata, Y., Watanabe, Y., Kikuno, R., Miyata, T., Numa, S. (1983) Nucleic Acids Res. 11:6847
- 228. Drouin, J., Goodman, H.M. (1980) Nature 288:610
- 229. Drouin, J., Chamberland, M., Charron, J., Jeannotte, L., Nemer, M. (1985) FEBS Lett. 193:54
- 230. Nakanishi, S., Teranishi, Y, Watanabe, Y., Notake, M., Noda, M., Kakidani, H., Jingami, H., Numa, S. (1981) Eur. J. Biochem. 115:429.
- 231. Uhler, M., Herber, E., Deustachio, P., Ruddle, F.D. (1983) J. Biol. Chem. 258:9444

- 232. Notake, M., Tobimatsu, T., Watanabe, Y., Takahashi, H., Mishina, M., Numa, S. (1983) FEBS Lett 156:67
- 233. Ringold, G.M. (1985) Annu. Rev. Pharmacol Toxicol. 25:529
- 234. Birnberg, N.C., Lissitzky, J.C., Hinman, M., Herbert, E. (1983) Pro. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:6982
- 235. Abou-Samra, A.B., Catt, K.J., Aguilera, G. (1986) Endocrinology 119:972
- 236. Widmaier, E.P., Dallman, M.F. (1984) Endocrinology 115:2368
- 237. Giguere, V., Labrie, F., (1983) Biochem. Biophy. Res. Commun. 110:23
- 238. Chester Jones, I. (1957) The adrenal Cortex. Cambridge, England: Cambridge Univ. Press.
- 239. Hechter, O., Solomon, M.M., Zaffaroni, A., Pincus, G. (1953) Arch Biochem Biophys 46:201
- 240. Brown, M.S., Kovanen, P.T., Goldstein, J.L., (1979) Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 35:215
- 241. Andersen, J.M., Dietschy, J.M., (1978) J. Biol. Chem. 253:9024
- 242. Gwynne, J.T., Strauss III J.F. (1982) Endocr. Rev. 3:299
- 243. Mason, J.I., Rainey, W.E., (1987) J. Clin. Endocrinol Metab. 64:633
- 244. Golos, T.G., Strauss III J.F., (1988) Biochemistry 27:3503
- 245. McMasters, K.M., Dickson, L.A., Shamy, R.V., Rovinson, K., MacDonald, G.J., and Moyle, W.R. (1987) Gene 57:1
- 246. Glass, B., Pittman, R.C., Civen, M., Steinberg, D. (1985) J. Biol. Chem 260:744
- 247. Gwynne, J.T., Hess, B (1980) J. Biol. Chem. 255:10875
- 248. Davis, C.G., Goldstein, J.L., Sudhof, T.C., Anderson, R.G.W., Russell, D.W., and Brown, M.S. (1987) Nature 3266:760
- 249. Shima, S., Mitsunaga, M., Nakao, T., (1972) Endocrinology 90:808

- 250. Trzeciak, W.H., Mason, J.I., Boyd, G.S. (1979) FEBS Lett 102:13
- 251. Beins, D.M., Vining, R., Balasubramaniam, S., (1982) Biochem. J. 202:631.
- 252. Noland, B.J., Arebalop, R.E., Hansbury, E., Scallen, T.J. (1980) J. Biol. Chem. 255:4282
- 253. Chanderbham, R., Noland, B.J., Scallen, T.J., Vahouny, G.V., (1982) J. Biol. Chem. 257:8928
- 254. Boggaram, B., Funkenstein, B., Wateman, M.R., Simpson, E.R. (1985) Endocr. Res. 10:387
- 255. Brownie, A.C., Simpson, E.R., Jefcoate, C.R., Boyd, G.S., Orme-Johnson, W.H. and Beinert, H., (1972) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 46:483
- 256. Ferguson, J.J., Jr., (1963) J. Biol. Chem., 238:2754
- 257. Garren, L.D., Ney, R.L., and Davis, W.W. (1965) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 53:1443
- 258. Mahaffee, D., Reitz, R.C. and Ney, R.L. (1974) J. Biol. Chem. 249:227
- 259. Simpson, E.R., McCarthy, J.L. and Peterson, J.A. (1978) J. Biol. Chem., 253:3135
- 260. Privalle, C.T., Crivello, J.F. and Jefcoate, C.R. (1983) Proc. Natl. Acad, Sci. U.S.A., 80:702,
- 261. Krueger, R.J., and Orme-Johnson, N.R. (1988) Endocrinology, 122:1869
- 262. Krueger, R.J., and Orme-Johnson, N.R. (1983) J. Biol. Chem. 261, 6594
- 263. Pon, L.A., and Orme-Johnson, N.R. (1986) J. Biol. Chem. 261:6594
- 264. Pon, L.A., Hartigan, J.A., and Orme-Johnson, N.R. (1986) J. Biol. Chem. 261:13309
- 265. Pon, L.A., Epstein, L.F., and Orme-Johnson, N.R. (1986) Endocrine Res. 12:429
- 266. Epstein, L.F., Alberta, J.A., Pon, L.A., and Orme-Johnson, N.R. (1989) Endocrine Res. 15:117

- 267. Pedersin, R.C., and Brownie, A.C. (1983) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80:1882
- 268. Pedersen, R.C., and Brownie, A.C., (1987) Science 236:188
- 269. Stocco, D.M., and Kilgore, M.W. (1988) Biochem. J. 249:95
- 270. Omura, T, Sto, R., Cooper, D.Y., Rosenthal, O., Estabrook, R.W. (1965) Fed Proc 24:1181
- 271. Shikita, M., Hall, P.F., (1973) J. Biol. Chem. 248:5596
- 272. Shikita, M., Hall, P.F., (1973) J. Biol. Chem. 248:5605
- 273. Morohashi, K, Fujii-Kuriyama, Y., Okada, Y., Sogawa, K., Hirose, T., Inayama, S., Omura, T. (1984) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 81:4647
- 274. Matteson, K.J., Chung, B., Urdea, M.S., Miller, W.L. (1986) Endocrinology 118:1296
- 275. John, M.E., John, M.C., Simpson, E.R., Waterman, M.R. (1984) J. Biol. Chem. 260:5760
- 276. Chung, B., Mattereson, K.J., Miller, W.L. (1986) Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 83:4243
- 277. Nebert, D.W., Adesnik, M., Coon, M.J., Estabrook, R.W., Gonzales, F.J., Guengerich, F.P., Gunsalus, I.C., Johnson, E.F., Kemper, B., Levin, W., Phillips, I.R., Sato, R., Waterman, M.R., (1987) DNA: 6:1
- 278. Morohashi, K, Yoshioka, H., Gotoh, O., Okada, Y., Yamamoto, K., Miyata, T., Sogawa, K., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y., Omura, T. (1987) J. Biochem. 102:559
- 279. Picado-Leonard, J., Vaoutilainen, R., Kar, L., Chung, B.-C., Strauss, J. F., and Miller, W.L. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263:3240
- 280. Gnanaiah, W., Omdahl, J.L., (1986) J. Biol. Chem 261:12649
- 281. Hanukoglu, I., Gutfinger, TA., Haniu, M., Shively, J.E., (1987) Eur. J. Biochem 169:449
- 282. Voutilainen, R., Picado-Leonard, J., DiBlasio, A.M., Miller, W.L. (1988) J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 66:383
- 283. Tanaka, M., Hanju, M., Yasunobu, K.Y., Kimura, T. (1973) J. Biol. Chem. 248:1141

٠,

- 284. Omura, T., Sanders, S., Estabrook, R.W., Cooper, D.Y., Rosenthal, O. (1966) Arch. Biochem. Biophys 117:660
- 285. Nakamura, Y., Otsuka, H., Tamaoki, B., (1966) Biochim. Biophys. Res. Acta. 122:34
- 286. Suzuki, K., Kimura, T., (1965) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun 19:340
- 287. Kimura, T., Suzuki, K., (1967) J. Biol Chem. 242:485
- 288. Lambeth, J.D., Seybert, D., Kamin, H., (1979) J. Biol. Chem. 254:7255
- 289. Lambeth, J.D., Pember, S.O. (1983) J. Biol. Chem. 258:5596
- 290. Okamura, T., John, M.E., Zuber, M.X., Simpson, E.R., Waterman, M.R. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 82:5705
- 291. Nonaka, Y., Murakami, H., Yabusaki, Y., Kuramitsu, S., Kagamiyama, H., Yamano, T., Okamoto, M. (1987) Biochem Biophys. Res. Commun, 145:1239
- 292. Sagara, Y., Takata, Y., Miyata, T., Hara, T., Horiuchi, T., (1987) J. Biochem. 102:1333
- 293. Picado-Leonard, J., Vaoutilainen, R., Kar, L., Chung, B.-C., Strauss, J. F., and Miller, W.L. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263:3240
- 294. Kagimoto, K., McCarthy, J.L., Waterman, M.R., and Kagimoto, M. (1988) Bioch. Biophys. Res. Commun. 155:379
- 295. Luu-The, V., Lachance, Y., Labrie, C., Leblanc, G., Thonas, J.L., Strickler, R.C., and Labre, F. (1989) Molecular Endocrinology 3:1310
- 296. Ishi-Ohba, H., Juano, H., Tamaoki, B., (1986) J. Steroid Biochem. 25:555
- 297. Thomas, J.L., Berko, E.A., Faustino, A., Myers, R.P., Strickler, R.C. (1988) J. Steroid Biochem 31:785
- 298. Nakajin, S., Hall, P.F., (1981) J. Biol. Chem. 256:3871
- 299. Nakajin, S., Shively, J.E., Yuan, P., Hall, P.F., (1981) Biochemistry 20:4073
- 300. Zuber, M.X., John, M.E., Okamura, T., Simposon, E.R., Waterman, M.R. (1986) J. Biol. Chem. 261:2475

- 301. Zuber, M.X., Simposon, E.R., Waterman, M.R. (1986) Science 234:1258
- 302. Parker, L.N., Sack, J., Fisher, D.A., O'Dell, W.D., (1978) J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 46:396
- 303. Sklar, C.A., Kaplan, S.L., Grumbach, M.M., (1980) J. Clin, Endocrinol Metab. 51:548.
- 304. Zachmann, M., Vollmin, J.A. Hamilton, W., Prader, A., (1972) Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 1:369
- 305. Goebelsamann, U., Zachmann, M., Davajan, V., Israel, R., Mestman, J.H., Mishell, D.R., (1976) Gynecol Invest 7:138
- 306. Chung, B., Picado-Leonard, J., Haniu, M., Bienkowski, M., Haoll, P.F., Shively, J.E., Miller, W.L. (1987) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.84:407
- 307. Bradshaw, K.D., Waterman, M.R., Couch, R.T., Simpson, E.R., Zuber, M.X. (1987) Mol. Endocrinol 1:348
- 308. Nishihara, M., Winters, C.A., Buzko, E., Waterman, M.R., and Dufau, M.L. (1988) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 154:151
- 309. Ono, H., Iwasaki, M., Sakanoto, N., and Mizuno, S. (1988) Gene 56:77
- 310. Picado-Leonard, J., Miller, W.L. (1987) DNA 6:437
- 311. Baron, J., Taylor, W.E., Masters, B.S.S. (1972) Arch. Biochem Biophys 150:105
- 312. Kominami, S., Ochi, H, Kobayashi, T., Takemori, S. (1980) J. Biol. Chem. 255:3386
- 313. Miller, W.L., (1986) Congenital adrenal hyperplasia (letter). N. Engl. J. Med. 314:1321
- 314. Oprian, D.D., Coon, M.J., (1982) J. Biol. Chem 257:8935
- 315. Tamburini, P.P., Gibson, G.G., (1983) J. Biol. Chem. 258:13444
- 316. Onoda, M., Hall, P.F. (1982) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun 108:454
- 317. Yanagibashi, K, Hall, P.F. (1986) J. Biol Chem. 261:8492
- 318. Cooper, D.Y., Levin, S., Narasimhulu, S., Rosenthal, O.,

Estabrook, R.W., (1965) Science 145:400

- 319. John, M.E., Okamura, T., Dee, A., Adler, B., John, M.C., White, P.C., Simpson, E.R., Waterman, M.R. (1986) Biochemistry 25:2846
- 320. Yoshioka, H., Morohasi, K., Sogawa, K., Yamane, M., Kominami, S. Takemori, S., Okada, Y., Omura, T., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. (1986) J. Biol. Chem. 261:4106
- 321. Chung, B., Matteson, K.J., Miller, W.L., (1985) DNA 4:211
- 322. Chung, B., Matteson, K.J., Voutilainen, R., Mohandas, T.K., Miller, W.L. (1986) Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 88:8962
- 323. Watanuki, M., Tilley, B.E., Hall, P.F. (1978) Biochemistry 17:127
- 324. Sato, H., Ashida, N., Suhara, K., Itagaki, E., Takemori, S., Katagiri, M. (1978) Arch. Biochem Biophys 190:307
- 325. Suhara, K., Gomi, T., Sato, H., Itagaki, E., Takemori, S., Katafiri, M., (1978) Arch. Biochem Biophys 190:290
- 326. Yanagibashi, K., Haniu, M., Shively, J.E., Shen, W.H., Hall, P. (1986) J. Biol. Chem. 261:3556
- 327. Takemori, S., Suhara, K., Hashimoto, S., Hashimoto, M., Sato, H., Gomi, T., Katafiri, M. (1975) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 63:588
- 328. Watanuki, M., Tilley, B.E., Hall, P.F., (1977) Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 483:236
- 329. Suhara, K., Ikeda, Y., Takemori, S., Katagiri, M. (1972) FEBS Lett. 28:45
- 330. Suhara, K., Kamayama, K., Takemori, S., Katagiri, M. (1974) Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 336:309
- 331. Chu, J.W., Kimura, T. (1973) J. Biol. Chem. 248:2089.
- 332. Morohashi, K., Sogawa, K., Omura, T., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. (1987) J. Biol. Chem 101:879
- 333. Chua, S.C., Szabo, P., Vitek, A., Grzechik, K-H., John, M., white, P.C. (1987) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 84:7193-7197
- 334. Boggaram, V., John, M. E., Simpson, E.R., and Waterman, M.R. (1989) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 160:1227

ų.

- 335. Katagiri, M., Takemori, S., Itageki, E., Suhara, K., Gomi, T., Sato, H., (1976) Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 74:281
- 336. Hall, P.F., Charpponnier, C., Nakamura, M, Gabbiani, G., (1979) J. Biol. Chem. 254:9080
- 337. Simpson, E.R., (1979) Mol. Cell Endocrinol. 13:213
- 338. Kimura, T. (1981) Mol. Cell Biochem. 36:105
- 339. Duque, C., Morisaki, M., Ikekawa, N., Shikita, M. (1978) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 82:174
- 340. DuBois, R.N., Simpson, E.R., Kramer, R.E., Waterman, M.R. (1981) J. Biol. Chem. 256:7000
- 341. Kramer, R.E., Simpson, E.R., Waterman, M.R. (1983) J. Biol. Chem. 258:3000
- 342. Funkenstein, B., McCarthy, J.L., Dus, K.M., Simpson, E.R., Waterman M.R., (1983) J. Biol. Chem. 258:9398
- 343. Zuber, M.X., Simpson, E.R., Hall, P.F., Waterman, M.R., (1985) J. Biol. Chem. 260:1842
- 345. Kramer, R.E., Anderscn, C.M., Peterson, J.A., Simpson, E.R., and Waterman, M.R. (1982) J. Biol. Chem. 257:14921
- 346. John, M.E., John, M.C., Ashley, P., MacDonald, R.J., Simpson, E.R., Waterman, M.R. (1984) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81:5628
- 347. DiBlasio, A.M., Voutilainen, R., Jaffe, R.B., Miller, W.L. (1987) J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 65:170
- 348. John, M.E., John, M. C., Simpson, E.R., and Waterman, M.R. (1985) J. Biol. Chem. 260:5760
- 349. John, M.E., John, M.C., Boggaram, V., Simpson, E.R., Waterman, M.R. (1986) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 83:4715
- 350. Waterman, M.R., Simpson, E.R. (1989) Recent Progress in Hormone Research 45:533
- 351. Voutilainen, R., Miller, W.L., (1987) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 84:1590
- 353. Friderichasen, C. (1918) Nebennierenapoplexie bei kleinen Kinder. Jb. Kinderheik. 87:109

- 354. Keefer, C.S. (1954) Infections in medical uses of cortisone including hydrocortisone and corticotropin (Ed. Lukens, F.D.W.) New York, Blakiston, p.401
- 355. Kass, E.H., and Finland, M. (1957) Ann. Rev. Med. 8:1
- 356. Spink, W.W. (1957) New Engl. J. Med. 257:979 and 1031.
- 357. Dunlop, D. (1963) Brit. Med. J. 2:887
- 358. Sayers, G. (1950) Physiol Rev. 30:241
- 359. Selye, H. (1947) Textbook of Endocrinology. Acta Endocrinologica, Univ Montreal, Montreal
- 360. Ingle D.J. (1952) J. Endocrinol. 8:xxii
- 361. Burnet, F.M. and Fenner, F. (1949) Production of antibodies. Macmillan, Melbourne.
- 362. Smith, K. (1989) In, Endocrinology (Ed. DeGroot, L.J., Besser, G.M., Cahill, JR., G.F., Marshall, J.C., Nelson, D.H., Odell, W.D., Potts, JR., J.T., Rubenstein, A.H., Steinberger, E.). W. B. Saunders Company, p 3:2454-2465.
- 363. Andersson, B. (1970) J. Exp. Med. 132:77
- 364. Davie, J.M., Paul, W.E. (1972) J. Exp. Med. 135:660
- 365. Moller, G., ed. (1987) Immunol. Rev. 96:5
- 366. Cerottini, J-C., MacDonald, H. R. (1985) Ann. Rev. Immunol 7:77
- 367. Taniguchi, T. (1988) Ann. Rev. Immunol. 6:439
- 368. Kohase, M., May, L.T., Tamm, I., Vilcek, J., and Sehgal, P.B. (1987) Mol. Cell Biol. 7:273
- 369. Dinarello, C.A. (1988) Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 546:122
- 370. Hench, P.S., Kendall, E.C., Slocumb C.H., Polley, H.F. (1949) Proceedings of Staff Meeting Mayo Clinic, Rochester 24:181
- 371. Gaunt, R. (1974) In, Handbook of physiology, sect 7 (Ed. Blaschko, H., Sayers, G., Smith, A.D.) American physiological society, Washington D.C. p 6:1
- 372. Cupps, T.R., and Fauci, A.S., (1982) Immunological Rev. 65:133

204

- 373. Fahey, J.V., Guyre, P.M., and Munck, A. (1981) Adv. Inflammation Res. 2:21
- 374. Plotz, C.M., Knowtton, A.J., and Regan, C. (1952) Am. J. Med. 13:597
- 375. Godzieher, M.A. (1944) The adrenal glands in health and disease. Philadelphia:Davis. 1944.
- 376. Besedovsky, H. and Sorkin, E. (1977) Clin. Exp. Immunol. 27:1
- 377. Besedovsky, H., del Rey, A., Sorkin, E. (1979) Clin. Exp. Immunol. 37:106
- 378. Besedovsky, H.O., Sorkin, E., Felix, D., Haas, H. (1977) Eur. J. Immununol. 7:323
- 379. Dinarello, C.A. (1984) Rev. Infect. Diseas. 6:51
- 380. Oppenheim, J.J., Kovacs, E., Matsushima, K., and Durum, S.K. (1986) Immun. Today 7:45
- 381. Gery, I., and Waksman, B.H. (1972) J. Exp. Med. 136:143.
- 382. Dinarello, C.A. (1988) Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 546:122
- 383. Besedovsky, H.O., Sorkin, E., Keller, M., Muller, J. (1975) Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 150:466
- 384. Smith, K.A., Lachman, L.B., Oppenheim, J.J., and Favata, M.F. (1980) J. Exp Med 151:1551
- 385. Van Damme, J. and Billiau, A. (1987) J. Exp. Med. 165:914
- 386. Dinarello, C.A., Ikejima, T., Warner, S.J.C., Orencole, S.F., Lonnemann, G., Cannon, J.G., and Libby, P. (1987) J. Immunol. 139:1902
- 387. Lepe-Zuniga, B., Gery, I. (1984) Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. 31:222
- 388. Kurt-Jones, E.A., Kiely, J.M., and Unanue, E.R. (1985) J. Immunol. 135:1548
- 389. March, C.J., Mosley, B., Larsen, A., Cerretti, D.P., Braedt, G., Price, V., Gillis, S., Henney, C.S., Kronheim, S.R., Grabstein, K., Conlon, P.J., Hopp, T.P., Cosman, D. (1985) Nature 315:641.

- 390. Dower, S.K., Kronheim, S.R., Hopp, T.P., Cantrell, M., Deeley, M, Gillis, S., Henney, C.S., Urdal, D. L. (1986) Nature 324:266
- **391. Bird, T.A., Saklatvala, J. (1986)** Nature 324:263
- 392. Le, J., Vilcek, J. (1987) Lab Invest 56:234
- **393. Beuscher, H.U., Fallon, R.J., Colten, H.R.** (1987) J. Immunol. 139:1896
- 394. Besedovsy, H., Del Rey, A., Sorkin, E., Dinarello, C.A. (1986) Science 233:652
- 395. Snyder, D.S. and Unanue, E.R. (1982) J. Immun. Meth. 34:85
- 396. Fenton, M.J., Clark, B.D., Collins, K.L., Webb, A.C., Rich, A., and Auron, P.E. (1987) J. Immun. 138:3972
- 397. Lee, S.W., Twou, A-P, Chan, H., Thomas, J., Petrie, K., Eugui, E.M., Allison, A.C. (1988) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 85:1204
- 398. Poupart, P., Vandenabeele, P., Cayphas, S., Van Snick, J., Haegeman, G., Kruys, V., Fiers, W., and Content, J. (1987) EMBO J. 6:2939
- 399. Yasukawa, K., Hirano, T., Watanabe, Y., Muratani, K., Matsuda, T., Nakai, S., and Kishimoto, T. (1987) EMBO J. 6:2939
- 400. Santhanam, U., Tatter, S.B., Helfgott, D.C., Ray, A., Ghrayeb, J., May, L.T., and Sehgal, P.B. (1988) In, Monokines and other non-lymphocyteci cytokenes (Ed. Powanda, M.C.) Alan, R. Liss. New York p 29
- 401. Weissenbach, J., Chernajovsky, Y., Zeevi, M., Shulman, L., Soreq, H., Nir, U., Wallach, D., Perricaudet, M., Tiollais, R., Revel, M. (1980) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 77:7152
- 102. Content, J., DeWit, L., Pierard, D., Derynck, R., De Clercq, E., Fiers, W. (1982) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:2768
- 403. Helfgott, D.C., May, L.T., Sthoeger, Z., Tamm, I., and Sehgal, P.B., (1987) J. Exp. Med. 166:1300
- 404. Content, J., Dewit, L., Poupart, P., Opdenakker, G., Van Damme, J., Billiau, A. (1985) Eur. J. Biochem 152:253
- 405. Kohase, M., Henriksen-De, Stefano, D., May, L.T., Vilcek,

J., Sehgal, P. (1986) Cell 45:659

- 406. Castell, J.V., Andus, T., Kunz, D., and Heinrich, P.C. (1989) Ann. Y.N. Acad. Sci. 557:87
- 407. Koj, A. (1985). In, The acute phase response to injury and infection (Ed. Gordon, A.H., Koj, A.). Elaevier. Amsterdam New York, p 173-180.
- 408. Gauldie, J., Richards, C., Northemann, W., Fey, G., and Baumann, H. (1989) Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 557:46.
- 409. Goeddel, D.V. (1986) In, Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology 51:597
- 410. Kohase, M., Henriksen-DeStefano, D., Sehgal, P.B., and Vilcek, J. (1987) J. Cell Physiol. 132:271
- 411. Gillis, S., Crabtree, G.R., and Smith, K.A. (1979) J. Immun. 123:1624
- 412. Culpepper, J., and Lee, F. (1987) Lympholines 13:275
- 413. Kuehyl, F.A., and Eagan, R.W. (1980) Science, 210:978
- 414. Thompson, E.B., and Lippman, M.E. (1974) Metabolism 23:159
- 415. Hirata, F., Schiffmann, E., Venkatasubramanian, K., Salomon, D., and Axelrod, J. (1980) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 77:2533
- 416. Iwata, M., Huff, T.F., and Ishizaka, K. (1984) J. Immunol. 132:1286
- 417. Nami tchi, S., Kumagai, S., Imura, H., Suginoshita, T., Hattori, T., and Hirata, F. (1984) J. Immunol., 132:1456
- 418. Sibinga, N.E.S., and Goldstein, A. (1988) Ann. Rev. Immunol. 6:219
- 419. Bateman, A., Singh, A., Kral, T., and Solomon, S. (1989) Endocrine Rev. 10:92
- 420. Boarder, M.R., Erdelyi, E., Barchas, J.D. (1982) J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 54:715
- 421. Spampinato, S., Goldsten, A. (1983) Neuropeptides 3:193
- 422. Howlett, T.A., Walker, J., Besser, G.M., Ress, L.H. (1984) Reg. Peptides 8:131

- 423. Govoni, S., Salar, G., Colombo, F., Pasinetti, G., Trabucchi, M., Mingrino, S. (1986) Pharmacol. Res. Commun. 18:155
- 424. Liotta, A., Osathanondh, R., Ryan, K.J., and Krieger, D.T. (1977) Endocrinology 101:1552
- 425. Lim, A.T., Lolait, S., Barlow, J.W., Zois, W.S.O.I., Toh, B.H., ad Funder, J.W. (1983) Nature 303:709
- 426. Tsong, S.D., Phillips, D., Halmi, N., Liotta, A.S., Margionis, A., Bardlin, L.W., and Krieger, D.T., (1982) Endocrinology 110:2204
- 427. Orwoll, E.S., Kendall, J.W. (1980) Endocrinolgy 108:2235
- 428. Smith, E.M., and Blalock, J.E., (1981) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 77:5972
- 429. Smith, E.M., Blalock, E.J., (1981) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 77:7530
- **430. Lolait, S.J., Lim, A.T.W., Toh, B.H., Funder, J.W.** (1984) J. Clin Invest 73:277
- 431. Westly. H.J., Kleiss, A.J., Kelley, K.W., Wong, P.K., Yuen, P-H. (1986) J. Exp. Med. 163:1589
- 432. Oates, E.L., Allaway, G.P., Armstrong, G.R., Boyajian, R.A., Kehrl, J.H., Prabhakar, B.S., (1988) J. Exp. Med. 163:1589
- 433. Harbour-McMenamin, D., Smith, E.M., Blalock, J.E. (1985) Infect. Immun. 48:813
- 434. Kavelaars, A., Ballieux, R.E., and Heijnen, C.J. (1989) J. Immunol. 142:2338
- 435. Besedovsky, H.O., del Rey, A.E., Sorkin, E. (1985) J. Immunol. 135:750s
- 436. Woloski, B.M.R.N.J., Smith, E.M., Meyer III, W.J., Fuller, G.M., Blalock, J.E. (1985) Science 230:1035
- 437. Berkenbosch, F., Van Oers, J., del Ray, A., Tilders F, Besedovsky, H., (1987) Science 238:524
- 438. Uehara, A., Gottschall, P.E., Dahl, R.R., Arimura, A. (1987) Endocrinology 121:1580
- 439. Sapolsky, R., Rivier, C., Yamamoto, G., Plotsky, P., Vale,

W. (1987) Science 238:522

- 440. Katsuura, G., Gottschall, P.E., Dahl, R.R., Arimura, A. (1988) Endocrinology 122:1773
- 441. Tsagarakis, S., Gillies, G., Rees, L.H., Besser, M., Grossman, A. (1989) Neuroendocrinolgy 49:89
- 442. Berkenbosch, F. de Goeij, D.E.C., Del Ray, A., Besedovsky, H.O. (1989) Neuroendocrinology 50:570
- 443. Weidenfeld, J., Abramsky, O., Ovadia, H. (1989) Neuroendocrinlogy 50:650
- 444. Banks, W.A., Kastin, A.J., Durham, D.A. (1989) Brain Rer. Bulletin 23:
- 445. Woloski, B.M.R.N.J., Smith, E.M., Meyer III, W.., Fuller, G.M., Blalock, J.E. (1985) Science 230:1035
- 446. Naitoh, Y., Fukata, J., Tominaga, T., Nakai, Y., Tamai, S., Mori, K., and Imura, H. (1988) Bioch. Biophys. Res. Commun. 155:1459
- 447. Torres Aleman, I., Rejas, M.T., Barasoain, I., Borre, J., Guaza, G. (1987) Life Sciences 40:929
- 448. Spangelo, B.L., Hall, N.R., Goldstein, A.L., (1987) Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 496:196
- 449. Sivas, N., Uysal, M., Oz, H., (1982) Horm Metab. Res. 14 30
- 450. McGillis, J.P., Hall, N.R., Vahouny, G.V., Goldstein, A.L. (1985) J. Immunol 134(6):3952
- 451. McGillis, J.P., Feith, T, Kyeyune-Nyombi, E., Vahvny, G., (1982) Fed. Proc. 41:1111
- 452. Osheroff, P.L. (1981) Cell Immunol 60:376
- 453. Thurman, G.B., Rossio, J.L., Goldstein, A.L. (1977) Transplant Proc. 9(1):1201
- 454. Mathison, J.C., Schreiber, R.D., Laforest, A.C., Ulevitch, R.J. (1983) J. Immunol 130 (6):2757
- 455. Mathison JC, Forest CL, Ulevitch JR. (1984) Infec.Immu. 45:360
- 456. Roberts, A.B. Anzano, M.A., Lamb, L.C., Smith, J.M., Sporn,

M.B., (1981) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78(9):5339

- 457. Assoian, R.K., Komoriya, A., Meyers, C.A., Miller, D.M., Sporn, M.B., (1983) J. Biol. Chem. 258:7155
- 458. Hotta, M., Baird, A., (1986) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 83:7795
- 459. Feige, J.J., Cochet, C., Rainey, W.E., Madani, C., Chambaz, E.M., (1987) J. Biol. Chem. 262:13491
- 460. Feige, J.J., Cochet, C., Chambaz, E.M., (1986) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commu 139:693
- 461. Zhu Q, Hu J, Mulay S, Esch F, Shimasaki S, Solomon S (1987) Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:592
- **462.** Zhu, Q., Bateman, A., Singh, A., and Solomon, S. (1989) Endocrine Research, 15:129
- 463. Patten, B.M. (1968) In Human Embryology, McGraw-Hill, New York, P. 142
- 464. Bennett, H.P.J., Browne, C.A., and Solomon, S.(1981) Biochemistry 20: 4530
- 465. Lehrer, R.I., Ladra, K.M., and Hake, R.B. (1975) Infec. and Immun. 11:1226
- 466. Bennett, H.P.J. (1986) J. Chromatography 359: 383
- 467. Bennett, H.P.J., Browne, C.A., and Solomon, S. (1983) Anal. Biochem. 128: 121
- 468. Browne, 1981 C.A., Bennett, H.P.J. and Solomon, S. (1981) Biochem. 20:4538
- 469. Sayers, G., Swallow, R.L., and Giordano, N.D. (1971) Endocrinology 88: 1063
- 470. Lowry, P.J., McMartin, C., and Peters, J. (1973) J. Endocr. 59:43
- 471. Bennett, H.P.J., Bullock, G., Lowry, P.J., McMartin, C. and Peter., J. (1974) Biochem. J. 138: 185
- 472. Bennett, H.P.J., Brubaker, P.J., Seger, M.A. and Solomon, S. (1983b) J. Biol. Chem. 258:8108
- 473. Goverde, 1980 H.J.M., Pesman, G.J. and Benrad, T.J. (1980) Acta Endocrinol. 94:221

ŝ

1

- 474. Douglas, 1978 J., Aguilera, G., Kondo, T., and Catt, K (1978) Endocrinology 102:144
- 475. Ramachandran, J., and Suyama, A. (1975) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 72:113
- 476. Buckley, D.I., Ramachandran, J. (1981) Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci., U.S.A. 78:7431
- 477. Buckley, D.I., Ramachandran, J. (1981) Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci., U.S.A. 78:7431
- 478. Selsted ME, Brown DM, Delange RJ, Harwig SSL, Lehrer RI (1985) J Biol Chem 260:4579
- 479. Levitz SM, Selsted ME, Ganz T, Lehrer RI, Diamond DR (1986) J Infect Dise 154:483
- 480. Quinn, S.J. (1988) Ann. Rev. Physiol. 50:409
- 481. Hornsby, P.J. (1980) J. Biol. Chem. 255:4020
- 482. Seamon, K.B., Padgett, W., and Daly, J.W. (1981) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78:3363
- 483. Gilman, A.G. 1987 G prteins: transducers of receptorgenerated signals. Annu. Rev. Bioche. 56:615
- 484. Langlois, D., Arroub, M., Saez, J. M., Begeot, M. (1988) Mol Cell Endocrinol 58:199-205
- 485. Bristow, F.A., Gleed, C., Fauchere, J-L., Schwyzer, R., and Schulster, D. (1980) Biochem. J. 186:599
- 486. Tilders, F.J.H., Parker, C.R., Jr. Barnea, A., Porter, j.c. (1981) J. Clin. Endo. Metal. 52:319
- 487. Giannopoulos, G., Mulay, S., Solomon, S. (1972) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 47:411
- 488. Simpson, M.E., Evans, H.M., and Li, C.H. (1943) Endocrinol. 33:261
- 489. Sayers, G., Sayers, M.A., Liang, T-Y.. and Long, C.N.H. (1946) Endocrinol. 38:1
- 490. Lipscomb, H.S. and Nelson, D.M. (1962) Endocrinology 71:13
- 491. Saffran, M. and Schally, A.V. (1955) Can. J. Biochem. Physiol. 33:408

211

- 492. Kloppenborg, P.W.C., Island, D.P., Liddle, G.W., Michelakis, A.M., Nicholson, W.E. (1968) Endocrinology 82:1053
- 493. Swallow, R.L., Sayers, G. (1969) Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. Med. 131:1
- **494. Richardson, M.C., and Schulster, D.** (1970) Biochem. J. 120, **25p.**
- 495. Kitabchi, A.E., and Sharma, R.K. (1971) Endocrinology 88:1109
- 496. Bennett, H.P.J., Hudson, A.M., Kelly, L., McMartin, C., and Purdon, G.E. (1978) Biochem, J. 175:1139
- 497. Hancock, W.S., and Harding, D.R.K. (1984) In, Handbook of HPLC for the separation of Amino Acids, Peptides and Proteins (Ed. Hancock, W.S.). CRC Press, Inc. Boca Raton, p 1:189-192.
- 498. Fauci, A.S. (1975) Immunology 28:669.
- 499. Fauci, A.S. (1976) Clin. exp. Immunol. 24:54
- 500. Dale, D.C., Fauci, A.S., Guerry, IV. D., Wolff, S.M. (1975) Clin. Invest. 56:808
- 501. Mechanic, R.C., Frei, E., Landy, M., Smith, W.W. (1962) J. Clin. Invest. 41:162
- 502. Hubay CA, Weckesser EC, Levy RP (1975) Ann Surg 181:325
- 503. Sibbald WJ, Short A, Cohen MP, Wilson RF (1977) Ann Surg 186:29
- 504. Halkerston, I.D.K. (1975) Adv. Cyclic Nucl. Res., 6:99
- 505. Schulster D, Schwyzer R (1980) ACTH receptors, in Schulster D, Levitzki A (eds): Cellular Receptors for Hormones and Neurotransmitters. John Wiley & Sons Ltd p 197-217
- 506. Rae PA, Gutmann NS, TsaoJ, Schimmer BP (1979) Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 76:1896
- 507. Wong, M., Schimmer, B.P (1989) Endocrine Research, 15:49
- 508. Johnson and Dhanasekaran 1989 Johnson, G.L. and Dhanasekaran, N. (1989) Endocrine Reviews 10:317

ÿ

- 509. Gilman, A.G. (1987) Annu. Rev. Bioche. 56:615
- 510. Palfreyman, J.W., and Schulster, D. (1975) Biochem. Biophys. Acta. 404:221
- 511. Hurley, J.B., Simon, M.I., Leplow, D.B., Robishaw, J.D., Gilman, A.G. (1984) Science 226:860
- 512. West Jr, R.E., Moss, J., Vaughn, M., Lin, T., Liu, T-Y (1985) J. Biol Chem 260:14428
- 513. Van Dop, C., Yamanaka G., Steinberg, F., Sekura, R.D., Manclark, C.R., Stryer, L., Bourne, H.R. (1984) J. Biol. Chem. 259:23
- 514. Langlois, D., Arroub, M., Saez, J. M., Begeot, M. (1988) Mol Cell Endocrinol 58:199
- 515. Begeot, M., Langlois, D., Penhoat, A., Saez, J.M. (1988) Eur J Biochem 174:317
- 516. Lefkowitz, R.J., Roth J., and Pastan, I. (1971) Ann N.Y. Acad. Sci. 185:195
- 517. McIlhinney, R.A.J. and Schulster, D., (1975) J. Endocrinol. 64:175
- 518. Yanagibashi, K., Kamiya, N., Ling, G., and Matsuba, M. (1978) Endocrinol. Jpn. 25:545
- 519. Bost KL, Blalock JE (1986) Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology 44:1
- 520. Ramachandran, J. (1986), In, Biochemical Actions of Hormones (Ed. Litwack, G.) Academic Press. New York, NY.p13:167-190.
- 521. Buckley, D.I., Hagman, J., Ramachandran, J. (1981) Endocrinology 109:10
- 522. Ways, D.K., Mahaffee, D.D., Ontjes, D.A. (1979) Endocrinology 104:1028
- 523. vans, H.M., Sparks, L.L., Dixon, J.S. (1966) In, The Pituitary Gland (Ed. Harris G.W., Donovan, B.T.) Butterworths, London, p 317-373
- 524. Schwyzer R., Schiller, P., Selling, S., Sayers, G. (1971) FEBS Lett 19:229
- 525. Bristow A., Gleed, C, Fauchere, J.L., Schwyzer, R.,

Schulster, D. (1980) Biochem J. 186:599

- 526. Ramachandran, J., Chung, D., and Li, C.H. (1965) J. Am. Chem. Soc. 87:2696
- 527. Ramachandran, J., (1973) Hormonal Proteins and Polypeptides 2:1
- 528. Li, Z-G., Park, D., and LaBella, F.S. (1989) Endocrinology 125:592
- 529. Ramachandran, J., Hagman, J. and Muramoto, K. (1981) J. Biol. Chem. 256:11424
- 530. Sign, A., Bateman, A., Zhu, Q., Shimasaki, S., Esch, F. Solomon, S. (1988) Biochem. Biophy. Res. Commun. 155:524
- 531. Belcourt, D., Bateman, A., Singh, A., Lazure, C., Bennett, H.P.J., Solomon, S. (1990) Abstract (accepted) for Endocrine Society 72nd Annual Meeting
- 532. Hu, & Solomon unpublished results.
- 533. Pardi, A., Hare, D. R., Selsted, M.E., Morrison, R.D., Bassolino, D.A., and Cach, II, A.C. (1988) J. Mol. Biol. 201:625